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*Abigail Adams: Witness to a Revolution by Natalie S. Bober

Chapter One

Abigail’s keen mind, and her ability to express ideas poetically, shine through all her letters.  But she was painfully aware that her letters lacked polish.  Her writing, she knew, bore the scar of her mother’s unwillingness to allow her to have a formal education.  She worried about her handwriting, her spelling, and her “pointing” (punctuation), and apologized to her friends for being a “very incorrect writer.”

Chapter Two

John had never met a woman like her.  Although at times she seemed shy, she often stood up to him, not boldly, but with a gentle strength of will that was a match for his impetuous force.  And he liked her vivaciousness and her lively mind.  It made her even more attractive to him.

Chapter Three

October 25,1764, dawned clear and cold.  A sparkling Abigail Smith, just shy of her twentieth birthday, and a beaming John Adams, twenty-nine, exchanged their marriage vows in the Weymouth Parsonage.  Parson Smith officiated.  When the ceremony was over, and the last of the punch had been drained, Abigail, young and lovely in a long scarlet cloak and hood, ran down the stairs from the room she had shared with her sisters and out the door to where her new husband was waiting for her.

Chapter Four

At the same time Fordyce urged young women to use their intelligence.  They must become economists of their households, even while perfecting their artistic talents in needlework, drawing, and music.  And they must read extensively in order to achieve their full potential.

As Abigail read and reread his books, she came to a clearer understanding of who she was, and her belief in the importance of an enlightened woman intensified.  She accepted the role assigned to her.  But she accepted it as a challenge to excel in that role.

Chapter Five

Massachusetts women did not vote or hold office or even attend town meetings.  Their lives were centered in the private world of family.  They were dependent on fathers and husbands to represent them in the public sphere.  But now a subtle change was beginning to take place in Colonial America.  Men were gradually coming to realize that women were a necessary link in the strategy of rebellion.

Chapter Six

Early in December, when the ships finally arrived in Boston Harbor, the patriots would not allow the cargo to be unloaded.  To accept these shipments would be to admit the right of Parliament to tax the colonists.  The governor ordered that the tea be landed and the duty paid.  Appeals to him to lift the tax were made and refused.  The colonists then demanded that the ships return to England with their cargoes of tea.

Chapter Seven

For her part, Abigail saw that the children continued their studies, she somehow managed to hold together the threads of John’s law practice, and she looked after the farm.  As the threat of war became more serious, farming took on greater importance for all the colonists.  With trade cut off and business in decline, families had to rely more heavily on their own production.  Industry and frugality became the watchwords of the day.

Chapter Eight

Finally she took seven-year-old Johnny by the hand and together they walked to the top of Penn’s Hill and climbed up on the rocks for a better view.  In horror they stared across the blue bay and into the black, smoking mass that was all that was left of Charlestown.  Her father’s birthplace had been burned to the ground.  John Quincy never forgot the scene.

Chapter Nine

She had worried that Washington was an aristocratic Virginian and a slaveholder, but she knew John liked him, and when she met him she was quickly charmed.  She “was struck with General Washington,” she wrote her husband.  His appointment gave “universal satisfaction.”  Like many other patriots, she instantly saw godlike qualities in him.  She was delighted when the general invited her to visit the army camp at Cambridge, and to dine with him.

Chapter Nine

Like many teenagers, Abigail had been unable to understand her mother’s worries about her as she was growing up.  It wasn’t until she had begun to raise children of her own that she fully understood her mother’s concern.  Now the memory of her impatience with her mother’s overwatchfulness turned to remorse.  She thought of Elizabeth Smith’s boundless patience and tenderness, and of her wit and keen mind that marked Abigail as her mother’s child.  And she remembered her love.

Chapter Ten

Women were nurturers and healers, assignments of the highest order in nature and society, she agreed.  Their roles were different from their husbands’.  But women deserved to be treated as equals.  Abigail was in no way denying wifehood or motherhood as the primary role of women.

Chapter Eleven

Sensing now more acutely the weight of the burdens that Abigail was bearing alone, John tried, in some small measure, to help in the education of their children.  Johnny had already written to him asking for advice on “how to apportion my studies and my play…My head is much too fickle, my thoughts are running after birds’ eggs, play and trifles,” he told his father.  If he would send instructions, Johnny would try to follow them.  “I am, dear sir, with a present determination of growing better, yours,” he ended his letter.

Chapter Twelve

In the end it was ten-year-old John Quincy who begged to be allowed to accompany his father.  He would have a chance to see some of the world, to learn French firsthand, and to help his father with clerical work as much as possible, he pleaded.  For this New England farm boy who liked outdoor sports as much as study; and who resisted all efforts to dress him neatly, it was an unheard-of-opportunity.  For John Adams, it would be the first step in training his son to be a statesman.

Chapter Thirteen

Johnny wrote regularly to his mother, sister, and brothers, to his cousins and his friends, and to his grandfather Smith and his grandmother Adams.  Abigail particularly enjoyed the letter that arrived from him telling her that he had begun to keep a journal, and that his papa had given him a blank book in which to keep copies of all his letters.  Johnny worried, though, that he would be embarrassed “a few years hence, to read a great deal of my Childish nonsense, yet I shall have the Pleasure, and advantage of Remarking the several steps, by which I shall have advanced, in taste, judgment, and knowledge.”

Chapter Fourteen

Johnny’s mother, too, was sending advice across the ocean, counseling her oldest to curb his temper, avoid any vices, and always tell the truth.  Two months later she reminded him that he had survived the trip to France only through God’s providence.  Now he must discharge his obligation to his God, to society, “in particular to your country,” to his parents and to himself.  And he must come to know himself.

Chapter Fifteen

John, for his part, continued to lecture his daughter.  It is by the female world,” he told her, “that the greatest and best characters among men are formed… When I hear of an extraordinary man… I naturally inquire who was his mother?  There can be nothing in life more honourable for a woman, than to contribute by her virtue, her advice, her example… to the formation of an husband, a brother, or a son, to be useful to the world.”

Chapter Sixteen

Abigail loved London more and more.  She particularly loved the theater here, and attended numerous plays by William Shakespeare which she had been reading over and over since she was a child.  She made warm friendships among a group of Englishmen who had supported American independence.  And she had an opportunity to meet her old heroine, Catherine Macaulay.

Chapter Seventeen

John Adams, removed from the efforts of Congress by three thousand miles, would nevertheless put his imprint on the new constitution.  His original draft of the Massachusetts Constitution, written eight years before, would be used as a model.  John believed that a strong executive was essential to a stable government, and that a powerful central government with authority over state governments would be needed.  Now he resolved to write a treatise on the nature of government.

Chapter Eighteen

Even George Washington was seriously ill, and for several days his life was in danger.  Abigail feared that his death would have disastrous consequences.  It was Washington’s prestige that was holding the country together.  Abigail and John both understood that John, who would succeed Washington as president should the latter die in office, had no such power.  Happily, Washington recovered.

Chapter Nineteen


John Adams reacted to the French Revolution by writing a long series of anonymous newspaper articles in 1790 and 1791.  Entitles “Discourses on Davila,” they defended his view that political freedom could be preserved only by a balanced government that effectively controlled the natural rivalry of men for wealth and power.  The quest of the French people for equality, he felt, would bring only terror, mass violence, and eventually, the loss of the freedom they sought.  He would ultimately be proved right.

Chapter Twenty 

“My dearest friend, as you have been called in Providence into the chair of government, you did not accept it without knowing that it had its torments, its trials, its dangers and perplexities.  Look steadfastly at them, arm yourself with patience and forbearance and be not dismayed, and may God and the people support you.  Having put your hand to the plow, you must not look back.”

Chapter Twenty-one 

By spring, attacks on both the Federalists and the Republicans grew even more bitter than they had been.  Abigail and John were slandered unmercifully.  There was enough abuse and scandal, Abigail told Mary to “ruin & corrupt the minds and morals of the best people in the world.”  Commenting on the forthcoming elections, she said she was sure that New York would be “the balance in the scaile, scale, skaill, scaill (is it right now?) it does not look so.)”

Chapter Twenty-two 

Despite her preoccupation with her family, Abigail never lost interest in the world outside Quincy.  She read several newspapers regularly and looked forward eagerly to John Quincy’s letters from Washington.  By the fall of 1808, when she found herself supporting James Madison, Thomas Jefferson’s handpicked successor for president, she realized that her political views had gradually changed.  She was becoming a Republican.

Chapter Twenty-three 

Now, eight years later, time had dimmed the memory of their differences, and when their good friend Dr. Benjamin Rush appealed to both John Adams and Thomas Jefferson to end their silence, John made the first move.  His old friend responded immediately.  They agreed that only future generations could judge who was right, but they ought not to die before they had explained themselves to each other.  So they began an extraordinary correspondence that continued until the end of their lives.

Abigail joined in this renewal of friendship.

Chapter Twenty-four 

She had been “the delight of [his] heart, the sweetener of all his toils, the comforter of all his sorrows, the sharer and heightener of all his joys… In all his struggles and in all his sorrows, [her] affectionate participation and cheering encouragement… had been his never failing support.”  She had truly been his dearest friend.
*Age of Fable by Thomas Bulfinch (preface – chp. 14)

Chapter 1

The Greeks believed the earth to be flat and circular, their own country occupying the middle of it, the central point being either Mount Olympus, the abode of the gods, or Delphi, so famous for its oracle. 

Chapter 2 

The creation of the world is a problem naturally fitted to excite the liveliest interest of man, its inhabitant.

Chapter 3

The slime with which the earth was covered by the waters of the flood produced an excessive fertility, which called forth every variety of production, both bad and good.

Chapter 4

“One after one the stars have risen and set,
Sparkling upon the hoar frost of my chain;
The Bear that prowled all night about the fold
Of the North-star, hath shrunk into his den,
Scared by the blithesome footsteps of the Dawn.”

Chapter 5

The palace of the Sun stood reared aloft on columns, glittering with gold and precious stones, while polished ivory formed the ceilings, and silver the doors.

Chapter 6

Midas was king of Phrygia. He was the son of Gordius, a poor countryman, who was taken by the people and made king, in obedience to the command of the oracle, which had said that their future king should come in a wagon. While the people were deliberating, Gordius with his wife and son came driving his wagon into the public square. 

Chapter 7

There can be little doubt of this story of Ceres and Proserpine being an allegory. Proserpine signifies the seed–corn which when cast into the ground lies there concealed– that is, she is carried off by the god of the underworld. It reappears– that is, Proserpine is restored to her mother. Spring leads her back to the light of day.

Chapter 8

“As once with prayers in passion flowing,
Pygmalion embraced the stone,
Till from the frozen marble glowing,
The light of feeling o’er him shone,
So did I clasp with young devotion.
Bright nature to a poet’s heart;
Till breath and warmth and vital motion
Seemed through the statue form to dart.

Chapter 9

These words weighed heavily on the mind of King Ceyx, and it was no less his own wish than hers to take her with him, but he could not bear to expose her to the dangers of the sea.

Chapter 10

“Bear me, Pomona, to thy citron groves,
To where the lemon and the piercing lime,
With the deep orange, glowing through the green,
Their lighter glories blend. Lay me reclined
Beneath the spreading tamarind, that shakes,
Fanned by the breeze, its fever-cooling fruit.”

Chapter 11

A certain king and queen had three daughters. The charms of the two elder were more than common, but the beauty of the youngest was so wonderful that the poverty of language is unable to express its due praise. The fame of her beauty was so great that strangers from neighbouring countries came in crowds to enjoy the sight, and looked on her with amazement, paying her that homage which is due only to Venus herself. In fact Venus found her altars deserted, while men turned their devotion to this young virgin. As she passed along, the people sang her praises, and strewed her way with chaplets and flowers. 

Chapter 12

The Myrmidons were the solders of Achilles, in the Trojan war. From them all zealous and unscrupulous followers of a political chief are called by that name, down to this day. But the origin of the Myrmidons would not give one the idea of a fierce and bloody race, but rather of a laborious and peaceful one.

Chapter 13

“Sweet Echo, sweetest nymph, that liv’st unseen
Within thy aery shell
By slow Meander’s margent green,
And in the violet-embroidered vale,
Where the love-lorn nightingale
Nightly to thee her sad song mourneth well;
Canst thou not tell me of a gentle pair
That likest thy Narcissus are?
O, if thou have
Hid them in some flowery cave,
Tell me but where,
Sweet queen of parly, daughter of the sphere,
So may’st thou be translated to the skies,
And give resounding grace to all heaven’s harmonies.”

Chapter 14

Minerva, the goddess of wisdom, was the daughter of Jupiter. She was said to have leaped forth from his brain, mature, and in complete armour. She presided over the useful and ornamental arts, both those of men– such as agriculture and navigation– and those of women,– spinning, weaving, and needlework.

Amos Fortune, Free Man by Elizabeth Yates

Africa 1725 (Pg 8)

“He is strong,” they said to each other, voices hushed like the wind through the bamboo.

“He is beautiful,” they said, smiling to each other like the first light of dawn.

“When the time comes he will rule us well,” said Saala who had seen many rulers.

An old woman tapped her head, “Not with this will he rule,” she said, “but so,” and she laid her and upon her heart.  “See how he is with his sister.”

The Middle Passage (Pg 15)

At-mun realized that he and his people were being enslaved by power and cunning and that they must bide their time until they could effect their release in some way.  Slavery was a phase of tribal war, as old as African life itself, but the At-mun-shi had always been a free people, putting no bonds on others and resisting any put on them.

Boston 1725-1740 (Pg 35)

“I bought him at the wharf.  A ship had just come in and they were selling the merchandise.”

“Mr. Copeland!” Celia exclaimed, her horror making her suddenly formal.  “Thee knows we are against slavery.”

Caleb sighed.  “Yes, and yet when I saw him standing there and I knew we needed someone to help in the house, and I knew he would have a Christian home with kindly treatment and an opportunity to cultivate his mind, I could not help buying him.  But I bought him outright, wife.  I did not bid on him.”

Woburn 1740-1779 (Pg 57)

The colonies were seething with the rush of bold ideas.  As taxation grew more unjust and the long arm of authority wielded across an ocean grew more tyrannical, liberty became the word that warmed the people’s hearts and fired the tongues of their spokesmen.  The new country that had established itself with such eager rapidity was feeling more sure of itself.  In the strength that had been born and tested through the subduing of a wilderness, it had begun to dare to assert its independence.

Journey to Keene 1779 (Pg 81-82)

He had a good horse under him and strapped to his saddle a bundle of his finest leather, and he was a free man.  No matter where his thoughts ranged as he jogged over the road, he kept coming back to that.  Even though he had had his freedom now for just a month over ten years, it was still a treasure to be brought forward in his mind and meditated on with delight.  A strange thing freedom was, he thought, with its side of shadow as well as of light.

(Pg 92)

Amos stooped down to be on her level and she threw her arms around his neck.

“That’s a strange thing for that child to do,” Violet said apologetically.  “She’s getting your fine jacket all spotted.”

“Let her alone, Violet,” Amos said as he patted Celyndia’s heaving shoulders, “some things are too wonderful even for a child, and freedom’s one of them.”

The Arrival at Jaffrey (Pg 104)

“There are eleven other free Negroes in this town and hereabouts,” the constable said, “So you won’t be without your own kind.”  He looked at Amos questioningly.  “Are you a church-going man?”

Amos smiled.  “I’ve gone to Sunday meeting almost since I came to this country and it was from the Bible that I learned to read.”

Hard Work Fills Iron Kettle 1781-1789 (Pg 119)

Amos’ working week began at sunrise on Monday morning and continued until sunset every day through Saturday.  One whole day he kept free – Sunday, and that was sacred to churchgoing and to family life.  Work and all its signs and reminders were set as far aside as possible on that day while his thought and his time were given elsewhere.

Amos on the Mountain (Pg 140)

“Oh, Lord,” Amos said, “You’ve always got an answer and You’re always ready to give it to the man who trusts You.  Keep me open-hearted this night so when it comes I’ll know it’s You speaking and I’ll heed what You have to say.”

He thought it would be a night of vigil, but sleep overcame him and the world grew silent around him.

Auctioned for Freedom (Pg 157)

Violet might have small  sympathy for the shiftless Lois, but she readily took Polly to her heart, outfitting her in Celyndia’s clothes and teaching her some of the duties about the house.  Celyndia embraced her new sister warmly.  But beyond the flight of a smile across Polly’s dark face and a few words, she seemed bowed forever by her lot.

When she sat dreaming by the fire Amos would sometimes call to her to break her from too long reverie and she would shake her head and blink her eyes with a start.

Evergreen Years 1794-1801 (Pg 181)

In the churchyard in Jaffrey, New Hampshire are two handsome headstones.  The slate has weathered well and William Farnsworth’s chiseling is clearly readable.  They say:

Sacred

to the memory of

Amos Fortune

who was born free in

Africa a slave in America

he purchased liberty

professed Christianity

lived reputably and

died hopefully

Nov. 17, 1801

Aet. 91

Sacred

to the memory of

Violate

by sale the slave of

Amos Fortune by

marriage his wife by

her fidelity his friend

and solace she died

his widow

Sept. 13, 1802

Aet. 7

Bambi by Felix Salten

Chapter 1  

He only heard the soft licking against his coat that washed him and warmed him and kissed him.  And he smelled nothing but his mother's body near him.

Chapter 2  

It was the pleasantest thing for him to ask a question and then hear what answer his mother would give.  Bambi was never surprised that question after question should come into his mind continually and without effort.  He found it perfectly natural, and it delighted him very much.

Chapter 3  

He wondered just what that danger could be that his mother was always talking about.  But too much thought tired him.

Chapter 4 

"If you live, my son, if you are cunning and don't run into danger, you'll be as strong and handsome as your father is sometime, and you'll have antlers like his, too."

Chapter 5  

One day his mother was gone.  Bambi did not know how such a thing could be possible, he could not figure it out.  But his mother was gone and for the first time Bambi was left alone.

Chapter 6  

Faline told him everything. "The old Prince is the biggest stag in the whole forest.  There isn't anybody else that compares with him."

Chapter 7 

"Don't stop!" a voice beside him commanded.  It was his mother who rushed past him at full gallop.  "Run," she cried.  "Run as fast as you can!"

"You scolded me then, Prince," he cried excitedly, "because I was afraid of being left alone.  Since then I haven't been.

Chapter 8  

They were silent a while.  Then the first leaf said quietly to herself, "Why must we fall?…"

The second leaf asked, "What happens to us when we have fallen?"

Chapter 9 

But when they talked about the third hand they became serious and fear grew on them gradually.  For whatever it might be, a third hand or something else, it was terrible and they did not understand it.

Chapter 10 

Then Bambi asked despondently, "Aunt Ena, have you seen my mother?"

"No," answered aunt Ena gently.

Bambi never saw his mother again.

Chapter 11

The old stag looked at him.  "It's a long time since I've seen you," he said.  "You've grown big and strong."

Bambi did not answer,  He trembled with joy.

Chapter 12

Bambi started for the thicket to look for Faline, but she came out of her own accord.  She had been standing at the edge of the woods and had seen it all.

Chapter 13

"What a haughty look," thought Bambi.  "It's unbearable, the opinion such people have of themselves."

The stag was thinking, "I'd like to talk to him, he looks so sympathetic."

Chapter 14

The call came again.  "I must go! I must go!" cried Bambi who was nearly out of his wits.

"Then," the old stag declared in a commanding voice, "we'll go together."

Chapter 15 

"And where have you been all this time?" asked Faline in astonishment.

"With Him," Gobo replied, "I've been with Him all the time."

Chapter 16

Gobo said, "Not only He, but all His children loved me."

Then the old stag asked in his quiet commanding voice, "What kind of a band is that you have on your neck?"

Chapter 17

"Why did he call me a poor thing?" Gobo broke in in a discontented tone.  "I'd like to know what he meant by that."

"Don't think about it," his mother said.

Chapter 18

When Bambi reached the ditch the old stag rose before him out of the pitch black night so noiselessly and suddenly that Bambi drew back in terror.

Chapter 19

Gobo was standing boldly on the meadow looking around for the alders.  Then he seemed to see them and to have discovered Him.  Then the thunder crashed.

Chapter 20

Suddenly the noose broke with a loud snap.  The Hare slipped out and was free, without realizing it for a moment.  He took a step and sat down again dazed.

Chapter 21

Then a sound like thunder crashed.

Bambi felt a fearful blow that made him stagger.

"You'll be safe here," said the old stag.

Days passed.

Bambi lay on the warm earth with the mouldering bark of the fallen tree above him.

Chapter 22

When he was still a child the old stag had taught him that you must live alone.  Then and afterwards the old stag had revealed much wisdom and many secrets to him.

Chapter 23

"Yes, traitor!" hissed the fox.  "Nobody is a traitor but you, only you."


The dog was dancing about in a frenzy of devotion.  "Only me?" he cried, "you lie."

Chapter 24

Bambi was inspired, and said trembling  "There is Another who is over us all, over us and over Him."

"Now I can go," said the old stag.

Chapter 25

The little brother and sister were silent.

Bambi turned and, gliding into the bushes, disappeared before they had come to their senses.  He walked along.
Black Beauty by Anna Sewell

Chapter 1 My Early Home

Whilst I was young I lived upon my mother’s milk, as I could not eat grass.  In the daytime I ran by her side, and at night I lay down close by her.  When it was hot, we used to stand by the pond in the shade of the trees; and when it was cold, we had a nice warm shed near the plantation.

“I hope you will grow up gentle and good, and never learn bad ways.  Do your work with a good will; lift up your feet well when you trot, and never bite or kick even in play.” (Duchess, Black Beauty’s mother)

Chapter 2 The Hunt

“His neck is broken,” said my mother.

“And serve him right, too,” said one of the colts.

I thought the same, but my mother did not join with us.

“Well, no,” she said, ‘you must not say that.  But though I am an old horse, and have seen and heard a great deal, I never could make out why men are so fond of this sport.  They often hurt themselves, spoil good horses, and tear up the fields; and all this for a hare, a fox, or a stag, that they could get more easily some other way.  But we are only horses, and don’t understand.”

Chapter 3 My Breaking In

My master often drove me in double harness with my mother because she was steady, and could teach me how to go better than a strange horse.  She told me the better I behaved, the better I should be treated, and that it was wisest always to do my best to please my master.  “But,” said she, “there are a great many kinds of men: there are good, thoughtful men like our master, that any horse may be proud to serve; but there are bad, cruel men, who never ought to have a horse or a dog to call their own. Besides these, there are a great many men foolish, vain, ignorant, and careless, who never trouble themselves to think; these spoil more horses than any one, just for want of sense.  They don’t mean it, but they do it for all that.  I hope you fall into good hands; but a horse never knows who may buy him, or who may drive him.  It is all a chance; but still I say, “Do your best wherever it is, and keep up your good name.”

Chapter 4 Birtwick Park

Early in May there came a man from Squire Gordon’s who took me away to the Hall.  My master said, “Goodbye, Darkie; be a good horse, and always do your best.”  I could not say ‘Good-bye,’ so I put my nose into his hand; he patted me kindly, and then I left my first home.  

Chapter 5 A Fair Start

 “Well, John, how does he go?” 

“First-rate, sir,” answered John.  “He is as fleet as a deer, and has a fine spirit, too; but the lightest touch of the rein will guide him.  Down at the end of the common we met one of those traveling carts hung all over with baskets, rugs, and such like.  You know, sir, many horses will not pass these carts quietly; but he just took a good look at it, and then went on as quietly and pleasantly as could be.”

“Yes,” she said, “he is really quite a beauty, and he has such a sweet, good-tempered face and such a fine, intelligent eye—what do you say to calling him Black Beauty?”

Chapter 6 Liberty

It was a great treat to us to be turned out into the home paddock or the old orchard: the grass was so cool and soft to our feet; the air was so sweet, and the freedom to do as we liked—to gallop, lie down, roll over on our backs, or nibble the sweet grass—was pleasant.  Then, as we stood together under the shade of the large chestnut tree, was a very good time for talking. 

Chapter 7 Ginger

Just at the door stood Samson.  I laid my ears back and snapped at him.  “Stand back,” said the master, “and keep out of her way; you’ve done a bad day’s work for this filly.”  He growled out something about a vicious brute.  “Hark ye,” said his father, “a bad-tempered man will never make a good-tempered horse.  You’ve not learned your trade yet, Samson.  

Chapter 8 Ginger’s Story Continued

“Yes, sir, she’s wonderfully improved; she’s not the same creature that she was.  It’s the Birtwick balls, sir,” said John, laughing. 

This was a little joke of John’s; he used to say that a regular course of the Birtwick horse-balls would cure almost any vicious horse.  These balls, he said, were made up of patience and gentleness, firmness and petting: one pound of each to be mixed with half a pint of common sense, and given to the horse every day.

Chapter 9 Merrylegs

 “Boys, you see, think a horse or pony is like a steam-engine or threshing-machine, that can go on as long and as fast as they please.  They never think that a pony can get tired or have any feelings; so as the one whipping me could not understand, I just rose up on my hind legs and let him slip off behind—that was all.  He mounted me again, and I did the same.  Then the other boys got up; and as soon as he began to use his stick, I laid him on the grass; and so on, till they were able to understand:  that was all.

They are not bad boys; they don’t wish to be cruel. I like them very well; but you see I had to give them a lesson.  When they brought me to James and told him, I think he was very angry to see such big sticks.  He said they were only fit for drovers or gypsies, and not for young gentlemen.” (Merrylegs speaking)

Chapter 10 A Talk in the Orchard

I had often wondered how it was that Sir Oliver had such a very short tail; it really was only six or seven inches long. . .on one of our holidays in the orchard I ventured to ask him by what accident he had lost his tail.

“Accident!” he snorted with a fierce look, “it was no accident!  When I was young I was taken to a place where these cruel things were done.  I was tied up, and made fast so that I could not stir; and then they came and cut my long beautiful tail through the flesh and through the bone, and took it away.”

. . .it was not only the pain. . .it was not only the indignity of having my best ornament taken from me. . .it was this—how could I ever again brush the flies off my side and off my hind legs. . .you can’t tell what a torment it is to have them settle upon, and sting, and yet have nothing in the world with which to lash them off.”

“What did they do it for then?” said Ginger.

“For fashion!”

Chapter 11 Plain Speaking

“I must say, Mr. Sawyer, that more unmanly, brutal treatment of a little pony it was never my painful lot to witness; and by giving way to such a passion, you injure your own character as much, nay more than you injure your horse.  And remember, we shall all have to be judged according to our works, whether they be towards man or towards beast.”

. . .if we could act a little more according to common sense, and a good deal less according to fashion, we should find many things work easier. . .

Chapter 12 A Stormy Day

Master said God had given men reason by which they could find out things for themselves; but He had given animals knowledge which did not depend on reason, much more prompt and perfect in its way, by which they often saved the lives of men.

Chapter 13 The Devil’s Trade Mark

Then he talked to all the boys very seriously about cruelty, and said how hard-hearted and cowardly it was to hurt the weak and the helpless.  But what struck in my mind was this—he said that cruelty was the devil’s own trade mark, and if we saw any one who took pleasure in cruelty, we might know to whom he belonged, for the devil was a murderer from the beginning and a tormentor to the end.  On the other hand, where we saw people who loved their neighbors and were kind to man and beast, we might know that was God’s mark; for “God is Love.”

“Your master never taught you a truer thing,” said John; “there is no religion without love.  People may talk as much as they like about their religion, but if it does not teach them to be good and kind to man and beast, it is all a sham—all a sham, James; and it won’t stand when things come to be turned inside out and put down for what they are.”

Chapter 14 James Howard

[regarding James’ character]”. . .I will say this, sir, that a steadier, smarter, more pleasant, honest young fellow I never had in this stable.  I can trust his word and I can trust his work.

He is gentle and clever with the horses, and I would rather have them in his charge than in that of half the young fellows I know in laced hats and liveries; and whoever wants a character of James Howard,” said John, with a decided jerk of his head, “let them come to John Manly.”

Chapter 15 The Old Ostler

“Practice makes perfect,” said the crooked little ostler, “and ‘twould be a pity if it didn’t.  Forty years’ practice, and not perfect! Ha! Ha! that would be a pity.  As to being quick, why, bless you! that is only a matter of habit.  If you get into the habit of being quick, it is just as easy as being slow—easier, I should say.”

Chapter 16 The Fire

. . .at last a man said he saw Dick Towler go into the stable with a pipe in his mouth, and when he came out he had not one and went to the tap for another.  

I remember our John Manly’s rule, never to allow a pipe in the stable, and thought it ought to be the rule everywhere.  

Chapter 17 John Manly’s Talk

“So you see, James, I am not the man that should turn up his nose at a little boy, and vex a good, kind master. No! no!  I shall miss you very much, James, but we shall pull through.  There’s nothing like doing a kindness when ‘tis put in your way, and I am glad I can do it.”

“Then,” said James, “you don’t hold with that saying, ‘Everybody look after himself, and take care of number one’?”

“No, indeed,” said John.  “Where would [my sister] Nelly and I have been if master and mistress and old Norman had only taken care of number one?  Why, she in the workhouse and I hoeing turnips!  Where would Black Beauty and Ginger have been if you had only thought of number one?  Why, roasted to death!  No, Jim, no! that is a selfish, heathenish saying, whoever may use it, and any man who thinks he has nothing to do but take care of number one, why it’s a pity but what he had been drowned like a puppy or a kitten before he got his eyes open; that’s what I think,” said John, with a very decided jerk of his head.

Chapter 18 Going For The Doctor

There was before us a long piece of level road by the riverside.  John said to me, “Now, Beauty, do your best,” and so I did; I wanted neither whip nor spur, and for two miles I galloped as fast as I could lay my feet to the ground.  I don’t believe that my old grandfather, who won the race at Newmarket, could have gone faster.  When we came to the bridge John pulled me up a little and patted my neck.  “Well done, Beauty!  Good old fellow,” he said.  He could have let me go more slowly, but my spirit was up and I was off again as fast as before.

Chapter 19 Only Ignorance

Well, John, thank you!  I knew you did not wish to be too hard, and I am glad you see it was only ignorance.”

John’s voice almost startled me as he answered, “Only ignorance! Only ignorance! How can you talk about only ignorance?  Don’t you know that ignorance is the worst thing in the world, next to wickedness? –and which can say, “Oh! I did not know, I did not mean any harm,” they think it is all right.  I suppose Martha Mullahs did not mean to kill that baby when she dosed it with Dolby and soothing syrups; but she did kill it, and was tried for manslaughter.” 

Chapter 20 Joe Green

[After young Joe encountered a man beating a horse]

“Right, Joe! You did right, my boy, whether the fellow gets a summons or not.  Many folks would have ridden by and said ‘twas not their business to interfere.  Now, I say, that with cruelty and oppression it is everybody’s business to interfere when they see it; you did right, my boy.

It was wonderful what a change had come over Joe.  John laughed, and said he had grown an inch taller in that week; and I believe he had.  He was just as kind and gentle as before, but there was more purpose and determination in all that he did—as if he had jumped at once from a boy to a man.

Chapter 21 The Parting

“No, sir.  I have made up my mind that if I could get a situation with some first-rate colt-breaker and horse-trainer, it would be the right thing for me.  Many young animals are frightened and spoiled by wrong treatment, which need not be if the right man took them in hand.  I always get on well with horses, and if I could help some of them to a fair start, I should feel as if I was doing some good.”

Chapter 22 Earlshall

York came around to our heads and shortened the rein one hole, I think; every little makes a difference, be it for better or worse, and that day we had a steep hill to go up.  Then I began to understand what I had heard.  Of course I wanted to push my head forward and take the carriage up with a will, as we had been used to do; but no, I had now to pull with my head up, and that took all the spirit out of me, and brought the strain on my back and legs.  

Chapter 23 A Strike For Liberty

There is no knowing what further mischief she may have done had not York promptly sat himself down flat on her head to prevent her struggling, at the same time calling out, “Unbuckle the black horse!  Run for the winch and unscrew the carriage pole, and somebody cut the trace if you can’t unhitch it.”

Chapter 24 Lady Anne, or a Runaway Horse

I gave a loud shrill neigh for help.  Again and again I neighed, pawing the ground impatiently, and tossing my head to get the rein loose.  I had not long to wait.  Blantyre came running to the gate.  He looked anxiously away on the road.  In an instant he sprang into the saddle.  I needed no whip or spur, for I was as eager as my rider.  He saw it, and giving me a free rein, and leaning a little forward, we dashed after them.  

Chapter 25 Reuben Smith

This could not go on; no horse could keep his footing under such circumstances as the pain was too great.  I stumbled, and fell with violence on both my knees.  Smith was flung off by my fall, and, owing to the speed at which I was going, he must have fallen with great force.  I soon recovered my feet and limped to the side of the road, where it was free from stones.

Chapter 26 How It Ended

As Smith’s death had been so sudden, and no one was there to see it, there was an inquest held.  The landlord and ostler at the White Lion with several other people, gave evidence that he was intoxicated when he started from the inn; the keeper of the toll-gate said he rode at a hard gallop through the gate; and my shoe was picked up amongst the stones; so the case was quite plain to them, and I was cleared of all blame.  

Chapter 27 Ruined, and Going Downhill

Lord George was young and would take no warning.  He was a hard rider, and would hunt whenever he could get a chance, quite careless of his horse.  Soon after I left the stable there was a steeplechase, and he determined to ride.  Though the groom told him the mare was a little strained, and was not fit for the race, he did not believe it, and on the day of the race he urged Ginger to keep up with the foremost riders.  With her high spirit, she strained herself to the utmost and came in with the first three horses; but her wind was touched, besides which, he was too heavy for her, and her back was strained.  

Chapter 28 A Job Horse and Its Drivers

Besides, a slovenly way of driving gets a horse into bad, and often lazy, habits; and when he changes hands he has to be whipped out of them with more or less pain and trouble.  Squire Gordon always kept us to our best pace and our best manners.  He said that spoiling a horse and letting him get into bad habits was just as cruel as spoiling a child, and both had to suffer for it afterwards. 

Chapter 29 Cockneys

These people never think of getting out to walk up a steep hill.  Oh, no, they have paid to ride, and ride they will.  The horse?  Oh, he’s used to it!  What were horses made for, if not to drag people uphill?  Walk!  A good joke indeed!  And so the whip is plied, and the rein is jerked, and often a rough, scolding voice cries out, “Go along, you lazy beast!”  And then comes another slash of the ship, when all the time we are doing our very best to get along, uncomplaining and obedient, though often sorely harassed and down-hearted.

Chapter 30 A Thief

. . .one afternoon he rode out into the country to see a friend of his—a gentleman farmer who lived on the road to Wells.  This gentleman had a very quick eye for horses; and after he welcomed his friend, casting his eye over me, he said:--“It seems to me, Barry, that your horse does not so well as he did when you first had him: has he been well?”

“Yes, I believe so,” said my master, “but he is not nearly so lively as he was.”. . .

. . .with your light work and good food, he ought not to go down like this. . .How do you feed him?”

My master told him.

“I can’t say who eats your corn, my dear fellow, but I am much mistaken if your horse gets it.   Have you ridden very fast?”

“No, very gently.”

“. . .there are mean scoundrels wicked enough to rob a dumb beast of his food.  You must look into it.”

Chapter 31 A Humbug

 “Your horse has got the ‘thrush’, and badly, too; his feet are very tender; it is fortunate that he has not been down.  I wonder your groom has not seen to it before.  This is the sort of thing we find in foul stables where the litter is never properly cleared out.  If you will send him here tomorrow I will attend to the hoof, and I will direct your man how to apply some liniment which I will give him.”

With this treatment I soon regained my spirits, but Mr. Barry was so much disgusted at being twice deceived by his grooms that he determined to give up keeping a horse and to hire when he wanted one.  I was therefore kept till my feet were quite sound, and was then sold again. 

Chapter 32 A Horse Fair

To examine me, buyers began to pull my mouth open, then to look at my eyes, next to feel all the way down my legs, and to give me a hard feel of the skin and flesh, and, lastly, to try my paces.  What a difference there was in the way these things were done!  Some did it in a rough, offhand way, as if one was only a piece of wood; while others would take their hands gently over one’s body, with a pat now and then, as much to say, “By your leave.”  Of course, I judged the buyers a good deal by their manners to myself.  

Chapter 33 London Cab Horse

The first week of my life as a cab horse was very trying; I had never been used to London, and the noise, the hurry; the crowds of horses, carts, and carriages through which I had to make my way, made me feel anxious and harassed; but I soon found that I could perfectly trust my driver, and then I made myself easy and got used to it.

Some people say that a horse ought not to drink as much as he wishes; but I know if we are allowed to drink when we want it, we drink only a little at a time, and it does us a great deal more good than swallowing it down half a bucketful at a time, as we do if we have been left without water till we are thirsty and miserable.

Chapter 34 An Old War Horse

My dear master and I were at the head of the line, and as all sat motionless and watchful, he took a little stray lock of my mane which had turned over the wrong side, laid it over on the right and smoothed it down with his hand; then, patting my neck, he said: “We shall have a day of it today, Bayard, my beauty; but we’ll do our duty as we always have done.”

I [Black Beauty] said, “I have heard people talk about war as if it was a very fine thing.”

“Ah!’ said he, “I should think they have never seen it.  No doubt it is very fine when there is no enemy, only just exercise, parade, and sham-fights.  Yes, it is very fine then, but when thousands of good, brave men and horses are killed, crippled for life, then it has a very different look.”

Chapter 35 Jerry Barker

 [speaking of Jerry’s family – Polly, Dolly, Harry]

There used to be a great deal of laughing and fun between them, and it put Captain and me in much better spirits than if we had heard scolding and hard words.  They were always early in the morning, for Jerry would say:--


If you in the morning


Throw minutes away,


You can’t pick them up


In the course of the day.


You may hurry and skurry,


And flurry and worry,


You’ve lost them for ever,


For ever and aye.

He could not bear any careless loitering and waste of time; and nothing was so near making him angry as to find people who were always late wanting a cab horse to be driven hard to make up for their idleness.

“Well,” said Larry, “you’ll never be a rich man.”

“Most likely not,” said Jerry, “but I don’t know that I shall be the less happy for that.  I have heard the commandments read a great many times, and I never noticed that any of them said, “Thou shalt be rich”; and there are a good many curious things said in the New Testament about rich men that, I think, would make me feel rather queer if I was one of them”

“As for you, Larry, you’ll die poor, you spend too much in whipcord.”

“Well,” said Larry, “what is a fellow to do if his horse won’t go without it?”

“You never take the trouble to see if he will go without it; your whip is always going as if you had the St. Vitus’s dance in your arm; and if it does not wear you out, it wears your horse out.  You know you are always changing your horses, and why? Because you never given them any peace or encouragement.”

“Well, I have not had good luck,” said Larry, “that’s where it is.”

“And you never will,” said the Governor, “Good Luck is rather particular with whom she rides, and mostly prefers those who have common sense and a good heart; at least, that is my experience.”

Chapter 36 The Sunday Cab

“I read that God made man, and He made horses and all the other beasts; and as soon as He made them, He made a rest day, and bade that all should rest one day in seven.  I think sir, He must have known what was good for them, and I am sure it is good for me.  I am stronger and healthier all together now that I have a day of rest; the horses are fresh too, and do not wear up nearly so fast.  The six-day drivers all tell me the same, and I have laid more money in the Savings’ Bank than ever I did before; and as for my wife and children, sir—why, heart alive! they would not go back to the seven days’ work for all they could get by it.” 

. . .said Larry, “I don’t believe in religion, for I don’t see that your religious people are any better than the rest.”

“If they are not better,” put in Jerry, “it is because they are not religious.  You might as well say that our country’s laws are not good because some people break the rules. . .If some men are shams and humbugs, that does not make religion untrue.  Real religion is the best and the truest thing in the world, and the only thing that can make a man really happy, or make the world any better.”

“If a thing is right, it can be done, and if it is wrong, it can be done without; and a good man will find a way. . .”

Chapter 37 The Golden Rule

[on Jerry taking Dinah to see her dying mother on Sunday in his cab]

“. . .But you know we should do to other people as we would like them to do to us.  I know very well what I should like if my mother was dying; and Jerry, dear, I am sure it won’t break the Sabbath; for if pulling a poor beast or donkey out of a pit would not spoil the Sabbath, I am quite sure taking poor Dinah would not.”

Chapter 38 Dolly and a Real Gentleman

Our friend. . .said, “Do you know why this world is as bad as it is?”

“No,” said the other.

“Then I’ll tell you. It is because people think only about their own business, and won’t trouble themselves to stand up for the oppressed, nor bring the wrongdoer to light.  I never see a wicked thing like this without doing what I can, and many a master has thanked me for letting me know how his horses have been used.”

“My doctrine is this, that if we see cruelty or wrong that we have the power to stop, and yet do nothing, we make ourselves sharers in the guilt.”

Chapter 39 Seedy Sam

“You’ve beaten me, Sam,” he said, “for it’s all true, and I won’t cast it up against you any more about the police.  It was the look in that horse’s eye that came over me.  It is hard lines for both man and beast, and who’s to mend it, I don’t know; but anyway you might tell the poor beast that you were sorry to take it out of him in that say.  Sometimes a kind word is all we can give ‘em, poor brutes, and ‘tis wonderful what they understand.”

Chapter 40 Poor Ginger

I said, “You used to stand up for yourself if you were ill-used.”

“Ah!” she said, “I did once, but it’s no use; men are stronger, and if they are cruel and have no feeling, there is nothing that we can do but just bear it—bear it on and on to the end.” 

Chapter 41 The Butcher

But all the boys are not cruel.  I have seen some as fond of their pony or donkey as if it had been a favourite dog; and the little creatures have worked away as cheerfully and willingly for their young drivers and I work for Jerry.  It may be hard work sometimes, but a friends’ hand and voice make it easy. 

Chapter 42 The Election

“Well, a man who gets rich by that trade may be all very well in some ways, but he is blind to what working men want; I could not in my conscience send him up to make the laws.  I daresay they’ll be angry, but every man must do what he thinks to be the best for his country.”

“My boy, I hope you will always defend your sister, and give anybody who insults her a good thrashing—that is as it should be

“. . .I am ashamed to see how men go on that ought to know better.  An election is a very serious thing, at least, it ought to be, and every man ought to vote according to his conscience, and let his neighbour do the same.”

Chapter 43 A Friend In Need

Jerry rang the bell, and helped the young woman out.

“Thank you a thousand times,” she said; “I could never have got here alone.”

“You’re kindly welcome, and I hope the dear child will soon be better.”

He watched her go in at the door, and he said to himself quietly, ‘Inasmuch as ye have done it to one of the least of these.’”  Then he patted my neck; this was always his way when anything pleased him.

Chapter 44 Old Captain and His Successor

“There is not a bit of vice in him,” said the man; “his mouth is very tender, and I think myself that was the cause of the accident.  You see, he had just been clipped, and the weather was bad, and he had not had exercise enough, and when he did go out he was a full of spring as a balloon.  Our governor had him harnessed in as tight and strong as he could, with the martingale, and the bearing rein, a very sharp curb, and the reins, put in at the bottom bar; it is my belief that it made the horse mad, being tender in the mouth and so full of spirit.”  

Chapter 45 Jerry’s New Year

“Yes,” said Harry quickly, “and the doctor said that father had a better chance than most men, because he didn’t drink.  He said yesterday the fever was so high that if father had been a drinking man it would have burnt him up like a piece of paper; but I believe he thinks he will get over it; don’t you think he will, Mr. Grant?”

The Governor looked puzzled.

“If there’s any rule that good men should get over these things, I am sure he will, my boy.  He’s the best man I know.”

Chapter 46 Jakes And The Lady

Again I started the heavy load, and struggled on a few yards; again the whip came down, and again I struggled forward.  The pain of that great cart whip was sharp, but my mind hurt quite as much as my poor sides.  To be punished and abused when I was doing my very best was so hard that it took the heart out of me.  

Chapter 47 Hard Times

The load was very heavy, and I had had neither food nor rest since the morning; but I did my best, as I always had done in spite of cruelty and injustice.

I got along fairly till we came to Ludgate Hill; but there, the heavy load and my own exhaustion were too much.  I was struggling to keep on goaded by constant chucks of the rein and use of the whip, when, in a single moment—I cannot tell how—my feet slipped from under me, and I fell heavily to the ground on my side.

Chapter 48 Farmer Thoroughgood and His Grandson Willie

I noticed a man who looked like a gentleman farmer, with a young boy at his side.  He had a broad back and round shoulders, a kind, ruddy face, and he wore a broad-brimmed hat.  When he came up to me and my companions, he stood still and gave a pitiful look round upon us.  I saw his eye rest on me; I had still a good mane and tail, which did something for my experience.  I pricked up my ears and looked at him.

“There’s a horse, Willie, that has known better days.”

Chapter 49 My Last Home

Willie always speaks to me when he can, and treats me as his special friend.  My ladies have promised that I shall never be sold, and so I have nothing to fear; and here my story ends.  My troubles are all over and I am at home; and often before I am quite awake I fancy I am still in the orchard at Birtwick, standing with my old friends under the apple-trees.

Book of Golden Deeds by Charlotte Yonge

Introduction:

And oh, young readers, if your hearts burn within you as you read these various forms of the truest and deepest glory, and you long for time and place to act in the like devoted way, bethink yourselves that the alloy of such actions is to be constantly worked away in daily life….

Chapter 1 The Battle of the Blackwater

When he heard the advice given and accepted that the Danes should be bribed, instead of being fought with, he made up his mind that he, at least, would try to raise up a nobler spirit, and, at the sacrifice of his own life, would show the effect of making a manful stand against them.

Chapter 2 Guzman El Bueno

The struggle was bitter, but he broke forth at last in these words:--"I did not beget a son to be made use of against my country, but that he should serve her against her foes."

Chapter 3 What is Better than Slaying a Dragon

By valour 'tis that knights are known;

A valiant spirit hast thou shown;

But the first duty of a knight,

Now tell, who vows for CHRIST to fight

And bears the Cross on his coat of mail.

The listeners all with fear grew pale,

While, bending lowly, spake the knight,

    His cheeks with blushes burning,

'He who the Cross would bear aright

    Obedience must be learning.'"

Chapter 4 The Keys of Calais

Then a voice was heard; it was that of the richest burgher in the town, Eustace de St. Pierre. "Messieurs, high and low," he said, "it would be a sad pity to suffer so many people to die through hunger, if it could be prevented; and to hinder it would be meritorious in the eyes of our Saviour. I have such faith and trust in finding grace before God, if I die to save my townsmen, that I name myself as first of the six."

Chapter 5 The Battle of Sempach

" 'I have a virtuous wife at home,

     A wife and infant son:

I leave them to my country's care,

     The field shall yet be won.' "

Chapter 6 The Carnival of Perth

There was no bar to the door. Yes there was. Catherine Douglas, worthy of her name, worthy of the cognizance of the bleeding heart, thrust her arm through the empty staples to gain for her sovereign a few moments more for escape and safety!

Chapter 7 Sir Thomas More's Daughter

"In good faith I rejoice that I have given the devil a foul fall; because I have with those lords gone so far that without great shame I can never go back."  He answered, meaning that he had been enabled to hold so firmly to his opinions, and speak them out so boldly, that henceforth the temptation to dissemble them and please the King would be much lessened.

Chapter 8 Fort St. Elmo

The newcomers could not retain their tears, but all together proceeded to church to return thanks for the conclusion of their perils and afflictions.

Chapter 9 The Voluntary Convict

At any rate the prisoner went free, and returned to his home, whilst Vincent wore a convict's chain, did a convict's work, lived on convict fare, and, what is worse, had only convict society.

Chapter 10 Fathers and Sons

The church bell was ringing for afternoon service when the Royal forces marched down the hill. The last hurried prayer before the charge was stout old Sir Jacob Astley's, "O Lord, Thou knowest who busy I must be this day; if I forget Thee, do not Thou forget me;" and then rising, he said, "March on, boys."

Chapter 11 The Soldiers in the Snow

"His valour shed victorious grace on all that dread retreat--

That path across the wildering snow, athwart the blinding sleet;

And every follower of his sword could all endure and dare,

Becoming warriors, strong in hope, or stronger in despair."

Chapter 12 Gunpowder Perils

Most of all was honour due to Edward Touzel, who, as a civilian, might have turned his back upon the peril without any blame; nay, could even have pleaded Mr. Lys' message as a duty, but who had instead rushed foremost into what he believed was certain death.

Chapter 13 Heroes of the Plague

His council of clergy advised him to remain in some healthy part of his diocese till the sickness should have spent itself, but he replied that a Bishop, whose duty it is to give his life for his sheep, could not rightly abandon them in time of peril.

Chapter 14 The second of September

Little matters it now even to Marie Antoinette. The worst that the murderers could do for such as these, could only work for them a more exceeding weight of glory.

Chapter 15 The Vendeens

While the greater part of France had been falling into habits of self-indulgence, and from thence into infidelity and revolution, there was one district where the people had not forgotten to fear God and honour the King.

Chapter 16 The Faithful Slaves of Haiti

When he found, to his great surprise, how much his doings were admired, he answered one of the committee who had sought him out, "Indeed, sir, I am not doing this for men, but for the Master above."

Chapter 17 The Petitioners for Pardon

Still he said, "Do you think, poor child, that you can speak to the Emperor as you speak to your father in Siberia? Sentinels guard every entrance to his palace, and you will never pass the threshold.

Chapter 18 The children of Blentarn Ghyll

She knocked at the door and was made kindly welcome, but no sooner did she ask for her father and mother than smiles turned to looks of pity and dismay.

Chapter 19 Agostina of Zaragoza

One of the most unjustifiable acts of Napoleon's grasping policy was the manner in which he entrapped the poor, foolish, weak Spanish royal family into his power, and then kept them in captivity, and gave their kingdom to his brother Joseph.

Chapter 20 Casal Nova

"As I lie here and think of my past life," said Sir William Napier, "I feel small--very small indeed. I try to remember if I have done any good, but the evil far overbalances it. We shall all be weighed in the balance and be found wanting."

Chapter 21 The Mad Dog

"What a terrible business it was. You must not scold me for the risk I ran. What I did, I did from a conviction that it was a duty, and I never can think that an over-cautious care of self in circumstances where your risk may preserve others, is so great a virtue as you seem to think it."

Chapter 22 The Monthyon Prizes

It may be said, however, that to show "piety at home" is the very first and most natural of duties.

Chapter 23 The Loss of the 'Magpie' Schooner

Among those men who have performed the most gallant and self-devoted deeds in the most simple and natural way, we should especially reckon captains in the navy.

Chapter 24 The Fever at Osmotherly

Many would have thought only of flying from the fever. Mary Pickard only thought how she could help the sufferers.

Chapter 25 Discipline

Perhaps there have never been occasions, when the habit of instantaneous obedience to the voice of duty has produced more touching instances of forbearance and unselfishness, than in the confusion and despair of a shipwreck.

Chapter 26 The Rescuers

       "The roar of winds and waves

As strong contention loudly raves,

A fearful sound of fearful commotion

The many angry voices of the ocean,"

Chapter 27 The Rescue Party

Dr. Kane was among the last to come up; his men were all standing in file beside the tent, waiting in a sort of awe for him to be the first to enter it and see whether their messmates still lived.

Chapter 28 The Children in the Wood of the Far South

She had almost driven the she-wolf off with a heavy stick, when seeing one of the cubs about to attack her brother, she seized the boy, thrust him into a cupboard, and buttoned the door.

Borrowers by Mary Norton

Chapter One 

“Nowadays, I suppose,” Mrs. May went on slowly, “if they exist at all, you would only find them in houses which are old and quiet and deep in the country - and where the human beings live to a routine.  Routine is their safeguard.  They must know which rooms are to be used and when.  They do not stay long where there are careless people, or unruly children, or certain house hold pets.”

Chapter Two

It was only Pod who knew the way through the intersecting passages to the hole under the clock.  And only Pod could open the gates.  There were complicated clasps made of hairpins and safety pins of which Pod alone knew the secret.  His wife and child led more sheltered lives in homelike apartments under the kitchen, far removed from the risks and dangers of the dreaded house above.

Chapter Three

They had a comb: a little, silver, eighteenth-century eyebrow comb from a cabinet in the drawing room upstairs.  Homily ran it through her hair and rinsed her poor red eyes and, when Pod came in, she was smiling and smoothing down her apron.

Chapter Four

“He took it,” said Pod, “ever so gentle.  And then, when I was down, he give it me.”  Homily put her face in her hands.  “Now don’t take on,” said Pod uneasily.

Chapter Five

“Borrrowing’s a skilled job, an art like.  Of all the families who’ve been in this house, there’s only us left, and do you know for why?  Because your father, Arrietty, is the best borrower that’s been known in these parts since- well, before your grandad’s time.  Even your Aunt Lupy admitted that much.”

Chapter Six

Arriety raised her tear-streaked face.  “Late or early, what’s the difference?”  she cried.  “Oh. I know Papa is a wonderful borrower.  I know we’ve managed to stay when all the others have gone.  But what has it done for us, in the end?”

Chapter Seven

They had three borrowing-bags between the two of them (“In case,” Pod had explained, “we pick up something.  A bad borrower loses many a chance for lack of an extra bag”) and Pod laid these down to open the first gate, which was latched by a safety pin.  It was a big pin, too strongly sprung for little hands to open, and Arriety watched her father swing his whole weight on the bar and his feet kick loose off the ground.

Chapter Eight

Arriety watched him move away from the step and then she looked about her.  Oh, glory! Oh, joy! Oh, freedom!  The sunlight, the grasses, the soft, moving air and halfway up the bank, where it curved round the corner, a flowery cherry tree!  Below it on the path lay a stain of pinkish petals and, at the tree’s foot, pale as butter, a nest of primroses.

Chapter Nine

“My father had an uncle who had a little boat which he rowed round in the stockpot picking up flotsam and jetsam.  He did bottom-fishing, too, for bits of marrow until the cook got suspicious through finding bent pins in the soup.  Once he was nearly shipwrecked on a chunk of submerged shinbone.  He lost his oars and the boat sprang a leak but he flung a line over the pot handle and pulled himself alongside the rim.”

Chapter Ten

He was gone.  And she stood there alone in the sunshine, shoulder deep in grass.  What had happened seemed too big for thought; she felt unable to believe it really had happened: not only had she been “seen” but she had talked to; not only had she been talked to but she had -

Chapter Eleven 

Arrietty folded the letter and placed it carefully between the pages of Bryce’s Tom Thumb Gazetteer of the World and, in the diary, she wrote: “Went borrowing.  Wrote to H.  Talked to B.”   After that Arrietty sat for a long time staring into the fire, and thinking and thinking and thinking…

Chapter Twelve

This is the moment Arrietty thought, and felt for her precious letter.  She slipped into the hall.  It was darker, this time, with the front door closed, and she ran across it with a beating heart.  The mat was heavy, but she lifted up the corner and slid the letter under by pushing with her foot.

Chapter Thirteen

Arrietty whipped round.  There was no time to hide: it was Pod, borrowing-bag in one hand and pin in the other.  He stood in the doorway of the schoolroom.  Quite still he stood, outlined against the light in the passage, his little shadow falling dimly in front of him.  He had seen her.

Chapter Fourteen

Pod did not speak until they reached the sitting room.  Nor did he look at her.  She had had to scramble after him as best she might.  He had ignored her efforts to help him shut the gates, but once, when she tripped, he had waited until she had got up again, watching her, it seemed, almost without interest while she brushed the dust off her knees.

Chapter Fifteen

Homily screamed then.  But this time it was a real scream, loud and shrill and hearty; she seemed almost to settle down in her scream, while her eyes stared up, half interested, into empty lighted space.  There was another ceiling, she realized, away up above them - higher, it seemed, than the sky; a ham hung from it and two strings of onions.

Chapter Sixteen

Yes, they were happy days and all would have been well, as Pod said afterward, if they had stuck to borrowing from the doll’s house.  No one in the human household seemed to remember it was there and consequently nothing was missed.  The drawing room, however, could not help but be a temptation: it was so seldom used nowadays; there were so many knick-knack tables which had been out of Pod’s reach, and the boy, of course, could turn the key in the glass doors of the cabinet.

Chapter Seventeen

 “What is it?” he called.  “Let me in!”  But Mrs. Driver would not leave the table.  “A nest!  A nest!” she shouted.  “Alive and squeaking!”

Chapter Eighteen

The kitchen was silent and filled with grayish darkness.  He felt, as Mrs. Driver had done, along the shelf for the matches and he struck a light.  He saw the gaping hole in the floor and the objects piled beside it and, in the same flash, he saw a candle on the shelf.  He lit it clumsily, with trembling hands.

Chapter Nineteen

Pick-ax in hand my brother ran out of the door.  He stumbled once on the gravel path and nearly fell; the pick-ax handle came up and struck him a sharp blow on the temple.  Already, when he reached it, a thin filament of smoke was eddying out of the grating and he thought, as he ran toward it, that there was a flicker of movement against the darkness between the bars.  And that was where they would be, of course, to get the air.

Chapter Twenty

They had a wonderful life- all that Arietty had ever dreamed of.  They could live very well.  Badgers’ sets are almost like villages- full of passages and chambers and storehouses.  They could gather hazel nuts and beechnuts and chestnuts; they could gather corn - which they could store and grind into flour, just as humans do - it was all there for them: they didn’t even have to plant it.

By the Shores of Silver Lake by Laura Ingalls Wilder 

Chapter 1

Mary and Carrie and baby Grace and Ma had all had scarlet fever.  The Nelsons across the creek had had it too, so there had been no one to help Pa and Laura.  The doctor had come every day; Pa did not know how he could pay the bill.  Far worst of all, the fever had settled in Mary’s eyes, and Mary was blind.

Chapter 2

Laura knew then that she was not a little girl any more.  Now she was alone;  she must take care of herself.  When you must do that, then you do it and you are grown up.  Laura was not very big, but she was almost thirteen years old, and no one was there to depend on.  Pa and Jack had gone, and Ma needed help to take care of Mary and the little girls, and somehow to get them all safely to the West on a train.

Chapter 3

They were still licking their fingers when the engine whistled long and loud.  Then the car went more slowly, and slowly the backs of shanties went backward outside it.  All the people began to gather their things together and put on their hats, and then there was an awful jolting crash, and the train stopped.  It was noon, and they had reached Tracy.

Chapter 4

All that long afternoon they sat quiet in that parlour while Grace slept, and Carrie slept a little, and even Ma dozed.  The sun was almost setting when a tiny team and wagon came into sight on the road.  It slowly grew larger.  Grace was awake now, and they all watched from the window.  The wagon grew life-size, and it was Pa’s wagon, and Pa was in it.

Chapter 5

The chilly dark had settled in Laura’s bones.  Mary and Carrie moved stiffly too, and they stumbled, yawning.  In the long room, the lamp shone on a long table and benches and rough board walls.  It was warm there and smelled of supper on the stove.  Aunt Docia said, ‘Well, Lena and Jean, aren’t you going to say anything to your cousins?’

Chapter 6

She was holding on to the pony’s mane.  She was hanging on to deep handfuls of it with all her might, and her elbows and her knees were holding on to the pony, but she was jolting so that she couldn’t think.  The ground was so far beneath that she didn’t dare look.  Every instant she was falling, but before she really fell she was falling the other way, and the jolting rattled her teeth.  Far off she heard Lena yell, ‘Hang on, Laura!’

Chapter 7

All morning Pa drove steadily along the dim wagon track, and nothing changed.  The farther they went into the West, the smaller they seemed, and the less they seemed to be going anywhere.  The wind blew the grass always with the same endless rippling, the horses’ feet and the wheels going over the grass made always the same sound.  The jiggling of the board seat was always the same jiggling. Laura thought they might go on forever, yet always be in this same changeless place, that would not even know they were there.

Chapter 8

When Pa came to dinner, he was pleased to see everything so nicely settled and arranged.  He tweaked Carrie’s ear and swung Grace up in his hands; he could not toss her, under that low roof.

‘But where’s the china shepherdess, Caroline?’ he asked.

‘I haven’t unpacked the shepherdess, Charles,’ said Ma. ‘We aren’t living here, we’re only staying till you get our homestead.’

Chapter 9

‘Well,’ Pa said, getting up slowly, ‘I’ve got to go sell the boys the ammunition for their guns.  I hope Jerry don’t come back to camp tonight.  If he just rode up to see how Old Johnny is, rode up to the stable to put his horse in, they’d shoot him.’

‘Oh, no Charles! Surely they wouldn’t do that!’ Ma exclaimed.

Chapter 10

Right across the prairie swell where the trains would run, the teams with ploughs and the teams with scrapers were cutting a wide ditch.  Back and forth went the big teams pulling the ploughs, and round and round went the teams hauling the scrapers, all steadily moving in time with each other.

Chapter 11

The door opened, and there in the lamplight stood Pa.  He shut the door behind him, and the two men who had knocked stepped backward into the crowd.  Pa stood on the step with his hands in his pockets.  

‘Well, boys, what is it?’ he asked quietly.

A voice came from the crowd. ‘We want our pay.’

Chapter 12

‘I know, little Half-pint,’ said Pa, and his voice was very kind.  ‘You and I want to fly like the birds.  But long ago I promised your Ma that you girls should go to school.  You can’t go to school and go West.  When this town is built there’ll be a school here.  I’m going to get a homestead, Laura, and you girls are going to school.’

Chapter 13

Every day the camp was noisy with men drawing their last pay and leaving.  Wagon after wagon went away to the east.  Every night the camp was emptier.  One day Uncle Henry, Louisa and Charley started the long drive back to Wisconsin, to sell the farm.  

Chapter 14

There was no need to pack anything, for the surveyors’ house stood on the north shore of the lake not half a mile from the shanty.  Laura could hardly wait to see it.  When she had helped to put everything neatly into the wagon, and Mary and Carrie and Ma and Grace were in it, Laura said to Pa, ‘Please, can’t I run ahead?’

Chapter 15

Thinking of that old man going out with the last teamster, Laura really knew how deserted this country was.  It would take them two long days to get to the Big Sioux River.  All the way between the Big Sioux and the Jim, there was nobody at all except them, there in the Surveyor’s house.

Chapter 16

When the sun shone, no matter how cold it was, Laura must go out.  When Ma would let them go, she and Carrie, well wrapped up in coats and hood with shoes and mittens and mufflers on, went sliding on Silver Lake.  Holding hands, they ran a little way and then slid on the dark, smooth ice.

Chapter 17

‘We followed the moonpath,’ Laura told him.  Pa looked at her strangely.  ‘You would!’ he said.  ‘I thought those wolves had gone.  It was careless of me.  I’ll hunt them tomorrow.’

Mary sat still, but her face was white.  ‘Oh, girls,’ she almost whispered. ‘Suppose he had caught you!’

Chapter 18

‘That isn’t all, Caroline!’  Pa announced.  ‘I’ve got some news.  I’ve found our homestead.’

‘Oh, where, Pa!   What’s it like?  How far is it?’  Mary and Laura and Carrie asked, excited.  Ma said, ‘That’s good, Charles.’

Chapter 19

Pa had gone hunting.  He said he intended to have the biggest jack rabbit in the territory for the Christmas dinner.  And he had.  At least, he had brought home the very biggest rabbit they had ever seen.  Skinned and cleaned and frozen stiff, it waited now in the lean-to to be roasted tomorrow.

Chapter 20

“I don’t know why,’ Laura said to Mrs Boast.  ‘We don’t even know what the joke is, but when Mr Boast laughs –‘

Mrs Boast was laughing too.  ‘It’s contagious,’ she said.  Laura looked at her blue, laughing eyes and thought that Christmas would be jolly.

Chapter 21

‘There!’ Pa said, when all was done.  ‘Now you folks are settled, come on over.  Not even the four of us can get in here, but there’s plenty of room at the other house, so that’s headquarters.  How about a game of checkers, Boast?’

Chapter 22

‘This is certainly a fine country,’ Mr Boast agreed.  ‘I’m glad I’ve got my claim filed on a hundred and sixty acres of it, and I wish you had, Ingalls.’

‘I’ll have it before I’m a week older.’ said Pa.

Chapter 23

‘What did I tell you, Ingalls, about the spring rush?’ said Mr Boast.  ‘Two homesteaders in here already, and March hardly begun.’

‘That struck me too,’ said Pa.  ‘I’m making tracks for Brookins tomorrow morning, rain or shine.’

Chapter 24

That night more strangers came.  The next night there were more.  Ma said, ‘Mercy on us, aren’t we to have one night in peace by ourselves?’

‘I can’t help it, Caroline,’ said Pa. ‘We can’t refuse folks shelter, when there’s nowhere else they can stay.’

Chapter 25

Late in the afternoon of the fourth day Pa came home.  He waved as he drove by to put the tired team in the stable, and he walked smiling into the house.  ‘Well, Caroline! Girls!’ he said.  ‘We’ve got the claim.’

Chapter 26

Suddenly, there on the brown prairie where nothing had been before, was the town.  In two weeks, all along Main Street the unpainted new buildings pushed up their thin false fronts, two stories high and square on top.

Chapter 27

‘Well,’ said Pa, ‘I think we’d better get on to our claim before somebody jumps it.’

‘So do I,’ Ma agreed.  ‘We will move as soon as you can put up any kind of shelter.’

‘Fix me up a snack to eat, and I’ll start now.’ Said Pa.

Chapter 28

‘There it is!’ he said.  The little claim shanty stood bright in its newness in the sunlight.  It looked like a yellow toy on the great rolling prairie covered with rippling young grass.

Ma laughed at it when Pa helped her from the wagon. ’It looks like half a woodshed that has been split in two.’

Chapter 29

‘I guess she’s behind the house, I’ll get her,’ Carrie said, and she ran, calling, ‘Grace!’  In a minute she came from behind the shanty, her eyes large and scared and the freckles standing out from her pale face. ‘Pa, I can’t find her!’

Chapter 30

Then she ran towards the Big Slough, calling as she ran.  ‘Pa!  Ma!  She’s here!’  She kept on calling until Pa heard her and shouted to Ma, far in the tall grass.  Slowly, together, they fought their way out of Big Slough and slowly came up to the shanty, draggled and muddy and very tired and thankful.

Chapter 31

The days were warm.  Mosquitoes came out of the Big Slough at sundown and sang their high, keen song all night as they swarmed around Ellen, biting her and sucking the blood until she ran around and around on her picket rope.

Chapter 32

Laura drew the curtain as she and Mary joined Carrie and Grace in their tiny bedroom.

And, as she fell asleep still thinking of violets and fairy rings and moonlight over the wide, wide land, where their very own homestead lay, Pa and the fiddle were softly singing.
Calico Captive by Elizabeth George Speare
Chapter One

A dull summer, her sister had said.  How could James Johnson, adventuring off down the Connecticut River, have any idea what a summer it had been, that year of 1754, for the women left behind at the fort?  After four years of uneasy peace, the Indians were again bent on war, stirred up by the French in Canada; and this struggling little community of Number Four at Charlestown, farther north of the settlements along the Connecticut, was almost unprotected.  The families whose men had gone trading had been forced to abandon their farms and move back into the shelter of the stout walls of the fort.

Chapter Two

Without warning it happened.  James Johnson’s answer was drowned in such dreadful shrieks that Miriam’s whole body turned to stone.  She had heard them before, but far away, in the depths of the forest.  Now they were close, close upon them.  Indians!

Chapter Three

Miriam never forgot her sister’s courage on that day.  With the same stubbornness that had brought her parents into a wilderness to found a new home in spite of cold and hunger and unending labor, Susanna fought now to bring her child into the world.  Two hours later Miriam held in her hands a baby girl, a perfect, tiny, red morsel, who opened her thin little button mouth in a pathetic wail.

Chapter Four

The seventh day was nearly over when Miriam suddenly remembered something.  It was her birthday, and for the first in all her life no one had remembered or wished her happiness.  What a silly thing to want someone to wish her happiness when heaven only knew what horrors were in store for her!  This was the day when she had hoped for another party, when she would have danced again in the blue dress-with Phineas Whitney!

Chapter Four 

Suddenly she was closer to her sister than ever before in their lives, and the love and courage shining from Susanna’s eyes warmed her more deeply than the fire or the broth.  Somehow, without a single word, their whole relationship was changed.  Miriam had always been the little sister, always tagging along, always just a little at odds with the rest.  Now she was a Willard too!

Chapter Five

In the morning she was left to her own devices.  The three Indian women busied themselves making moccasins.  The woman, who said her name was Chogan, threaded colored beads and applied them expertly in a complicated design.  The old grandmother smoothed and cut the soft skins, and the girl stitched the pieces together.

Chapter Six

“Vanus!” sobbed his mother, throwing her arms around the child.  Sylvanus lifted his brown cheeks for her kiss as unconcernedly as though he were leaving for an hour’s play.  Then he broke from her and trotted away with the Indians.  But as Susanna ran after him along the pathway, he turned back, and for the first time his blue eyes were clouded with doubt.

Chapter Seven

Miriam and James exchanged a look of dismay as they understood the officer’s meaning.  They were all to be separated; each one of them had been privately purchased.  After a quick fire of directions, one of the soldiers hoisted a terrified Polly to his shoulder, and another abruptly held out his hand to Sue.  Sue hid both hands behind her, and shrank against her father, the ready tears welling up in her eyes.  James laid a hand on his daughter’s head.

Chapter Eight

There was a wide four-poster bed with full white draw curtains and deep scalloped valences.  In the center of the bed, under a fringed and embroidered coverlet and propped up against a mass of ruffled pillows, sat not the formidable woman Miriam expected but the prettiest girl she had ever seen.  She was pink and white and fragile as a china figurine, her eyes like blue flowers, and her hair a fine powdery gold mist against the pillows.  The blue eyes darted past Hortense and the tray, and went wide at the sight of Miriam.

Chapter Nine

Housewives bargained shrilly over stalls piled high with golden carrots, glossy red apples, green lettuce and cabbage, and great orange pumpkins.  Chicken squawked from wicker baskets.  At the end of the row they stopped at the fish stall and Hortense selected a huge silver cod and four loathsome, snake-like eels.  It was a pleasure to watch knowingly pinching the ripe fruit, keeping a sharp eye on the scales, battling good-naturedly for a bargain.

Chapter Ten

Late Sunday morning Hortense had offered to take her to church but, terrified at the thought, she had sat alone in the kitchen and repeated every word she could remember of the Divine Service.  In the wilderness James had never allowed them to omit their worship.  It was up to her now to uphold that faith.  Yet today, confronted by Sue’s troubles eyes, she had betrayed all her teaching.

Chapter Eleven

“You look so lovely in that dress, Miriam,” she said wistfully.  “I wish that just once in my life, just for my wedding, I could have a beautiful dress.  But isn’t that silly?  Where would I ever wear it when the wedding was over?”

Chapter Twelve

The curling iron hissed and steamed, as the heavy red hair was massed high on her head in countless curls and twists.  Miriam’s back and neck ached long before the intricate creation was finished to Felicite’s satisfaction.  Then the maid brought the quail pipe, and Miriam covered her eyes while the white powder was blown into the red curls.  Finally there was perfumed cream for her cheeks, powder, and a touch of rouge, and the little black beauty spot, which Felicite herself insisted on pasting just beneath her left eye.

Chapter Thirteen

It was growing dark.  Captive, cold and ravenous, set up a piercing wail that would not be quieted.  Hurrying down the alleyway, Miriam glanced behind and saw a dark figure following them.  Her heart sank, and then all at once bounded with relief.  It was not a soldier pursuing them but Hortense.

Chapter Fourteen

Moreover, there was a warm, close friendliness and affection in the cottage that was contagious.  It was impossible to follow her bitter thoughts while three admiring little girls hung over her shoulder.  Instead she threaded needles for them and set them to competing for the straightest line of stitches.  Gradually her hurt began to heal.

Chapter Fifteen

She was thankful for the long walk home in spite of her empty stomach.  By the time she reached the cottage her heart had stopped pounding, her breath was coming evenly, and she was able to announce to Susanna, quite nonchalantly, “You need not worry about the jail for a while at least.  You and I are going to be dressmakers.  The most fashionable dressmakers in Montreal.”

Chapter Sixteen

“I believe that God has sent her back to me as a reminder,” she said humbly.  “I am ashamed that I have despaired in my heart.  I shall never doubt His goodness again.”

Chapter Seventeen

“What makes you so sure their ways are lower?  The Indians lived in these woods long before we ever came here.  They can teach us plenty.  How far do you think the coureurs would have gone - almost as far as the great western sea - without the Indians’ help?”

Chapter Eighteen

“Conditions are far more serious than you realize.  England and France are beyond all hope of being reconciled.  There will shortly be a fight to the finish, and we shall be caught in the thick of it if we do not leave here at once.”

Chapter Nineteen

With every step away from the hot summer street, the chill damp increased, until she was shivering.  As they entered the common jail, the stench struck her in the face like a smothering blanket.  In the half-dark she could make out huddled forms crowded close together like grotesque shadows.  Their terrifying faces turned toward her, grayish white with coal-black greedy eyes.

Chapter Twenty

She had only intended to speak about the jail.  But the thought of Susanna possessed her.  She wanted this woman to understand her sister, who had endured that dreadful morning at Charlestown, who had given birth in the wilderness, and stayed behind alone in the village of St Francis.  The Marquise sat listening, her eyes dwelling gently on the girl’s ardent face.

Chapter Twenty-one

He bowed very low over her hand.  “We have been honored, mademoiselle.  You are a very beautiful and gallant young lady.  If your English soldiers show half your spirit in battle, we French will have no easy victory.”

Chapter Twenty-two

After the astonishment of the past hours, she was scarcely able to be surprised when that evening the white-haired Monsieur Laroche called on her.  Her first impression of him was instantly confirmed.  No one could help liking his vigorous, confident man, with his handsome weather-beaten face that still bore the stamp of nobility.  She could feel no resentment when he came directly to the point.

Chapter Twenty-three

There is one course open.  There has been much fighting in Europe, and many French prisoners are now held in England.  A ship leaves here tomorrow for Quebec, and from there for France.  By special agreement it will stop at the port of Plymouth in England for the exchange of prisoners of war.  The Captain and his wife and children, and you yourself, will be included in this exchange.

Chronicles of Narnia by C.S. Lewis 

Copywork is listed under individual titles (eg: Lion, the Witch and the Wardrobe)

Complete Peterkin Papers by Lucretia Hale

The Lady Who Put Salt in her Coffee

First he looked at the coffee, and then stirred it. Then he put in a little chlorate of potassium, and the family tried it all round; but it tasted no better. Then he stirred it in a little bichlorate of magnesia. But Mrs. Peterkin didn’t like that. Then he added some tartaric acid and some hypersulphate of lime.

About Elizabeth Eliza’s Piano

It was very pleasant, too, moonlight evenings. Mr. Peterkin liked to take a doze on his sofa in the room, but the rest of the family liked to sit on the piazza. So did Elizabeth Eliza, only she had to have her back to the moon.

The Peterkins Try to Become Wise

They were sitting round the breakfast-table, and wondering what they should do because the lady from Philadelphia had gone away. “If,” said Mrs. Peterkin, “we could only be more wise as a family!” How could they manage it? Agamennon had been to college, and the children all went to school; but still as a family they were not wise.

Mrs. Peterkin Wishes to go to Drive

After she had looked through the glass she laid it down, leaned her head back against the pillow, for she was very tired, and then said, “why don’t you unchain the horse from the horse-post?”

Elizabeth Eliza and the little boys looked at one another and then hurried back to the house and told their mother. The horse was untied, and they all went to ride.

The Peterkins at Home

“What is the matter now?” said Mr. Peterkin.

But the children were taught not to speak at the table. Agamennon, however, made a sign of disgust at his fat, and Elizabeth Eliza at her lean, and so on; and they presently discovered what was the difficulty.

Why the Peterkins Had a Late Dinner

“A carpenter! A carpenter!” exclaimed the rest.

It was decided that Mr Peterkin, Solomon John, and the little boys should go in search of a carpenter.

Argamemnon proposed that, meanwhile, he should go and borrow a book, for he had another idea.

The Peterkins’ Summer Journey

Again Mrs. Peterkin spent two days in accommodating the things. With great care and discretion, and by borrowing two more leather bags, it could be accomplished. Everything of importance could be packed except the little boys’ kite. What should they do about that?

The Peterkins Snowed-Up

All the water pipes that were there were frozen. The milk was frozen. They could open the door into the wood-house; but the wood-house door into the yard was banked up with snow; and the front door, and the piazza door, and the side door stuck. Nobody could get in or out!

The Peterkins Decide to Keep a Cow

The lady from Philadelphia asked where the milk was kept.

“In the new dairy,” answered Elizabeth Eliza.

“Is that in a cool place?” asked the lady from Philadelphia.

Eilzabeth Eliza explained it was close by the new kitchen.

The Peterkins Christmas Tree

She was pretty busy in her own room; the furniture had to be changed, and the carpet altered. The “hump” was higher than she expected. There was danger of bumping her own head whenever she crossed it. She had to nail some padding on the ceiling for fear of accidents.

Mrs Peterkin’s Tea Party

‘Twas important to have a tea party, as they had all been invited by everybody – the Bromwicks, the Tremletts, and the Gibbonses. It would be such a good chance to pay off some of their old debts, now that the lady from Philadelphia was back again, and her two daughters, who would be sure to make it all go off well.

The Peterkins Too Late for the Exhibition

AMANDA. Oh, do let us have it now; and then we’ll recite to you some of our exhibition pieces.

ELIZABETH ELIZA. I’ll try.

MRS. PETERKIN. Yes, Elizabeth Eliza, do what you can to help entertain Amanda’s friends.

All stand looking at ELIZABETH ELIZA, who remains silent and thoughtful.

The Peterkins Celebrate the Fourth of July

Alas! Amanda, by mistake, had waked up the little boys an hour too early. And by another mistake the little boys had invited three or four of their friends to spend the night with them. Mrs. Peterkin had given them permission to have the boys for the whole day, ad they understood the day as beginning when they went to bed the night before. This accounted for the number of horns.

The Peterkins’ Picnic

The lady from Philadelpnia had been wrapping her shawl about her, as she felt the sun was low. But nobody had any idea it was so late! Well, they had left late, and went back a great many times, had stopped sometimes to consult, and had been long on the road, and it had taken a long time to fetch up the things; so it was no wonder it was time to go away.

The Peterkins’ Charades

“Oh, I wish we’d never determined to have charades!” exclaimed Elizabeth Eliza. “Can’t we return the money?”

“They are all here; we must give them something!” said John Osborne, heroically.

“And Solomon John is almost dressed,” reported Ann Maria, winding a veil around her head.

The Peterkins are Obliged to Move

But when the track was actually laid by the side of the house, and the steam-engine of the construction train puffed and screamed under the dining-room windows, and the engineer calmly looked in to see what the family had for dinner, she felt, indeed, that they must move.

The Peterkins Decide to Learn the Languages

Solomon John found the Italian dictionary, and seated himself by his Italian; Agamemnon, with the German dictionary, by the German. The little boys took their copy of the “Arabian Nights” to the Turk. Mr. Peterkin attempted to explain to the Russian that he had no Russian dictionary, as he had hoped to learn Sanscrit of him, while Mrs. Peterkin attempted to explain to inform her teacher that she had no books in Spanish.

Modern Improvements at the Peterkins’

Still she bravely selected a knob, and Elizabeth Eliza hastened with her to look out for the messenger. How soon should they see the telegraph boy?

They seemed to have scarcely reached the window, when a terrible noise was heard, and down the shady street the white horses fo the fire-brigade were seen rushing at a fatal speed!

Agamemnon’s Career

There had apparently been some mistake in Agamemnon’s education. He had been to a number of colleges, indeed, but he had never completed his course in any one. He had continually fallen into some difficulty with the authorities. It was singular, for he was of an inquiring mind, and had always tried to find out what would be expected of him, but had never hit upon the right thing.

The Educational Breakfast

“We shall have to go back,” they exclaimed, “We are too late! The maple syrup was all made last spring.”

“We are too early; we shall have to stay two or three months – the cider is not made until October.”

The expedition was a failure!

The Peterkins at the Carnival of Authors in Boston

The entrance was filled with a crowd of people, and, as they stopped at the cloakroom, to leave their wraps, they found themselves entangled with a number of people in costume coming out from a dressing room below. Mr. Peterkin was much encouraged. They were thus joining the performers. The band was playing the “Wedding March” as they went upstairs to a door of the hall which opened upon one side of the stage.

The Peterkins at the Farm

“But we are at the farm,” said Elizabeth Eliza.

“And so are we!” said Ann Maria.

“We have been there two days,” said Mrs. Peterkin.

“And so have we, at the ‘Old Farm,’ just at the end of the beach,” said Ann Maria.
Gentle Ben by Walt Morey 

Chapter 1

Ben was not yet a full-grown brown bear, and he was painfully thin and bony from lack of enough food for his huge frame.  Even so, he was a tremendous animal, with great ropes of muscles rippling sinuously under his light taffy-gold coat.

Chapter 2

During the meal, which his mother insisted was dinner, not supper, Mark’s father told them what had happened in town and along the waterfront.  Like every seiner, he was making his own boat, the Far North, ready for the coming season.

Chapter 3

The sun was only a couple of hours high.  It lay bright and shining across the tundra, making it look as smooth and soft as velvet.  It bathed the distant mountains until they glittered like white upside-down ice-cream cones.

Chapter 4

Karl came into the kitchen.  He stood looking thoughtfully out the window, legs stiff and braced apart, head thrown back with an almost arrogant air.  His blond hair, glistening with water, made an odd contrast with his tanned skin.

Chapter 5

His delicate black nostrils, which could pick up the scent of another animal or an intruder two miles away, were greedily drawing in all the ancient smells of the earth.  There were the mustiness of deep canyons, the cold bite of distant snow fields mingled with the pungent scent of the tundra, the soft breath of the sun-warmed earth that rose about him, all laced with the clean, salty tang of the sea.  The sharp ears were picking up the distant thunder of the surf, the far-off cries of clouds of gulls, the near chatter of a jay, the raucous voice of a pair of crows, the scream of a fishing eagle, and the endless musical brawling of the nearby creek running over its stones.

Chapter 6

She gripped the stubby handles and swung the scythe with a smooth, full-armed sweep.  There was a sound like ripping cloth, and a narrow half-moon of grass fell smoothly before the flashing blade.

Chapter 7

He asked, “How’s Ben, Mother?  Did you have any trouble feeding him?”

She shook her dark, smooth head.  “No trouble.  Ben’s a gentleman.  My, you look good!”

“I’ve got to run up and see him, Mother.  I brought him some salmon.  I’ve got to be back at the boat in an hour.”

Chapter 8

The alder, blueberry, and willow leaves, touched by fall’s first chill, turned rich yellows, browns, and reds, and fell whispering into the long dry meadow grasses until bushes and trees were bare.  

Chapter 9

Ben stood reared on hind legs to his great, imposing height.  The flickering lantern light threw shadows over his huge form until he looked like some prehistoric monster from another world.  He swung his great head, growling ominously, the sound like the rumble of distant thunder.

Chapter 10

Mark felt comforted by the tall, strong figure beside him.  His father had said he was on his side.  That dispelled all fear.  Nothing could stand against his father; he could do anything.

Chapter 11

It was Saturday morning, and Mark wandered from window to window as he watched the storm drive in sleet-driven gusts for the length of the roughened bay, wash the roofs of the town, and spread across the soaked gray tundra beyond.  He could barely see where the tundra fell away to the creek and the bottom land where they had taken Ben last summer to cut hay.

Chapter 12

Day after day, as the daylight hours lengthened and the spring buds burst into leaf, Ben explored.  Led by a natural curiosity, and guided by his heritage of keen scent and sharp ears, he wandered far afield.

Chapter 13

Mark had both arms around the animal’s neck and was crying, “It’s you, Ben!  It’s really you!  Oh, Ben!  Ben!”  He was scratching Ben under the chin, half laughing, half crying, and Ben had stretched his massive neck to its full length and was grunting like a pig, with pure delight.

Chapter 14

Above the towering mountains the setting sun turned the sky blood red; the color flowed down the bowl of the sky, gradually fading until it touched the sea, turning the water from blue to pale gold.  It changed the high shapes of the mountains into black silhouettes, and lay thin shadows across the earth.

Chapter 15

He knew only that here was the animal he had been hunting for a week – the biggest, most dangerous animal in all North America.  And it was padding relentlessly toward him like a tank, its huge head low, its massive shoulders rolling, the epitome of unlimited power and deadly danger.

*George Washington's World by Genevieve Foster 

No copywork yet

Gone Away Lake by Elizabeth Enright 

Chapter 1

So here they were, side by side on a blue-plush coach seat, looking out the window as happy and independent as two old people of thirty. Their mother and father had seen them off, of course, and spoken to the conductor about them, but all that seemed long ago. The city had already dwindled away, and country, real country, was skimming along beside the train. It was June, the very best ripest part of June; there were roses in all the yards and yellow flowers in all the fields. The trees were thick with leaves, and the grass still looked as soft as cloth because it was so new.

Chapter 1

Portia and Foster flung open the car doors and fell out, and Katy jumped up on them, kissing their faces and snuffing dew all over them and talking a little in dog-talk, the way she knew how to do when she was happy. She was a very welcoming dog.

Next came Aunt Hilda in a lavender dress.

“Oh, darlings, how wonderful to have you back!” she cried, running down the steps and hugging them. She was a very welcoming aunt.

Chapter 2

The bureau was crowded with caterpillar jars, and the shelves with birds’ nests and cocoons on twigs, and on the mantelpiece there was a procession of minerals. Mounted specimens of butterflies and moths hung in cases on the walls, and over the bed five tacked-up snakeskins were tastefully arranged. The turtles occupied a tank cozily situated beside the wastebasket.

Chapter 2

Portia and Julian drew in a breath of surprise at exactly the same instant, because at the northeast end of the swamp, between the reeds and the woods, and quite near to them, they saw a row of wrecked old houses. There were perhaps a dozen of them; all large and shabby, though once they must have been quite elaborate, adorned as they were with balconies, turrets, widows’ walks, and lacy wooden trimming. But now the balconies were sagging and the turrets tipsy; the shutters were crooked or gone, and large sections of wooden trimming had broken off. 

Chapter 3

They heard small steps in the house, and out of the dimness a figure approached: a small, thin old lady. The first thing they noticed about her was the queerness of her clothes: they seemed like fancy-dress clothes, so old-fashioned and long and sweeping. She was wearing a dress of black-and-white striped silk; it had leg-of-mutton sleeves and a 

high-boned collar made of lace. Her white hair, curled in multitudes of little pleaty ridges, was dressed in a pompadour, and on top, like a small vessel on a choppy sea, a red velvet bow was riding.

Chapter 4 

Portia and Julian stepped out, too, and saw, marching briskly toward them and knocking at daisies with a cane, an elderly and dapper gentleman. The reddish-pink of his face was accentuated by a white beard and mustache. His eyebrows were black; his eyes were sharp and blue. He wore a broad-brimmed felt hat, a tweed jacket, and blue jeans tucked into the tops of his very high-laced walking boots. There was a coreopsis flower in his buttonhole. He had an air of style and elegance.

Chapter 5

One winter night, three years ago, I heard him calling out-of-doors. Terrible night. Snow driving down. Wind howling in such a way that at first I thought Fatly’s cries were part of it. And then the storm lulled for a moment but Fatly did not; I recognized the sound as being of true cat origin, opened the door and in he walked, fat but half-frozen, twitching the snow off his ears. He settled right down to a dish of tuna fish, without objection, and afterwards turned on his purr. Sounded like a jackhammer. Next day he brought a dead rat and laid in on my doorstep. Gesture of gratitude; I think he expected me to eat it.”

Chapter 6

I saw that I’d better do my stunt before he pushed me off the rock, so I hastily performed the little sleight-of-hand trick that my father had taught me. Very useful. Very adroit. Suddenly in my hand, instead of my plain pocketknife, I held a golden one!

“I think I dissembled rather creditably. ‘Gold!’ I cried, gasping like a fish and goggling my eyes. ‘Fellows, my knife’s turned into gold!  It’s a miracle, that’s what it is; a MIRACLE!’

“ ‘What the deuce are you howling about?’ says Edward the Seventh, or whatever he was. And then he came over and looked, and his eyes goggled too, all right.

Chapter 6

“Do you know what I would like to offer you, children?” said Mrs. Cheever, tying another apron over the one she was already wearing. “Pin, do you know what I would like to offer them?” She paused dramatically. “A house!” she said. “Here are all these old houses! Nothing ever uses them but bats and birds, and some of them are still quite safe. You could pick a safe one and have it for a clubhouse; bring your friends if you wanted.

Chapter 7

What shall we call it? The Bellemere Club?”

“Na-a. That sounds too much like golf links and a lot of grown-ups yacketing,” scoffed Julian. “I know, though. Why not call it the Philosopher’s Club? Even if we’re not philosophers and probably never will be.”

“Yes. Good. Let’s call it that, Jule.”

When they turned to Mr. Payton, they were surprised that he should look so pleased.

Chapter 8

And when the red curtains were up and the red rug was down – with tables and chairs strategically placed to cover the worst of the moth holes – the attic had become a lovely room indeed: cheerful, spacious, bright. Portia ran downstairs with a washstand pitcher, filled it at Mrs. Cheever’s pump, and picked a large painful bouquet of roses to put into it. Then, carefully mounting the Bellemere stairs, she set the pitcher on one of the two tables in the attic. It was the finishing touch.

Chapter 9 

Far away, small as grasshoppers, Foster saw Portia and Julian run up the steps of one of the houses and enter it by way of a window . . . . And now another grasshopper, in a long skirt, came out of a house at the extreme right and started sweeping off the porch, while still another, at the extreme left, was crawling about a garden patch. Near these two houses, on the grass, white chickens were sprinkled like grains of salt.

Chapter 9 

But he liked this house, these two little rooms. “Just my size,” he said. “Just right for me and Davey.” Also he was feeling extremely proud and capable. He had discovered an island, discovered a house, outwitted his elderly cousin and sister, and best of all he had come through a thunderstorm without any grown-up, or even Portia, to help him.

Chapter 10

It was really a most wonderful picture, the kind in which you can truly lose yourself. It showed a vast misty view of river winding between huge half-glimpsed crags; in the distance, by the river’s edge, a tiny Indian campfire burned with the colors of an opal. You could almost smell the river fog and the harsh spice of smoke, almost hear the lonely dripping of the leaves.

Chapter 10

Never, as long as she lived, did she forget the spectacle she saw. There, jiggling clamorously toward the house, came an equipage that looked more like a gigantic insect than a car, and throned on its high back were three people from another era: an elderly lady wearing a motor-veil and duster, an elderly gentleman with an elegant beard, a little boy with a round hat on the back of his head like a blue serge halo. And then she saw that the little boy was Foster.

Chapter 11  

Portia liked her new friend Lucy Lapham very much: they had a great deal in common. Both wore tooth braces, weighed eighty-five pounds, and were the same height; both had had measles (the same year!) but not mumps; both liked studying English but hated arithmetic, preferred the color green to all other colors, wore size three shoes, and had birthdays within a week of each other in October.

Chapter 11

Mrs. Cheever brought a chair out to her front porch and sat there mending. Now and then she would put her work down, close her eyes, and lean her head back, smiling. Young voices coming from the swamp; young voices coming from the Tuckertowns’ old house! When she closed her eyes like that, she could almost believe that this was Tarrigo again, and she herself was still a child.

Chapter 12

It was lucky, Portia often thought later, that everybody, even grown-ups, seemed to like Aunt Minnehaha and Uncle Pin; and equally lucky that Aunt Minnehaha and Uncle Pin always seemed to like the right grown-ups.

Chapter 12

“So every summer after that, as long as we were all at Tarrigo, Mrs. Brace-Gideon’s summer cats would vanish mysteriously sometime between the end of August and the middle of September. It became a real puzzle to the grown-ups. ‘I can’t account for it at all,’ Mrs. Brace-Gideon told Mrs. Ravenel. ‘But it does save me the bother of a trip to Clisbee. I think it must be Providence.’ ” 

“You and Baby-Belle were Providence, all right,” said Portia. “But for the kittens, not for her!”

“Maybe we benefit from the providence of others more often that we know,” suggested Mrs. Cheever.

Chapter 13

“Why don’t you just call it the Gulper Bridge?” suggested Foster logically. 

“Excellent. That all right with all of you? Very well. Bridge, in the name of the Philosopher’s Club and the inhabitants of Gone-Away Lake, I now have the honor to christen you the Gulper Bridge!” With that Mr. Payton brandished the bottle and knocked it hard against the railing. Glass sparkled and flew; ginger ale trickled fizzling into the moss.

Chapter 14 

The nights were cold and still; great lights roved over the North, and the stars shivered. In the mornings there was a nap of hoarfrost on the grass, but by the time they reached Gone-Away it had melted, except in the shady spots. All the reeds were glittering, and the foxtail grasses were full of rainbow sparks. Already the swamp maples had turned scarlet.

Chapter 14

The trees thinned out a little, and rounding a curve, they came to a stop. There in a clearing, up to its sills in weeds and briars, stood the Villa Caprice.

It looked like a huge lumpy rock at the bottom of the sea, for all of it, all its turrets and bay windows and battlements and balconies, was smothered under a vast green vine. And beyond the house the privet hedge, grown tall as trees, curved over in a dark wave.

Chapter 15

“Everything about this day seems like a dream,” Aunt Hilda said. “The hazy light, that weird tree, the whole place-”

“A nice dream or a bad one?” asked Portia anxiously. She felt about the Villa Caprice the way Foster felt about Craneycrow – responsible for it, in a way; she wanted people to like it.

“Oh, a pleasant dream,” her aunt assured her. “The kind where everything is peaceful and a little bit better than real.”

Chapter 15

“But if the state authorities agree,” their father continued. “And if the price isn’t too high, and if there’s not too much repair work to be done, and if what there is doesn’t cost a fortune, and if -”

But somehow – who knows how? – Portia and Foster were perfectly certain that every “if” would be overcome and that some day the Villa Caprice would be the Blakes’ own house to live in every summer. 

Horse and His Boy by C.S. Lewis

Chapter 1

Shasta stroked it’s smooth-as-satin nose and said, “I wish you could talk, old fellow.” And then for a second he thought he was dreaming, for quite distinctly, though in a low voice, the Horse said, “But I can.”

Chapter 2

The moonlight, astonishingly bright, showed up everything almost as if it were broad day. The two horses and the two riders were galloping neck to neck and knee to knee just as if they were in a race. Indeed Bree said (afterwards) that a finer race had never been seen in Calormen.

Chapter 2

For in Calormen, storytelling (whether the stories are true or made up) is a thing you’re taught, just as English boys and  girls are taught essay writing. The difference is that people want to hear the stories, whereas I never heard of anyone who wanted to read the essays.

Chapter 3

“And what happened to the girl--the one you drugged?” asked Shasta. “Doubtless she was beaten for sleeping late,” said Aravis coolly. “But she was a tool and spy of my stepmother’s. I am very glad they should beat her.” “I say, that was hardly fair,” said Shasta. “I did not do any of these things for the sake of pleasing you,” said Aravis.

Chapter 4

But there was no time to enjoy it for at once a really dreadful thing happened. The leader of the fair headed men suddenly pointed at Shasta, cried out, “There he is! There’s our runaway!” and seized him by the shoulder.

Chapter 5

He saw also what had made the crash: a costly porcelain vase which had been standing on the windowsill lay on the floor broken into about thirty pieces. But he hardly noticed all these things. What he did notice was two hands gripping the windowsill from outside.

Chapter 6

He was wakened by a noise he had never heard before. “Perhaps it was only a nightmare,” said Shasta to himself. At the same moment he noticed that the cat had gone from his back, and he wished it hadn’t.

Chapter 6

“Oh Puss,” gasped Shasta. “I am so glad to see you again. I’ve been having such horrible dreams.” And he at once lay down again, back to back with the cat as they had been at the beginning of the night. The warmth from it spread all over them.

Chapter 7

Although Lasaraleen had said she was dying to hear Aravis’s story, she showed no sign of really wanting to hear it at all. She was, in fact, much better at talking than at listening. She insisted on Aravis having a long and luxurious bath (Calormene baths are famous) and then dressing her up in the finest clothes before she would let her explain anything.

Chapter 8

“I desire and propose, O my father,” said Rabadash, “that you immediately call out you invincible armies and invade the thrice-accursed land of Narnia and waste it with fire and sword and add it to your illimitable empire, killing their High King and all of his blood except the Queen Susan.

Chapter 9

“Now,” said Bree. “All that about galloping for a day and a night, like in stories, can’t really be done. It must be walk and trot: but brisk trots and short walks. And whenever we walk you two humans can slip off and walk too. Now. Are you ready, Hwin? Off we go. Narnia and the North!

Chapter 10

“By Tash!” said Aravis. “It’s the army. It’s Rabadash.” “Of course it is,” said Hwin. “Just what I was afraid of. Quick! We must get to Anvard before it does.” And without another word she whisked round and began galloping north. Bree tossed his head and did the same.

Chapter 10

Aravis screamed and reeled in the saddle. The lion was tearing her shoulders. Shasta, half mad with horror, managed to lurch towards the brute. He had no weapon, not even a stick or a stone. He shouted out, idiotically, at the lion as one would at a dog. “Go home! Go home!”

Chapter 11

He was pleased to hear the Lord Darrin say to the King. “The boy has a true horseman’s seat, Sire. I’ll warrant there’s noble blood in him.” “His blood, aye, there’s the point,” said the King. And he stared hard at Shasta again with that curious expression, almost a hungry expression, in his steady grey eyes.

Chapter 11

Then instantly the pale brightness of the mist and the fiery brightness of the Lion rolled themselves together into a swirling glory and gathered themselves up and disappeared. He was alone with the horse on a grassy hillside under a blue sky. And there were birds singing.

Chapter 12

“Good morning,” said Shasta. “But I’m not a neighbour. In fact I’m a stranger in these parts.” “Ah?” said the Hedgehog inquiringly. “I’ve come over the mountains--from Archenland, you know.” “Ah, Archenland,” said the Hedgehog.

Chapter 13

They’re over the ridge now, whoever they are. Aha! I’ve seen the banner now. Narnia, Narnia! It’s the red lion! They’re in full career down the hill now. I can see King Edmund. There’s a woman behind among the archers.

Chapter 13

“What about Shasta?” said Aravis. “Oh the fool!” groaned the Hermit. “Poor, brave little fool. He knows nothing about this work. He’s making no use at all of his shield. His whole side’s exposed. He hasn’t the faintest idea what to do with his sword. Oh, he’s remembered it now.”

Chapter 14

“If he was a lion he’d have to be a Beast just like the rest of us. Why!” (and here Bree began to laugh)“If he was as lion he’d have four paws, and a tail, and Whiskers!...Aie, ooh, hoo-hoo! Help!” For just as he said the word Whiskers one of Aslan’s had actually tickled his ear.

Chapter 15

“Beware! Beware! Beware! The bolt of Tash falls from above!” “Does it ever get caught on a hook halfway?” asked Corin. “Shame, Corin,” said the King. “Never taunt a man save when he is stronger than you: then, as you please.” “Oh you foolish Rabadash,” sighed Lucy.

Chapter 15

Aravis also had many quarrels (and, I’m afraid even fights) with Cor, but they always made it up again: so that years later, when they were grown up they were so used to quarreling and making it up again that they got married so as to go on doing in more conveniently.

*Incredible Journey  by Sheila Burnford

Chapter 1

This journey took place in a part of Canada which lies in the northwestern part of the great sprawling province of Ontario.  It is a vast area of deeply wooded wilderness – of endless chains of lonely lakes and rushing rivers.  Thousands of miles of country roads, rough timber lanes, overgrown tracks leading to abandoned mines, and unmapped trails snake across its length and breadth.

Chapter 1

During the first few days Longridge had almost regretted his spontaneous offer: the terrier had languished in his basket, his long arched nose buried in the comfort of his paws, and one despairing, martyred eye haunting his every movement; and the cat had nearly driven him crazy with the incessant goatlike bleating and yowling of a suffering Siamese; the young dog had moped by the door and refused all food.

Chapter 2

The car turned around the bend at the end of the long tree-lined drive and the animals heard the sound of the engine receding in the distance.  The cat transferred his attention to a hind leg; the old dog stopped panting and lay down; the young dog remained stretched out, only his eyes moving and an occasional twitch of his nose.

Twenty minutes passed by and no move was made; then suddenly the young dog rose, stretched himself, and stood intently down the drive.

Chapter 2

Only one thing was clear and certain – that at all costs he was going home, home to his own beloved master.  Home lay to the west, his instinct told him; but he could not leave the other two – so somehow he must take them with him, all the way. 

Chapter 3

Late in the afternoon the old dog’s pace had slowed down to a stumbling walk, and it seemed as if only sheer determination were keeping him on his feet at all.  He was dizzy and swaying, and his heart was pounding.  The cat must have sensed this general failing, for he now walked steadily beside the dogs, very close to his tottering old friend, and uttered plaintive worried bleats.

Chapter 3

Suddenly, there was a sound of a heavy body pushing through the underbrush, accompanied by a sharp cracking of branches, and the spell was broken.  Chattering shrilly in alarm and excitement, the squirrel ran up the trunk of the tree and the whisky-jacks flew off.  Now onto the trail on all fours scampered a half-grown bear cub, round furry ears pricked and small deep-set eyes alight with curiosity in the sharp little face as he beheld the old dog. 

Chapter 4

The old dog limped out of the shadows and into the ring of firelight, confident, friendly, and sure of his welcome; his tail wagging his whole stern ingratiatingly, ears and lips laid back in his nightmarish grimace.  There was a stunned silence – broken by a wail of terror from the smaller boy, who flung himself at his mother – and then a quick excited chatter from the Indians.

Chapter  4

Only the woman who had first befriended him called out softly, in the tongue of her people, a farewell to the traveler.

The dog halted at the treeline beside the cat and looked back, but the commanding, summoning bark was heard again, and together the two passed out of sight and into the blackness of the night.

 Chapter 5

The trio journeyed on, the pattern of the next few days being very much the same, free of incident or excitement.  Leaving their resting place at daylight they would jog steadily along by day, their pace determined mainly by the endurance of the old dog.  Their favorite sleeping places were hollows under uprooted trees where they were sheltered from the wind, and able to burrow down among the drifted leaves for warmth. 

Chapter 5

The young dog saw the onrushing wave several moments before it reached them, and frantically tried to swim into a position upstream of the cat, instinctively trying to protect him; but he was too late, and the great curling, crested wave surged over, submerging them in a whirling chaos of debris.  The end of a log struck the cat full on the head; he was swept under and over and over until his body was finally caught on a half-submerged piece of the old dam, and was carried along on the impetus of the wave as it tore down the river bed. 

Chapter 6

He laid the cat down in a sunny patch by the wood stove and rubbed it vigorously with sacking, turning the body from side to side until the fur stood out in every direction and it looked like some disheveled old scarf.  Then, as he wrapped the sacking firmly around and her mother pried the clenched teeth open, Helvi poured a little warm milk and precious brandy down the pale cold throat.

Chapter 6

She looked down and saw his head turn for the first time to her voice, his eyes like glowing rubies as they caught the moonlight, then turn away – and with sudden desolate knowledge she knew that he had no further need of her.  Through a blur of tears, she watched him go, stealing like a wraith in the night towards the river that had brought him.  Soon the low swiftly running form was lost among the shadows.  

Chapter 7 

One day they skirted a small farm, where, wary though he was of human beings, the young dog was hungry enough to cross an open field within sight of the farm and snatch one of a flock of chickens feeding there.  They were still crouched over the mess of blood and scattered feathers, when they heard an angry shout, and saw a figure of a man at the far corner of the field, and a black collie running ahead, snarling as it came towards them.

Chapter 7

The porcupine turned at the instant of his spring, aware of the danger, and with incredible swiftness for such a clumsy-looking animal, spun round, whipping its terrible tail in the dog’s face.  The dog yelped and leaped back with the unexpected shock of pain, and the porcupine ambled away, looking almost outraged. 

Chapter 8

The lynx was almost as quick, but it missed by a hair’s breadth, when the cat swerved violently, then doubled on his tracks and shot like a bullet into a rabbit burrow that opened up miraculously in the bank before him.  The terrible claws so close behind slashed harmlessly through the empty air.  The cat forced himself into the burrow as far as he could go, and crouched there, unable to turn and face what might come, for the burrow was very narrow.

Chapter 8

Across the valley, clearly discernible among the bare trees on the opposite slope, he saw two familiar and beloved golden and white figures.  His tail switched in excitement; he opened his mouth and uttered a plaintive, compelling howl.  The two figures on the hill opposite stopped dead in their tracks, listening to the unbelievable sound as it echoed around the quiet valley.

Chapter 9

Ahead of them lay the last fifty miles of the journey.  It was as well that they had been fed and rested.  Most of the way now lay through the Strellon Game Reserve, country that was more desolate and rugged than anything they had yet encountered.  The nights would be frosty, the going perilous and exhausting; there could be no help expected from any human agency.  Worst of all, their leader was already weak and unfit. 

Chapter  10

The door opened and he turned to Mrs. Oakes.  “I know now – I know where they have gone,” he said slowly.  “Luath has taken them home – he has taken them all back to his own home!”

Mrs. Oakes looked at him in incredulous silence for a moment, then “No!” she burst out impulsively.  “No – they couldn’t do that!  It’s not possible – why, it must be nearly three hundred miles!  And someone would have seen them – someone would have told us…”


Chapter 11

Suddenly Elizabeth stood up.

“Listen!” she said.  “Listen, Daddy – I can hear a dog barking!”

Complete and utter silence fell as everyone strained their ears in the direction of the hills behind.  No one heard anything.

“You’re imagining things,” said her mother.  “Or perhaps it was fox.  Come along, we must start back.”

Chapter 11

Then, suddenly – as though the same thought had struck them all simultaneously – there was silence.  No one dared to look at Peter.  He was standing aside, aimlessly cracking a twig over and over again until it became a limp ribbon in his hands.  He had not touched Luath, and turned away now, when the dog at last came over including him in an almost human round of greeting.

“I’m glad he’s back, Dad,” was all he said.  “And your old Taocat too!” he added to Elizabeth, with a difficult smile.

Chapter 11

John Longridge turned away, then, and left them, an indistinguishable tangle of boy and dog, in a world of their own making.  He started down the trail as in a dream, his eyes unseeing.    

Halfway down he became aware of a small animal running at lightning speed towards him.  It swerved past his legs with an agile twist and he caught a brief glimpse of a black-masked face and a long black tail before it disappeared up the trail in the swiftness of a second.

It was Tao, returning for his old friend, that they might end their journey together.
*It Couldn't Just Happen by Lawrence Richards 

Chapter 1

Our universe is a cosmos, not a chaos (a confused mass or mixture).  The word “cosmos” comes from the Greek word kosmos and means “orderly universe.”  It is the order of the universe that lets scientists discover and describe the natural laws that govern it.

Chapter 2

Even from space, Earth looks different from the other planets.  It hangs there, bright and blue, its skies dotted with floating white clouds.  It hangs in the emptiness, circled by its moon, looking warm and friendly.

Chapter 3

What if Earth were not tilted?  The poles would be much colder, and the equator much hotter.  Without the tilt, only half as much land could be lived on, and many kinds of plants and animals would die.

Chapter 4

Dinosaurs are the most fascinating of fossil creatures.  We do not know how long they lived, but we do know that they seem to have died out suddenly.  What happened to the dinosaurs?  No one knows.  But most scientists now believe they died in some great catastrophe.

Chapter 5

The Theory of Evolution says that over millions of years, larger and more complex animals developed from earlier, different kinds of animals.

Chapter 5

Is it foolish to believe in God when we can’t solve all the mysteries that exist in our universe?  Not at all!  In fact, the more we learn about our universe and the more mysteries we uncover, the more we realize that it is foolish not to believe in God.

Chapter 6

Good science constantly searches for information and is open to new information.  When scientists have wrong information or not enough information, the theories they accept are likely to be wrong.  Good science doesn’t jump to conclusions.

Chapter 6

Bad science can mean poorly conducted experiments.  But most often the difference between good science and bad science lies in the conclusion a scientist draws.  A good scientist will be cautious, while a less capable scientist will jump to conclusions.

Chapter 7

People who believe the Theory of Evolution think that life began billions of years ago as certain chemicals happened to mix together under just the right conditions.  Scientists have conducted experiments that imitate those conditions.  No one has come close to making life.

Chapter 8

The word “evolve” simply means to undergo change.  When we write “evolution” with a small “e”, it simply means that something has experienced a slow or gradual change.

Chapter 9

Charles Darwin is the Englishman who, in the 1850s, argued for the Theory of Evolution.  He wrote a famous book titled On the Origin of the Species.  Many of Darwin’s ideas are now questioned by scientists.  But most still accept his notion that all life developed gradually from single cells.

Chapter 10

It’s almost as if you were outside one day and found a tennis ball, a soccer ball and a basketball in a weedy field.  You noticed that each ball is hollow, and each has increasingly thicker skin.  You’re really excited, and figure that each evolved from some common ancestor!

Chapter 11

Perhaps the first kite was flown by young spiders.  many of them, when they come out of their cocoons, climb to the top of a blade of grass and face the wind.  They lift up their backs, and spin a tiny silken thread.  This thread is drawn out by the slightest breeze.  As the thread grows, the wind pulls on it.  The baby spider clings to the grass until the thread is long enough, and then suddenly lets go- to sail off into the air!

Chapter 12

Each form of termite has a special smell.  If many soldier termites should be killed defending the castle, there will be less of the soldier smell (soldier pheromone) in the castle.  The queen will then produce eggs that will develop into soldiers!

Chapter 13

The woodpecker is designed specifically for his way of life and is different from all other birds.  His feet and tail feathers enable him to stand upright on a tree’s trunk; his beak has a shock absorber; his tongue is so long it curls around his skull.  Design like this did not just happen.  Everything bears the clear mark of planning.

Chapter 14

Evolution says that humans are just animals that can think, who developed by chance out of earlier but different animals.  The Bible teaches that human beings were made separately from the animals, by a special act of God.

Chapter 15

When you are too hot, tiny blood vessels in the skin open up and heat radiates away from your body.  When you are cold, these blood vessels shut down and your body keeps heat in.

Chapter 16

You are a special and unique person.  There never was and never will be another person just like you.  Others will have brains and hearts and lungs.  But no one else could have your personality, your memories, your character.

Chapter 16

We are not just animals, but we have been made special by God so that we can know and love him and choose right instead of wrong.

Chapter 17

Fulfilled prophecy is evidence that the Bible really is God’s word.  Only God can foretell the future.  Since the Bible accurately foretells the future, we can trust it as God’s word and know that what the Bible teaches is true.

Chapter 18

When even Jesus’ enemies admit that he does perform miracles, that is very strong evidence indeed.

Chapter 19

The Bible does not answer many of our questions about Earth and history.  But the Bible is clear on one vital point: Creation, not chance, explains the origin of the universe and the existence of life on Earth.

Chapter 20

According to the Theory of Evolution, you have no future.  You are just an intelligent animal, in a race of animals that developed by chance.

Chapter 20

So you have a future beyond the death of your body.  The real you, the person who thinks and feels and loves, will keep on thinking and feeling forever and ever.  For you, death will not be the end.
Johnny Tremain by Esther Forbes 

Chapter 1

It was Isannah who ran in to tell them that Grandpa was in his chair and breakfast was on the table.  The soft brown eyes combined oddly with the flying fair hair.  She did look rather like a little angel, Johnny thought—just as people were always telling Cilla on the street—and so graceful.  She seemed to float about rather than run.

Chapter 2

Johnny’s own work did not satisfy him as well.  He had exactly enlarged the handle in his wax model.  Mrs. Lapham and the girls, even Mr. Lapham, said it was fine, and he could go ahead and cast it in silver.  It was only Johnny himself who was dissatisfied.

Chapter 2

This week wore on, each day as hot as the one before, for it was July.  Every day after dinner Mr. Lapham took a long nap under his basket snoring as gently as he did everything else.  Johnny would let him sleep for an hour, then wake him up, scold him and get him to work.

Chapter 3

Now for Cilla.  He could not buy her a gray pony, a gold necklace, nor a little sailboat.  He went to a stationer’s.  There he found a book with the most wonderful pictures of Calvinistic martyrs, dying horrible but prayerful deaths.  He glanced at the text.  With his help she would soon be able to read it.  Next he bought pastel crayons, but he passionately regretted all those squabs.  He had no money left to get her drawing paper.

Chapter 4

Although Johnny might have been more cordially received by Merchant Lyte, he was satisfied enough with his welcome to build up air castles.  He really knew they were air castles, for at bottom he was hard-headed, not easily taken in even by his own exuberant imagination.  Still as he trudged up Fish Street, turned in at the Lapham’s door, in his mind he was in that ruby coach.  Money, and a watch in his pocket.

Chapter 5

This was Johnny’s new life.  He like it, but was at first a little homesick for the Laphams.  He had never been so glad in his life as that Thursday, a few weeks after he had begun delivering newspapers, when he saw Cilla and Isannah standing by the town pump in North Square.  He had left his last paper for the day with Paul Revere and was starting back to put up his horse at the Afric Queen.  He had felt he could never again go to the Laphams’.  Mrs. Lapham and her Mr. Tweedie had been too ready to let him hang.  He’d just about kill Dove if ever he met him.

Chapter 6

Friends!  Brethren!  Countrymen!  That worst of Plagues, the detested tea shipped for this Port by the East India Company, is now arrived in the Harbour: the hour of destruction, of manly opposition to the machinations of Tyranny, stares you in the Face; Every Friend to his Country, to Himself, and to Posterity, is now called upon to meet at Faneuil Hall, at nine o’clock this day [that, of course, is tomorrow Monday], at which time the bells will ring to make united and successful resistance to this last, worst and most destructive measure of Administration….Boston, Nov. 29, 1773

Chapter 7

As he came back from Milton, riding the long lonely stretch of the Neck, with the gallows and the town gates still before him, Johnny realized how long ago it was that he had burned his hand, and how he had hated Dove when he found out the part he had played in that accident.  How he had sworn to get even with him (the lying hypocrite—telling old Mr. Lapham that all he had meant to do was to teach a pious lesson).  Now, as he saw Dove daily about the Afric Queen, he could hardly remember this feeling of hatred, his oaths of vengeance.  Seemingly hatred and desire for revenge do not last long.

Chapter 8

The Province House was a beautiful building and as Johnny hung about the front of it he had a chance to admire it for over an hour.  It stood well back from the rattle and bustle of Marlborough Street, with its glassy-eyed copper Indian on top of the cupola and its carved and colored lion and unicorn of Britain over the door.  Behind the house he heard orders called and soldiers were hallooing—but worst of all they were laughing.

Chapter 9

Every day Johnny knew what orders were given to the Tenth and he knew other boys and men and women and girls were as carefully watching the actions of the other ten regiments in Boston.  Lydia, the handsome black laundress at the Queen, extended his own eyes and ears into the very bedrooms of the officers, and often, as he helper her hang up sheets, she would tell him this and that, but nothing of any value until one day when she called him out of the stable, where he was grooming Goblin.

Chapter 10

Johnny woke up and realized that only Revere and Warren were still in the room and they were talking about Hancock and Adams.  These two gentlemen had left Boston in March.  They were representatives at the Provincial Congress at Concord.  The British had forbidden the General Court to meet, but the Massachusetts men had merely changed the name of their legislative body and gone on sitting.  But did the British know that both these firebrands were staying at the Clarks’ out in Lexington?

Chapter 11

Although half of Gage’s forces had left town for the battlefield, there were more officers than usual hanging about the streets and taverns.  And their faces were so bland and they reassured the people so glibly that not a shot had been fired, not a person killed and begged all and sundry so smoothly to keep calm and got to their shops or their homes, Johnny was confident that the British as well as the inhabitants had heard now that the war had begun.

Chapter 12

Although no townsmen, except only the doctors, were permitted on the wharf, Johnny knew that hundreds of them stood well back and in darkness, gloating.  They were not saying much, only watching.  Then one man began to whistle and the next took it up and the next and the next.  The whistling was shrill as a fife.  They had not forgotten the prophecy of that morning, ‘They go out by “Yankee Doodle,” but they’ll dance to it before nightfall!’
Justin Morgan had a Horse by Marguerite Henry

Chapter one 

The boy leaned against the fence too, but not from weariness.  His was an urgent desire to get close to the colts.  The boy’s blue linsey-woolsey shirt was faded and torn, and his breeches, held up by a strip of cowhide, were gray with dust.  His stubbly hair was straw-colored, like a cut-over field of wheat.  Everything about him looked dry and parched.  Everything except his eyes.  

Chapter two

He spied the colts at once.  Down at the far end of the meadow they were stretched out in a joyous run, their tails floating on the wind. Gulping a deep breath, Joel went racing in the dew to meet them. He tried to shout to them, to call their names, but the wind rushed at him, smothering his voice. 

Chapter three

The colts pricked their ears to take in the schoolmaster’s voice. It had a soft huskiness that seemed part of the wind and the river.  And the way he looked at them when he talked-it was as if they were all friends making a pilgrimage together.

Chapter four

They walked in the dark of woods and in the sunlight of farm clearings.  They saw pigs wearing wood collars to keep them from rooting under fences and wriggling away.  They saw flying squirrels leaping from tree to tree, black bears eating butternuts, and brown weasels scuttling in the underbrush.  They saw small lakes like polished mirrors, and fishermen in boats, and hawks gliding in for a landing. 

Chapter five  

His mother did not need to be told.  Her eyes were flooded with happiness.  She held the boy close and felt of him to make sure he was all in one piece.   Then, quite satisfied, she shook Master Morgan’s hand and went directly to Little Bub. 

Chapter six

Mister Chase was listening with only half his mind.  Suddenly he wanted this boy.  He had always hoped for a son of his own and there was something about Joel, no just the gangly growing look, but something about the eyes that he liked.  A kind of awareness, like a startled deer. Yet there was trust in them, too. Yes, here was a lad he would be proud to look upon as his own.  

Chapter seven

A stray flutter of smoke went up the chimney with a faint hiss. Joel was afraid he was going to cry.  He wanted to run to Little Bub and hide him away somewhere deep in the woods.  Perhaps this was all a bad dream.  It must be a bad dream!

Chapter eight

The horse’s breath whistled in his lungs.  His nostrils flared red in exertion. Sweat broke out on his body, lathering at the collar and traces.  Joel, too, was drenched in sweat.  He was struggling, straining, panting as if he were yoked alongside Little Bub. 

Chapter nine

Joel worked with a fierceness, scraping harder than the other boys, grubbing out every root with his bare fingers to be sure there were no knobs or snags.  If Little Bub lost a race it would be no disgrace, but if he stumbled over a root and never got up again, then the disgrace and the hurt would be Joel’s. 

Chapter ten

Of a sudden, Master Morgan’s world was all action. He hurried outside, locked the schoolhouse door, and began running down the lane toward the village.  He heard the letter crackle as his coattails floated and flapped in the wind, and it made him run all the faster. Halfway there he overtook Mister Jenks driving his ox team.  

Chapter eleven

At last the crowd began to fan out against a stone fence enclosing a pasture.  And there to Joel’s sudden joy he spied Little Bub calmly scratching his shoulder against a shellbark hickory tree.  How hard and tough and courageous he looked!  And how frisky and dear!  In a flash Joel had leaped the fence.  

Chapter twelve

Stealthily now Joel edged around behind the judges’ stand.  It wouldn’t do to let the schoolmaster see him.  His heart beating light and quick in his throat, he hurried to the oxcart, caught up the satchel, tucked it under one arm, and came running back to the starting line.

Chapter thirteen

He could kick his heels or roll in the grass with all the freedom of a colt.  Sometimes white dandelion blowballs or milkweed fluff got into his nostrils, tickling the hairs until he snorted and sneezed them away.  But when the wind was still, he lay still, too, just dozing in the warm sunshine and listening to the children sing the do-re-mi’s.

Chapter fourteen

Neighbors, admiring these qualities in Justin Morgan, now brought their mares to him to be bred.  The colts he fathered sometimes took on the color of the dam, but there all likeness to her stopped.   The bold eye, the closely-coupled body, the easy gaits, the honest disposition were all Just Morgan’s.  

Chapter fifteen

The reasons for the war were only half clear to him. He had heard that British seamen were scrambling aboard American ships and forcing American sailors to help fight Napoleon.  He had heard, too, that the English were threatening freedom of the seas.  And so on June 18, 1812, when the men in Washington declared war on Great Britain, Joel figured they probably knew that they were dong. 

Chapter sixteen

All the while Joel worked, his mind kept remembering a mother robin who year after year built her nest on his window ledge.  He remembered how she would hop onto the rim of the nest, worm in her beak, and whichever nestling squawked the loudest got the worm,  it was the same on the battlefield, he thought: whichever man moaned the loudest was cared for first. 

Chapter seventeen

The little horse was trembling-not from cold, but from excitement. He tried to nicker, but all he could manage was a low whimper, like child or a very old person.  It seemed that he had spent himself in neighing, and now wanted only to rest his head in the warm, gentle hands.  He nuzzled them feebly. 

Chapter eighteen

How the people roared with delight!  It was like a storybook the way the Morgan seemed to understand the greatness of the occasion.  He stretched so that the President could mount with ease. Then with Joel walking proudly behind, he moved on with lofty, cadenced action. 

*Kidnapped by Robert Louis Stevenson 

Chapter 1

“Be soople, Davie, in things immaterial,” said he.  “Bear ye this in mind, that, though gentle born, ye have had a country rearing.  Dinnae shame us, Davie, dinnae shame us!  In yon great muckle house, with all these domestics, upper and under, show yourself as nice, as circumspect, as quick at the conception, and as slow of speech as any.  As for the laird—remember he’s the laird; I say no more: honor to whom honor.  It’s a pleasure to obey a laird; or should be, to the young.” 

Chapter 2

Was this the palace I had been coming to?  Was it within these walls that I was to seek new friends and begin great fortunes?  Why, in my father’s house on Essen-Waterside the fire and the bright lights would show a mile away, and the door open to a beggar’s knock!

The door, as well as I could see it in the dim light, was a great piece of wood all studded with nails; and I lifted my hand with a faint heart under my jacket, and knocked once.

Chapter 3

As soon as the last chain was up, the man rejoined me.  He was a mean, stooping, narrow-shouldered, clay-faced creature; and his age might have been anything between fifty and seventy.  His nightcap was of flannel, and so was the nightgown that he wore, instead of coat and waistcoat, over his ragged shirt.  He was long unshaved; but what most distressed and even daunted me, he would neither take his eyes away from me nor look me fairly in the face.  What he was, whether by trade or birth, was more than I could fathom; but he seemed most like an old, unprofitable servingman, who should have been left in charge of that big house upon board wages.

Chapter 4

The tower, I should have said, was square; and in every corner the step was made of a great stone of a different shape, to join the flights.  Well, I had come close to one of these turns, when, feeling forward as usual, my hand slipped upon an edge and found nothing but emptiness beyond it.  The stair had been carried no higher: to set a stranger mounting it in darkness was to send him straight to his death; and (although, thanks to the lightning and my own precautions, I was safe enough) the mere thought of the peril in which I might have stood, and the dreadful height I might have fallen from, brought out the sweat upon my body and relaxed my joints.

Chapter 5

Just then we came to the top of the hill, and looked down on the Ferry and the Hope.  The Firth of Forth (as is very well known) narrows at this point to the width of a good-sized river, which makes a convenient ferry going north, and turns the upper reach into a landlocked haven for all manner of ships.  Right in the midst of the narrows lies an islet with some ruins; on the south shore they have built a pier for the service of the Ferry; and at the end of the pier, on the other side of the road and backed against a pretty garden of holly trees and hawthorns, I could see the building which they called the Hawes Inn.

Chapter 6

I felt I was lost.  With all my strength, I plucked myself clear of him, and ran to the bulwarks.  Sure enough, there was the boat pulling for the town, with my uncle sitting in the stern.  I gave a piercing cry—“Help, help!  Murder!”—so that both sides of the anchorage rang with it, and my uncle turned round where he was sitting, and showed me a face full of cruelty and terror.

It was the last I saw.  Already strong hands had been plucking me back from the ship’s side; and now a thunderbolt seemed to strike me; I saw a great flash of fire, and fell senseless.

Chapter 7

Yet I had not been many days shut up with them before I began to be ashamed of my first judgment, when I had drawn away from them at the ferry pier, as though they had been unclean beasts.  No class of man is altogether bad; but each has its own faults and virtues; and these shipmates of mine were no exception to the rule.  Rough they were, sure enough; and bad, I suppose, but hey had many virtues.  They were kind when it occurred to them, simple even beyond the simplicity of a country lad like me, and had some glimmerings of honesty.

Chapter 8

The roundhouse, for which I was bound, and where I was now to sleep and serve, stood some six feet above the decks, and considering the size of the brig, was of good dimensions.  Inside were a fixed table and bench, and two berths, one for the captain and the other for the two mates, turn and turn about.  It was all fitted with lockers from top to bottom, so as to stow away the officer’s belongings and a part of the ship’s stores; there was a second storeroom underneath, which you entered by a hatchway in the middle of the deck.  Indeed, all the best of the meat and drink and the whole of the powder were collected in this place; and all the firearms, except the two pieces of brass ordnance, were set in a rack in the aftermost wall of the roundhouse.  The most of the cutlasses were in another place.

Chapter 9

He was smallish in stature, but well set and as nimble as a goat.  His face was of a good open expression, but sunburnt very dark, and heavily freckled and pitted with the smallpox; his eyes were unusually light and had a kind of dancing madness in them, that was both engaging and alarming.  And when he took off his greatcoat, he laid a pair of fine silver-mounted pistols of the table, and I saw that he was belted with a great sword.  His manners, besides, were elegant, and he pledged the captain handsomely.  Altogether I thought of him, at the first sight, that here was a man I would rather call my friend than my enemy.

Chapter 10

This is the song of the sword of Alan:

The smith made it,

The fire set it;

Now it shines in the hand of Alan Breck.

Their eyes were many and bright,

Swift were they to behold,

Many the hands they guided:

The sword was alone.

The dun deer troop over the hill,

They are many, the hill is one:

The dun deer vanish,

The hill remains.

Come to me from the hills of heather,

Come from the isles of the sea.

O far-beholding eagles,

Hear is your meat.

Chapter 11

“If I had lost less money on this unchancy cruise,” says he, “I would see you in a rope’s end before I risked my brig, sir.  But be it as ye will.  As soon as I get a slant of wind (and there’s some coming, or I’m the more mistaken) I’ll put it in hand.  But there’s one thing more.  We may meet in with a king’s ship and she may lay us aboard, sir, with no blame of mine; they keep the cruisers thick upon this coast, ye ken who for. Now, sir, if that was to befall, ye might leave the money.”

Chapter 12

“Man, Alan,” said I, “ye are neither very wise nor very Christian to blow off so many words of anger.  They will do the man ye call the Fox no harm, and yourself no good.  Tell me your tale plainly out.  What did he next?”

“And that’s a good observe, David,” said Alan.  “Troth and indeed, they will do him no harm; the more’s the pity!  And barring that about Christianity (of which my opinion is quite otherwise, or I would be nae Christian), I am much of your mind.”

Chapter 13

The brightness of the night showed us these perils as clearly as by day, which was, perhaps, the more alarming.  It showed me, too, the face of the captain as he stood by the steersman, now on one foot, now on the other, and sometimes blowing in his hands, but still listening and looking and as steady as steel.  Neither he nor Mr. Riach had shown well in the fighting; but I saw they were brave in their own trade, and admired them all the more because I found Alan very white.

Chapter 14

I thought I should have died, and made my peace with God, forgiving all men, even my uncle and the fishers.  And as soon as I had thus made up my mind to the worst, clearness came upon me: I observed the night was falling dry; my clothes were dried a good deal; truly, I was in a better case than ever before, since I had landed on the isle; and so I got to sleep at last, with a thought of gratitude.

Chapter 15

At last, when my landlord could drink no more, he shoed me to a bed, and I lay down in very good spirits; having traveled the greater part of that big and crooked Island of Mull, from Earraid to Torosay, fifty miles as the crow flies, and (with my wanderings) much nearer a hundred, in four days and with little fatigue.  Indeed, I was by far in better heart and health of body at the end of that long tramp than I had been at the beginning.

Chapter 16

Before we went to bed he offered me sixpence to help me on my way, out of a scanty store he kept in the turf wall of his house; at which excess of goodness I knew not what to do.  But at last he was so earnest with me that I thought it the more mannerly part to let him have his way, and so left him poorer than myself.

Chapter 17

At that word (which I could hear quite plainly, though it was to the soldiers and not me that he was crying it) my heart came in my mouth with quite a new kind of terror.  Indeed, it is one thing to stand the danger of your life and quite another to run the peril of both life and character.  The thing, besides, had come so suddenly, like thunder out of a clear sky, that I was all amazed and helpless.

Chapter 18

When it came to this, I gave Alan up.  But he looked so innocent all the time, and was in such clear good faith in what he said, and so ready to sacrifice himself for what he deemed his duty, that my mouth was closed.  Mr. Henderland’s words came back to me: that we ourselves might take a lesson by these wild Highlanders.  Well, here I had taken mine.  Alan’s morals were all tailfirst; but he was ready to give his life for them, such as they were.

Chapter 19

While this was going on I looked about me at the servants.  Some were on ladders, digging in the thatch of the house or the farm buildings, from which they brought out guns, swords, and different weapons of war; others carried them away; and by the sound of mattock blows from somewhere farther down the brae, I suppose they buried them.  Though they were all so busy, there prevailed no kind of order in their efforts: men struggled together for the same gun and ran into each other with their burning torches; and James was continually turning about from his talk with Alan, to cry out orders which were apparently never understood.  The faces in the torchlight were like those of people overborne with hurry and panic; and though none spoke above his breath, their speech sounded both anxious and angry.

Chapter 20

“Ay,” said he, “now we have a chance”; and then looking at me with some amusement, “ye’re no very gleg at the jumping,” said he.

At this I suppose I colored with mortification, for he added at once, “Hoots, small blame to ye!  To be feared of a thing and yet to do it is what makes the finest kind of a man.  An then there was the water there, and water’s a thing that daunts even me.  No, no, “ said Alan, “it’s no you that’s to blame, it’s me.”

Chapter 21

Early as day comes in the beginning of July, it was still dark when we reached our destination, a cleft in the head of a great mountain, with a water running through the midst, and upon the one hand a shallow cave in a rock.  Birches grew there in a thin, pretty wood, which a little farther on was changed into a wood of pines.  The burn was full of trout; the wood of cushat-doves; on the open side of the mountain beyond, whaups would be always whistling, and cuckoos were plentiful.  From the mouth of the cleft we looked down upon a part of Mamore, and on the sea loch that divides that country from Appin; and this from so great a height as made it my continual wonder and pleasure to sit and behold them.

The name of the cleft was the Heugh of Corrynakeigh; and although, from its height and being so near upon the se, it was often beset with clouds, yet it was on the whole a pleasant place, and the five days we lived in it went happily.

Chapter 22

“Alan,” I said, “it’s not the want of will: it’s the strength that I want.  If I could, I would; but as sure as I’m alive I cannot.”

“Very well, then,” said Alan.  “I’ll carry ye.”

I looked to see if he were jesting; but no, the little man was in dead earnest; and the sight of so much resolution shamed me.

Chapter 22

Alan was in the right trade as a soldier; this is the officer’s part to make men continue to do things, they know not wherefore, and when, if the choice was offered, they would lie down where they were and be killed.  And I dare say I would have made a good enough private; for in these last hours, it never occurred to me that I had any choice but just to obey as long as I was able, and die obeying.

Chapter 23

Quite at the top, and just before the rocky face of the cliff sprang above the foliage, we found that strange house which was known in the country as “Cluny’s Cage.”  The trunks of several trees had been wattled across, the intervals strengthened with stakes, and the ground behind this barricade leveled up with earth to make the floor.  A tree, which grew out fro the hillside, was the living center beam of the roof.  The walls were of wattle and covered with moss.  The whole house had something of an egg shape; and it half hung, half stood in that steep, hillside thicket, like a wasp’s nest in a green hawthorn.

Chapter 23

When we came to the door he was seated by his rock chimney, watching a gillie about some cookery.  He was might plainly habited, with a knitted nightcap drawn over his ears, and smoked a foul cutty pipe.  For all that he had the manners of a king, and it was quite a sight to see him rise out of his place to welcome us.

Chapter 24

At this the last of my anger oozed all out of me; and I found myself only sick, and sorry, and blank, and wondering at myself.  I would have given the world to take back what I had said; but a word once spoken, who can recapture it!  I minded me of all Alan’s kindness and courage in the past, how he had helped and cheered and borne with me in our evil days; and then recalled my own insults, and saw that I had lost forever that doughty friend. 

Chapter 25

So it was, at least.  Other folk keep a secret among two or three near friends, and somehow it leaks out; but among these clansmen, it is told to a whole countryside, and they will keep it for a century.

Chapter 26

“Now, “said Alan, “I kenna if ye care, but ye’re in your own land again.  We passed the Hieland Line in the first hour; and now if we could but pass yon crooked water, we might cast our bonnets in the air.”

In Allan Water, near by where it fall into the Forth, we found a little sandy islet, overgrown with burdock, butterbur, and the like low plants that would just cover us if we lay flat.  Here it was we made our camp, within plain view of Stirling Castle, whence we would hear the drums beat as some part of the garrison paraded.

Chapter 27

“And now,” says he, “if you have any business, pray be brief and come swiftly to the point.  Nec gemino bellum Trojanum orditur ab ovo—do you understand that?” says he, with a keen look.

“I will even do as Horace says, sir,” I answered, smiling, “and carry you in medias res.”  He nodded as if he was well pleased, and indeed his scrap of Latin had been set to test me.  For all that, and though I was somewhat encouraged, the blood came in my face, when I added: “I have reason to believe myself some rights on the estate of Shaws.”

Chapter 28

Night was quite come when we came in view of the house of Shaws.  Ten had been gone some time; it was dark and mild, with a pleasant, rustling wind in the southwest that covered the sound of our approach; and as we drew near we saw no glimmer of light in any portion of the building.  It seemed my uncle was already in bed, which was indeed the best thing for our arrangements.  We made our last whispered consultations some fifty yards away, and then the lawyer and Torrance and I crept quietly up and crouched down beside the corner of the house; and as soon as we were in our places, Alan strode to the door without concealment and began to knock.

Chapter 29

By that time we had the fire lighted, and a bottle of wine uncorked; a good supper came out of the basket, to which Torrance and I and Alan set ourselves down; while the lawyer and my uncle passed into the next chamber to consult.  They stayed there closeted about an hour; at the end of which period they had come to a good understanding, and my uncle and I set our hands to the agreement in a formal manner.  By the terms of this, my uncle bound himself to satisfy Rankeillor as to his intromissions, and to pay me two clear thirds of the yearly income of Shaws.

So the beggar in the ballad had come home; and when I lay down that night on the kitchen chests, I was a man of means and had a name in the country.

Chapter 30

“Well, good-bye,” said Alan, and held out his left hand.

“Good-bye,” said I, and gave the hand a little grasp, and went off down the hill.

Neither one of us looked the other in the face, nor so long as he was in my view did I take one back glance at the friend I was leaving.  But as I went on my way to the city, I felt so lost and lonesome that I could have found it in my heart to sit down by the dike, and cry and weep like any baby.

Lassie Come Home by Eric Knight 

Chapter One

Lassie was a well-loved figure in the daily life of the village.  Almost everyone knew her.  But most of all, the people of Greenall Bridge were proud of Lassie because she stood for something that they could not have explained readily.  It had something to do with their pride.  And their pride had something to do with money.

Chapter Two

Ye see-well, ye know things aren’t going so well for us these days.  Ye know how it is.  And we’ve got to have food on the table and we’ve got to pay our rent- and Lassie was worth a lot of money and – well, we couldn’t afford to keep her, that’s all.  Now these are poor times and ye mustn’t-ye mustn’t upset thy father.

Chapter Three

She was a dog, and she could not think in terms of thoughts such as we may put in words.  There was only in her mind and in her body a growing desire that was at first vague.  But then the desire became plainer and plainer.  The time sense in her drove her brain and muscles.

Chapter Four

The dog slowly coiled herself and sank to the rug, so that her body touched the man’s foot.  He drew it away.  The dog lay her head across her paw and then, like the man, stared into the depths of the fire, as if in that golden fancy-land there would be an answer to all their troubles.

Chapter Five

Miserably Joe got his cap, and the man made a soft whistling sound.  Lassie rose obediently.  Then the man, the boy, and the dog left the cottage.  Behind him, Joe could hear his mother’s voice still going on, full of weariness, as if she would soon cry from her tiredness.

Chapter Six

Obediently the boy rose and in miserable silence he followed his father.  Together with the dog they went along the paths over the tangled heath grass, the paths they both knew so well.  When they were near the village again, his father spoke once more.

Chapter Seven

“That’s what I wanted to say.  Ye mustn’t think we’re over hard on thee.  We don’t want to be.  It’s just- well - back of it all, a chap’s got to be honest, Joe.  And never thee forget that, all thy life, no matter what comes.  Ye’ve got to be honest.”

Chapter Eight

In the morning your train would still be racing, only now the country would have changed.  There would be no more cities belching smoke.  Instead you would see the beautiful Scottish land that the poets have sung about for centuries, the blue mountains and green-bordered lakes, and the rolling land where shepherds watch their flocks.

On and on the train would go, and the land would become wilder and wilder, the hills more rugged, the lochs more closely enclosed by woodlands.

Chapter Nine

She wheeled and began trotting away - trotting as if she had to go but a few hundred yards.  There was nothing to tell her that the rendezvous she would keep was hundreds of miles and scores of days away.  There was only the plain, unadorned knowledge of a duty to be done.  And she was going to do it as best she could.

Chapter Ten

A man could buy food on the way, but what coin has a dog to pay for food?  No coin except the love of his master.  A man can read signs on the road- but a dog must go blindly, on instinct.  A man would know how to cross the great lochs which stretch from east to west almost across the entire country, barring the way of any animal going south.

Chapter Eleven

Lassie found the way.  She did not reason it out as a human being would.  Human beings have imagination- they can picture events and circumstances before they meet them.  Dogs cannot do this, they must wait blindly until the circumstance faces them and then do their best to meet it.

Chapter Twelve

Yet, at the shore of the great loch, Lassie did not surrender her purpose.  Her instinct told her to go south.  But if the way was barred, she would seek some other way.  So she started on her long trip to circle the lake.  Day after day she worked west, fighting her way along, circling hamlets and villages, but always returning afterwards to the lake’s edge, and working west.

Chapter Thirteen

Slowly, weakly, she began to lick her forepaw.  Nature had done its work.  From the festering sore the thorn had worked its way.  Little by little, Lassie licked it clear and then cleaned the wound.

Chapter Fourteen

The theory of blood lines in animals is not an empty one, as any animal lover knows.  Where the cold-blooded horse will quit and give no more, the thoroughbred will answer and give another burst of speed gallantly, even if he is spending the last ounce of life strength: where the mongrel dog will whine and slink away, the pure-bred will stand with uncomplaining fearlessness.

Chapter Fifteen

Lassie did what her years of training had taught her.  She obeyed.  She followed the gentle touch of the lead.  She walked to the van.  As the man opened the door, the girl lifted the thin collie in, and the grilled door clanged.

Chapter Sixteen

On the ledge Lassie trembled.  Off to the left was the roof of the van.  It was only ten feet below, but it was too far away.  She crouches, her paws dancing as if to get better footing.  Her muscles trembled.

Chapter Seventeen

Lassie lay there, unmoving.  In her half-consciousness and terrible weariness, a feeling of dim peace stole over her.  So many things came from the past and comforted her.  The place smelled “right.”  There was the mixed aroma of coal-smoke and baking bread.

Chapter Eighteen

“She was on her way, Dan, and she got tired on the way and she’s just stopped here like it was a hospital-or a wayside inn in a story.  And now she’s better, she wants to be on her way.  But she is so polite and understanding, she doesn’t want to hurt us.  But in her heart she’s for being away.  She’s not happy here.”

Chapter Nineteen

Quickly he set up a small brazier and built a fire.  He boiled water and made tea.  He warmed over a pot of stew.  He cut up liver and put it down in a bowl for Toots.  He ate.  All the time he watched the collie, drawing nearer and nearer.

Chapter Twenty

This time he gave the signal with his hand-for the words had no bearing on the trick-and Lassie rose proudly.  She pushed the wooden ball with her slim muzzle to the van.  She picked up the hoops one by one and set them in a pile by the door.  Rowlie bowed to her.

Chapter Twenty-one

There were two opposing forces struggling in Lassie-one to keep away from men: the other to defend her home.  For the van and the campfire were her home in a sense.  And this latter force was the older one in her-one that went back to her ancestors.  Her shyness of men was a later thing, acquired only in the last few months of her life.

Chapter Twenty-two

But if hope can die in a human, it does not in an animal.  As long as it lives, the hope is there and the faith is there.  And so, coming across the schoolyard that day, Joe Carraclough would not believe his eyes.  He shook his head and blinked, and rubbed his fists in his eyes, for he thought what he was seeing was a dream.  There, walking the last few yards to the school gate was-his dog!

Chapter Twenty-two

To Joe Carraclough’s father, life was laid out in straight rules.  When a man could get work, he worked his best and got the best wage he could.  If he raised a dog, he raised the best one he could.  If he had a wife and children, he took care of them the best he could.

Chapter Twenty-three

It was Lassie!  Of course-that was it!  When she had been home, things had been right.  When she was sold and gone, nothing had gone right any more.  And now that she was back, everything was fine again, and they were all very happy.
Last Battle by C.S. Lewis 

Chapter 1

“You look wonderful, wonderful,” said the Ape.  “If anyone saw you now, they’d think you were Aslan, the Great Lion, himself.”

“That would be dreadful,” said Puzzle.

“No it wouldn’t,” said Shift.  “Everyone would do whatever you told them.”

Chapter 2

She was like a woman, but so tall that her head was on a level with the Centaur’s:  yet she was like a tree too.  It is hard to explain if you have never seen a Dryad but quite unmistakable once you have – something different in the color, the voice, and the hair.

Chapter 3

“Tash is only another name for Aslan.  All that old idea of us being right and the Calormenes wrong is silly.  We know better now.   Tash and Aslan are only two different names for you know Who.  That’s why there can never be any quarrel between them.  Get that into your heads, you stupid brutes.  Tash is Aslan:  Aslan is Tash”

Chapter 4

Two of the people were very old, an old man with a white beard and an old woman with wise, merry, twinkling eyes.  He who sat tat the right hand of the old man was hardly full grown, certain younger than Tirian himself, but his face had already the look of a king and a warrior.  

Chapter 5

Tirian kept on stealing glances at his companions.  The wonder of walking beside the creatures from another world made him feel a little dizzy:  but it also made all the old stories seem far more real than they had ever seemed before . . . anything might happen now.

Chapter 6

All around them the wood was very quiet.  Indeed it was far too quiet.  On an ordinary Narnian night there ought to have been noises – an occasional cheery “Good night” from a hedgehog, the cry of an owl overhead, perhaps a flute in the distance to tell of Fauns dancing, or some throbbing, hammering noises from Dwarfs underground.

 Chapter 7

 “We’re on our own now. No more Aslan, no more kings, no more silly stories about other worlds.  The Dwarfs are for the Dwarfs.” 

Tirian had never dreamed that one of the results of an Ape’s setting up a false Aslan would be to stop people from believing in the real one.  How many other Narnians might turn the same way as the Dwarfs?

Chapter 8

At first glance you might have mistaken it for smoke, for it was grey and you could see things through it.  But the deathly smell was not the smell of smoke.  Also, this thing kept its shape instead of billowing and curling as smoke would have done.

Chapter 9

And then she understood the devilish cunning of the enemies’ plan.  By mixing a little truth with it they had made their lie far stronger.  What was the good, now, of telling the Beasts that an ass had been dressed up as a lion to deceive them?

Chapter 10

His eyes were shining, his face very solemn, his hand was on his sword-hilt, and he carried his head high.  Jill felt like crying when she looked at his face.  And Jewel whispered in the King’s ear, “By the Lion’s man, I almost love this young warrior. Calormene though he be.”

Chapter 11

“Listen!” said Jewel: and then “Look” said Farsight.  A moment later there was no doubt what it was. With a thunder of hoofs, with tossing heads, widened nostrils, and waving manes, over a score of Talking Horses of Narnia came charging up the hill.

Chapter 12a

“It is indeed a grim door,” said Tirian.  “It is more like a mouth.”

“Oh, can’t we do anything to stop it?” said Jill in a shaken voice.

“Nay, fair friend,” said Jewel, nosing he gently.  “It may be for us the door to Aslan’s country and we shall sup at his table tonight.”

Chapter 12b

In a way it wasn’t quite so bad as you might think.  When you are using every muscle to the full – ducking under a spear-point here, leaping over it there, lunging forward, drawing back, wheeling round – you haven’t much time to feel either frightened or sad.

Chapter 13

Tirian looked and saw the queerest and most ridiculous thing you can imagine.  Only a few yards away, clear to be seen in the sunlight, there stood up a rough wooden door and, round it, the framework of the doorway:  nothing else, no walls, no roof.

Chapter 14

And at the sight of her the sun began shooting out great flames, like whiskers or snakes of crimson fire, towards her.  It is as if he were an octopus trying to draw her to himself in his tentacles.  And perhaps he did draw her.  At any rate she came to him, slowly at first, but then more and more quickly, till at last his long flames licked round her and the two ran together and became one huge ball like a burning coal.  

Chapter 15

It was the Unicorn who summed up what everyone was feeling.  He stamped his right fore-hoof on the ground and neighed and then cried:

“I have come home at last!  This is my real country!  I belong here.  This is the land I have been looking for all my life, though I never knew it till now.”

Chapter 16

Lucy saw that a great series of many-colored cliffs led up in front of them like a giant’s staircase.  And then she forgot everything else, because Aslan himself was coming, leaping down from cliff to cliff like a living cataract of power and beauty.

*Legend of Sleepy Hollow by Washington Irving

It is remarkable that the visionary propensity I have mentioned is not confined to the native inhabitants of the valley, but is unconsciously imbibed by everyone who resides there for a time. However wide awake they may have been before they entered that sleepy region, they are sure, in a little time, to inhale the witching influence of the air, and begin to grow imaginative – to dream dreams, and see apparitions.

Another of his sources of fearful pleasure was, to pass long winter evenings with the old Dutch wives, as they sat spinning by the fire, with a row of apples roasting and spluttering along the hearth, and listen to their marvellous tales of ghosts and goblins, and haunted fields, and haunted brooks, and haunted bridges, and haunted houses, and particularly of the headless horseman, or galloping Hessian of the Hollow, as they sometimes called him.

Ichabod, on the contrary, had to win his way tot he heart of a country coquette, beset with a labyrinth of whims and caprices, which were forever presenting new difficulties and impediments; and he had to encounter a host of fearful adversaries of real flesh and blood, the numerous rustic admirers, who beset every portal to her heart, keeping a watchful and angry eye upon each other, but ready to fly out in the common cause against any new competitor.

A slanting ray lingered on the woody crests of the precipices that overhung some part of the river, giving greater depth tot he dark-gray and purple of their rocky sides. A sloop was loitering in the distance, dropping slowly down with the tide, her sail hanging uselessly against the mast; and as the reflection of the sky gleamed along the still water, it seemed as if the vessel was suspended in the air.

This neighborhood, at the time of which I am speaking, was one of those highly-favored places which abound with chronicle and great men. The British and American line had run near it during the war; it had, therefore, been the scene of marauding, and infested with refugees, cow-boys, and all kinds of border chivalry. Just sufficient time had elapsed to enable each story-teller to dress up his tale with a little becoming fiction, and, in the indistinctness of his recollection, to make himself the hero of every exploit.

The hair of the affrighted pedagogue rose upon his head with terror. What was to be done? To turn and fly was now too late; and besides, what chance was there of escaping ghost or goblin, if such it was, which could ride upon the wings of the wind? Summoning up, therefore, a show of courage, he demanded in stammering accents – “Who are you?” He received no reply.

Lion, the Witch and the Wardrobe by C.S. Lewis

Chapter 1

Next moment she found that what was rubbing against her face and hands was no longer soft fur but something hard and rough and even prickly. “Why, it is just like branches of trees!” exclaimed Lucy. And then she saw that there was a  light ahead of her; not a few inches away where the back of the wardrobe ought to have been, but a long way off.

Chapter 2

“The White Witch? Who is she?” 

“Why, it is she that has got all Narnia under her thumb. It’s she that makes it always winter. Always winter and never Christmas; think of that!”

 “How awful!” said Lucy.

Chapter 3

“Thank goodness,” said Edmund, “the door must have swung open of its own accord.” He forgot all about Lucy and went towards the light which he thought was the open door of the wardrobe. But instead of finding himself stepping out into the spare room he found himself stepping out from the shadow of some thick dark fir trees into an open place in the middle of a wood.

Chapter 4

“Let’s go home.” “Yes, let’s,” said Lucy. “Oh Edmund, I am glad you’ve got in too. The others will have to believe in Narnia now that both of us have been there. What fun it will be.” But Edmund secretly thought that it would not be as good fun for him as for her.

Chapter 5

“My dear young lady,” said the Professor, suddenly looking up with a very sharp expression at both of them, “there is one plan which no one has yet suggested and which is well worth trying.” “What’s that?” said Susan. “We might all try minding our own business,” said he. And that was the end of that conversation.

Chapter 6

“The former occupant of these premises, the Faun Tumnus, is under arrest and awaiting his trial on a charge of High Treason against her Imperial Majesty Jadis, Queen of Narnia, Chatelaine of Cair Paravel, Empress of the Lone Islands, etc., also of comforting her said Majesty’s enemies, harboring spies and fraternizing with Humans. Signed Fenris Ulf, Captain of the Secret Police.”

Chapter 7

“They say Aslan is on the move--perhaps has already landed.” And now a very curious thing happened. None of the children knew who Aslan was any more than you do; but the moment the Beaver had spoken these words everyone felt quite different.

Chapter 8

“He’ll put all to rights as it says in an old rhyme in these parts.

Wrong will be right, when Aslan comes in sight,

At the sound of his roar, sorrows will be no more,

When he bares his teeth, winter meets its death

And when he shakes his mane, we shall have spring again

Chapter 9

Across the threshold lay a great wolf: “It’s all right, it’s all right,” he kept saying to himself, “it’s only a stone wolf. It can’t hurt me,” and he raised his leg to step over it. Instantly the huge creature rose, with all the hair bristling along its back...

Chapter 10

“Wherever is this?” said Peter’s voice, sounding tired and pale in the darkness. (I hope you know what I mean by a voice sounding pale.) “It’s an old hiding place for beavers in bad times,” said Mr. Beaver, “and a great secret. It’s not much of a place but we must get a few hours’ sleep.”

Chapter 11

And Edmund for the first time in this story felt sorry for someone besides himself. It seemed so pitiful to think of those little stone figures sitting there all the silent days and all the dark nights, year after year, till the moss grew on them and at last even their faces crumbled away.

Chapter 12

Peter wondered why she did not get higher or at least take a  better grip; then he realized that she was just going to faint and that if she fainted she would fall off. Peter did not feel very brave; indeed, he felt he was going to be sick. But that made no difference to what he had to do.

Chapter 12

“Hand it to me and kneel, Son of Adam,” said Aslan. And when Peter had done so he struck him with the flat of the blade and said, “Rise up, Sir Peter Fenris-Bane. And whatever happens, never forget to wipe your sword.

Chapter 13

Edmund shook hands with each of the others and said to each of them in turn, “I’m sorry,” and everyone said “That’s all right.” And then everyone wanted very hard to say something which would make it quite clear that they were all friends with him again--something ordinary and natural-- and of course no one could think of anything in the world to say.

Chapter 14

“Wow!” roared Aslan half rising from his throne; and his great mouth opened wider and wider and the roar grew louder and louder, and the Witch, after staring for a moment with her lips wide apart, picked up her skirts and fairly ran for her life.

Chapter 14

It was no good trying to run away so they came towards him. When they were closer he said, “Oh children, children, why are you following me?” “We couldn’t sleep,” said Lucy--and then felt sure that she need say no more and that Aslan knew all they had been thinking.

Chapter 15

Both girls bent down and stared. “I do believe!” said Susan. “But how queer. They’re nibbling away at the cords!” “That’s what I thought,” said Lucy. “I think they’re friendly mice. Poor little things--they don’t realize he’s dead. They think it’ll do some good untying him.

Chapter 15

“Who’s done it?” cried Susan. “What does it mean? Is it more magic?” “Yes!” said a great voice behind their backs. “It is mroe magic.” They looked round. There, shining in the sunrise, larger than they had seen him before, shaking his mane (for it had apparently grown again) stood Aslan himself.

Chapter 15

“And now,” said Aslan presently, “to business. I feel I am going to roar. You had better put your fingers in your ears.” And they did. And Aslan stood up and when he opened his mouth to roar his face became so terrible that they did not not dare to look at it.

Chapter 16

“Ooh!” said Susan in a different tone. “Look! I wonder--I mean, is it safe?” Lucy looked and saw that Aslan had just breathed on the feet of the stone giant. “It’s all right!” shouted Aslan joyously. “Once the feet are put right, all the rest of him will follow.” “That wasn’t exactly what I meant, “ whispered Susan to Lucy.

Chapter 17

“Once a king or queen in Narnia, always a king or queen. Bear it well, Sons of Adam! Bear it well, Daughters of Eve!” said Aslan. And through the Eastern door, which was wide open came the voices of the mermen and the mermaids swimming close to the castle steps and singing in honour of their new Kings and Queens.

Little Britches (Little Britches series) by Ralph Moody

Chapter 1

As soon as Father saw that the horses were on their feet, we went over to the trestle.  He picked me up and, after looking up and down the track, walked out on the bridge.  Then he scrootched down and showed me all the marks on the crossties.  "Almost everything that happens leaves its telltale marks," he said.  "If you teach yourself to see all the marks, you can always read the story." 

Chapter 2

After Father shook hands and told him he was Charles Moody, Mr. Autland held his hand out to me.  I tried to take hold of it as Father did, but it was too big, and I only got hold of three fingers.  "And mine's Ralph Moody," I said; "I like you." I did like Mr. Autland right from the start.

"And I like a man that speaks his mind," he told me.

Chapter 3

I found that if I stayed outside long enough to get good and cold, then held my breath for half a minute just before I staggered through the kitchen door, it would get me a spoonful of brandy.  Mother never guessed, but after I had worked it half a dozen times, Father caught on and I became what our old minister used to call a teetotaler.


Chapter 4

"Son, there is no question but what the thing you have done today deserves severe punishment.  You might have killed yourself on the horse, but much worse than that, you have injured your own character.  A man's character is like his house.  If he tears boards off his house and burns them to keep himself warm and comfortable, his house soon becomes a ruin.  If he tells lies to be able to do the things he shouldn't do but wants to, his character will soon become a ruin.  A man with a ruined character is a shame on the face of the earth."

Chapter 5

Sometimes Mother cried over little things, but she didn't cry then - she hadn't all day.  She bustled right through the kitchen and into the bedroom, with her underlip bitten in between her teeth.  In a few seconds I heard her shaking bedclothes so hard they snapped.  While she was doing it, Father looked over the chimney to see if it was cracked, then started a fire in the stove.  Next, he took boards from the bunkhouse and nailed them over the broken window.

Chapter 6

Father had told Mother that he would plow her a garden out behind the barn before he did anything else. He started it early Monday morning, but he hadn't got around the plot once before we had to go to school. . .  

. . . Father had most of the garden plowed when we got there.  The big horses were walking slowly, just one step after another.  Fanny was soaking wet and tossing her head up and down, but she was plowing, so I told Fred he'd have to take his hat off to Father.

Chapter 7

After we had our picnic, Mother read to us.  She didn't read like other people; she talked a book.  I mean, if you were where you could hear her but couldn't see her, you'd be sure she was telling the story from memory instead of reading.  And another thing different about Mother's reading was that she didn't care if you watched the book over her shoulder.  I used to watch her eyes by the hour as she read.  They would swoop across the page like a barn swallow across a hayfield, then she would look up and recite for a full minute before she looked back at the book again.  When Mother read, we children had to be quiet and pay attention.  We could do most anything we pleased with our hands, like making whistles, stringing dried berries for beads, or playing with dolls, but if one of us whispered, Father would snap his fingers.  If he ever got to the third snap, Mother would close the book. . .

Chapter 8

That quarter was the first money any of us had ever earned, and it looked as big to them as it did to me.  After the supper dishes were done - I didn't have to help with them now I was a working man - Grace got a pad of paper and a pencil.  First she asked Father how much a cow would cost, and then she wanted to know how much it would take for a pony and a cart.  She put them all down and added them up, then she divided the total by twenty-five cents.

Chapter 9

"Do you want to be a good cowboy like Hi," he asked, "or do you want to play at being a cowboy?"

"Like Hi," I said.

"Then spare your horse.  A cowboy with a spent horse is in as bad a spot as if he didn't have any horse at all Hi wouldn't waste his horse's strength any more than your mother would waste our money. . . Always remember, Son, the best boss is the one who bosses the least.  Whether it's cattle, or horses, or men; the least government is the best government."

Chapter 10

Father said that, of course, you never could tell by the looks of a frog how far he'd jump, but he'd bet that neither Mr. Thompson nor Two Dog would ever steal anything from us, and that he thought Mr. Thompson was telling the truth in his story.   Then he said Mother could get books in the Denver Library that would show whether or not Kit Carson did the things Mr. Thompson said he did and, if he did, then we would know the stories were true; 

Chapter 11

Father was as anxious to get home and show Mother the check as I was.  He walked so fast I had to trot, and scrooched down so I could get on and ride pickaback.  I had always liked to have Father lug me pickaback before - and we were far enough from Autland's house so that I wasn't afraid anyone would see us - but for some reason I didn't want to be carried that night.  It just didn't seem right to be carried home when we were taking the check I had helped earn.  Father understood how I felt, and he walked slow enough so I didn't have to trot any more, and let me carry the check home to Mother in my overall pocket.

Chapter 12

From there I could get the best look at the mountains when the sun first struck them, and before it got high enough to light the land between them and me.  Mother had a stereoscope that you could put pictures into and move them to make far-off places come right up close. The early sun did the same thing to the mountains.  I could shut my eyes and see just how Two Dog's fingers had shown me the way to his camp, then open them and trace the trail. . . 

Chapter 13

Mrs. Corcoran stepped right forward a foot when the man led the Holstein in, and she bid twenty dollars for her the first crack out of the box.  Father said, "Twenty-one," somebody else said, "Twenty-one fifty," and then Mrs. Corcoran yelled out, "Twenty-five dollars." I knew she was going to bid more than we could pay, and hung my head down.  I think I was saying a little prayer that she'd stop at thirty, when I saw Fred Autland step right on her foot.  She jumped and glared around at him, but she didn't bid on the Holstein cow any more. Father said "Twenty-five fifty," and somebody said, "Twenty-six," but we got her for twenty-six fifty.

Chapter 14

". . . Courts are usually the best places to settle disputes if men can't get together peaceably, but in this instance both sides are afraid of what the court's ruling might be.  We've been able to fight enough water down through the ditch at night to save our crops for the moment, but that won't do in the long run, because, sooner or later, somebody's going to be killed. When that happens, the matter will be settled in court whether we like it or not.  It would be my idea we ought to sit down and try to work out our differences with the men we've been fighting."


Chapter 15

While she was court-plastering a patch on my behind and helping me get my overalls back on, she explained to me that Mother Nature was the best surgeon of them all, and that everything would work out nicely in a couple of days.  All the time she was telling me, I was wishing she had thought of it sooner, and not tried to give old Mother Nature quite so much help when she didn't need it.

That splinter bothered my riding for a week or two while I waited for the fester to come and the splinter to go, but nothing happened, except that a hard little lump formed around the splinter.  Once in a while, if I slide around quick, I remember that it's still right there.

Chapter 16

Then he put his arm around my shoulders, and said, "There isn't a thing to be afraid of, or to feel bad about, Son.  The only time to feel sorry for anything - or anybody- that dies is when they haven't completed their mission here on earth.  These pigs' mission was to get big and fat so as to make food for us.  They have done a good job of it and their mission is completed.  And I do want you to know this: they didn't know what was happening, and they didn't hurt a bit - they didn't even squeal."  Father could always explain things like that so I'd understand.

Chapter 17

Father didn't say a word for a minute or two.  Then he said, "It isn't a case of 'if the sheriff finds out about it.' It's a case of your breaking the law without intending to.  If you tried to cover it up, you'd be running away from the law.  Our prisons are full of men whose first real crime was running away because they didn't have courage enough to face punishment for a small offense.  Tomorrow you must go to see the sheriff.


Chapter 18

Father. . . coughed and it seemed as if he choked a little before he answered me.  He said he didn't want a sneaky partner, but if I could be open and aboveboard he didn't know a man he'd rather be in business with.

I couldn't help crying some more when he told me that; not because my bottom was still burning, but just because I loved him.  I told him I'd never be sneaky again, and I'd always ask him before I did things.  We walked to the house together. At the bunkhouse door he shook hands with me, and said, "Good night, partner."  When I went to sleep, my hand was still hurting -good- from where he squeezed it when we shook hands.

Chapter 19

That night I set my steel trap right in the middle of the open place on top of the pea stack.  The next morning there was a nice fat cock pheasant in it.  At breakfast Father and Mother talked about whether or not it was all right for me to have done it.  At first they said it was against the spirit of the law for me to catch them, but I told them again what the sheriff said about there being nothing he knew of in the law against catching pheasants in a steel trap.

Father said, " You know, son, a man sometimes has to consider the spirit of the law, as well as the actual words."

Chapter 20

I was nearly starved before Mother came to the door and called, "Dinnnn . . . nnerrr!"  And you never saw such a dinner in your whole life.  There were sweet potatoes and white potatoes and boiled onions, and squash and turnips and cranberry jelly, beside the turkey.  When that was gone, there was mince pie and pumpkin pie; and afterwards a pound of cracked nuts . . . and a plate of fudge.  We all ate so much we could hardly get up from the table. Then Father and all of us lay on the floor by the stove while Mother read us "Snowbound."  I think it was about the best day any of us ever had.

Chapter 21

There are only two kinds of men in this world; Honest men and dishonest men. There are black men and white men and yellow men and red men, but nothing counts except whether they're honest men or dishonest men.

"Some men work almost entirely with their brains; some almost entirely with their hands; though most of us have to do both.  But we all fall into one of the two classes - honest and dishonest.

"Any man who says the world owes him a living is dishonest.  The same God that made you and me made this earth.  And He planned it so that it would yield every single thing that the people on it need.  But He was careful to plan it so that it would only yield up its wealth in exchange for the labor of man.  Any man who tries to share in that wealth without contributing the work of his brain or his hands is dishonest.

Chapter 22

That was the best winter we ever had.  New Year's Eve, Mother got out her little red book and figured up all the money we had taken in during 1908. It was only fifty-four dollars and eighty-five cents, but there was never a time when we were hungry, or when we didn't have railroad ties enough to keep our fire going. 

 Chapter 23

At first I thought about going back to Larson's storm cellar, but I was afraid nobody at home had seen the storm coming, and that it might strike them before they could turn the stock loose and get to the cellar.  I flung myself flat on Fanny's neck, slapped her with the line ends, and raced straight for the hillside going down to the creek.  There was no time for going around by the ford, and I knew right where to hit the old cattle bridge in Cody Lundy's pasture below our house.

Chapter 24

Sweat dripped off the roan like rain from the eaves of a house, and his sides pumped in and out like a bellows.  I could see the whites showing around his eyes, and it was a look of fright, not of meanness.  None of the men on the fence made a sound as the horse seemed to be making up his mind whether to start all over again or to relax.  I watched the quiver in his withers grow less and less, and then he moved a foot forward.  The saddle squeaked, and he spooked, but he didn't buck.  Then he took another step, and another.  Neither Hi nor any man on the fence moved as the colt made a nervous circle of the corral.

Chapter 25

. . . Father said, "You know, a man's life is a lot like a boat.  If he keeps his sail set right it doesn't make too much difference which way the wind blows or which way the current flows.  If he knows where he wants to go and keeps his sail trimmed carefully he'll come into the right port.  But if he forgets to watch his sail till the current catches him broadside he's pretty apt to smash up on the rocks.”

Chapter 26

I guess I never noticed how good a cook Mother was, or what good times we had at home, until after I went to work at Cooper's.  It wasn't that I didn't like the things we had to eat at the mountain ranch, or that I didn't have a good time when I was up there.  I did.  It was only sometimes at night, after I was in my bedroll, that I'd even think about home.  But always when I got to where I could see our house on Saturday nights, I'd be so homesick that I'd make Topsy run as fast as she could go.

Chapter 27

"Nice handling, Son," he called.  And then he said to Hi, "I see you're as good at training boys as you are at schooling horses.  I'm proud to have him with you, Hi."

I do think Father was proud, but I know I was a lot prouder.  And I could tell by the looks of the other youngster's faces that they were glad I was their brother.  Mother always worried for fear I would fall off a horse and get hurt, but that night she was beaming like a sunrise in the spring. 





 Chapter 28

At first I didn't want to tell Father anything about our new tricks, or that Hi and I were planning to ride in the Labor Day roundup.  I was afraid he might say it was taking unnecessary chances.  Every time I thought about it, I'd feel sneaky and remember about the day I stole the chocolate bar. . . So I told him that first Saturday Night after the Fourth of July, before I even got the saddle off Sky High.  I didn't tell him just what the tricks were, but I did say that Hi would look out that I didn't get hurt.

Chapter 29

It seemed as though our best Christmases were the ones when we were the poorest.  Mother had saved a turkey, and we had all the things to go with it.  Packages came from our folks back in New England, and Father must have brought the tree with him when he came home on Christmas eve.  Mother had it trimmed with cranberries and popcorn strung together on long strings, and there were half a dozen oranges hanging from the limbs, like colored lanterns. The presents were wrapped in white tissue paper and tucked in under the tree the way they always were.

 Chapter 30

He must have been thinking about the licking I got from the principal, because he had only been working a little while when he said, "You're getting to be quite a man now, Son.  You're well past eleven years old, and you can do quite a few things better than a good many men.  I'm going to treat you like a man from now on.  I'm never going to spank you again, or scold you for little things, and some day it's going to be 'Moody and Sons, Building Contractors.'"

 Chapter 31

Father had always said grace before meals; always the same twenty-five words, and the ritual was always the same.  Mother would look around the table to see that everything was in readiness; then she would nod to Father. That night she nodded to me, and I became a man.

*Madam How and Lady Why by Charles Kingsley 

Preface

So use your eyes and your intellect, your senses and your brains, and learn what God is trying to teach you continually by them.

Preface

… and so as Our Lord told the Jews of old it is by watching the common natural things around you, and considering the lilies of the field, how they grow, that you will begin at least to learn that far Diviner mystery, that you have a Father in Heaven.

Chapter 1 – The Glen

We must talk first with Madam How, and perhaps she may help us hereafter to see Lady Why. For she is the servant, and Lady Why is the mistress; though she has a Master over her again--whose name I leave for you to guess.

Chapter 1 – The Glen

My dear child, the most wonderful part of Madam How's work is, that she does such great things and so many different things, with one and the same tool, which looks to you so simple, though it really is not so.

Chapter 2 - Earthquakes

Now suppose that there was steam under the earth trying to escape, and the earth in one place was loose and yet hard, as the lid of the kettle is loose and yet hard, with cracks in it, it may be, like the crack between the edge of the lid and the edge of the kettle itself: might not the steam try to escape through the cracks, and rattle the surface of the earth, and so cause an EARTHQUAKE?

Chapter 3 – Volcanoes

So it seems as if these lines of volcanos stood along cracks in the rind of the earth, through which the melted stuff inside was for ever trying to force its way; and that, as the crack got stopped up in one place by the melted stuff cooling and hardening again into stone, it was burst in another place, and a fresh volcano made, or an old one re-opened.

Chapter 3 – Volcanoes

Cone, crater, lava: those words make up the alphabet of volcano learning.

Chapter 4 -- The Transformations of a Grain of Soil

Sometimes she pours them out at the bottom of the sea, as she did in the north of Ireland and the south-west of Scotland, when she made the Giant's Causeway, and Fingal's Cave in Staffa too, at the bottom of the old chalk ocean, ages and ages since.

Chapter 4 – The Transformations of a Grain of Soil

… the links of this endless chain of change: Fire turned into Stone--Stone into Soil--Soil into Plant--Plant into Animal--Animal into Soil--Soil into Stone-- Stone into Fire again--and then Fire into Stone again, and the old thing run round once more.

Chapter 5 – The Ice-Plough

Those marks were made by a hand which is strong and yet gentle, tough and yet yielding, like the hand of a man; a hand which handles and uses in a grip stronger than a giant's its own carving tools, from the great boulder stone as large as this whole room to the finest grain of sand. And that is ICE.

Chapter 5 – The Ice-Plough

And so there are certain footprints in geology which there is no mistaking; and the prints of the ice-plough are among them.

Chapter 6 – The True Fairy Tale

"It grew wondrous cold, 
And ice mast-high came floating by, 
As green as emerald." 

Chapter 6 – The True Fairy Tale

Then truth is as much larger than fiction, as God is greater than man; as much larger as the whole universe is larger than the little corner of it that any man, even the greatest poet or philosopher, can see; and as much grander, and as much more beautiful, and as much more strange.

Chapter 7 – The Chalk-Carts

We put on the chalk because, beside sweetening the land, it will hold water.

Chapter 7 – The Chalk-Carts

Those beds may be covered up, pressed, and, it may be, heated, till they crystallise into white marble: and out of it fairer statues be carved, and grander temples built, than the world has ever yet seen.

Chapter 8 – Madame How’s Two Grandsons

Analysis was to take to pieces everything he found, and find out how it was made. Synthesis was to put the pieces together again, and make something fresh out of them.

Chapter 8 – Madame How’s Two Grandsons

And the more Synthesis waxed in pride, and the more he trampled upon his poor brother, the more reckless he grew, and the more willing to deceive himself.

Chapter 8 – Madame How’s Two Grandsons

Now you must remember, whenever you have to do with him, that Analysis, like fire, is a very good servant, but a very bad master.

Chapter 9 – The Coral-Reef

No bed of flowers, they say, can be more brilliant than the corals, as you look down on them through the clear sea.

Chapter 9 – The Coral-Reef

Madam How has made them so well and wisely, that, like brave and good men, the more trouble they suffer the stronger they are.

Chapter 10 – Field and Wild

And so, we may hope, in future years all heavy drudgery and dirty work will be done more and more by machines, and people will have more and more chance of keeping themselves clean and healthy, and more and more time to read, and learn, and think, and be true civilised men and women, instead of being mere live ploughs, or live manure-carts, such as I have seen ere now.

Chapter 10 – Field and Wild

Children, too, who are unhappy; children who are bullied, and frightened, and kept dull and silent, never thrive.

Chapter 11 – The World’s End

The water which washes the bottom of the lawn was but a few months ago pouring out of the Gulf of Mexico, between the Bahamas and Florida, and swept away here as the great ocean river of warm water which we call the Gulf Stream, bringing with it out of the open ocean the shoals of mackerel, and the porpoises and whales which feed upon them.

Chapter 11 – The World’s End

Because God is your Father in heaven, as I am your father on earth, and He does not wish His little child to be left to the hard teaching of Nature and Law, but to be helped on by many, many unsought and undeserved favours, such as are rightly called "Means of Grace;"

Chapter 12 – Homeward Bound

But a very curious fellow he is, nevertheless: and his name is Gar-fish. Some call him Green- bone, because his bones are green.

Chapter 12 – Homeward Bound

The whale: one of them, at least; for the men say there are two different ones about the bay. That black wheel was part of his back, as he turned down; and the tooth on it was his back-fin. 

Chapter 12 – Homeward Bound

So when you are tempted to rob birds' nests, or to set the dogs on a moorhen, or pelt wrens in the hedge, think; and say--How should I like that to be done to me?

Chapter 12 – Homeward Bound

A rhinoceros used to be hairy all over in old times: but now he carries all his hair on the end of his nose, except a few bristles on his tail.

Chapter 12 – Homeward Bound

What is the use of learning Latin and Greek, and a dozen things more which you have to learn? You don't know yet: but wiser people than you tell you that they will be of use some day.
Magician’s Nephew by C.S. Lewis

Chapter 1

The high-backed chair in front of the fire moved suddenly and there rose up out of it--like a pantomime demon coming up out of a trap door--the alarming form of Uncle Andrew. They were not in the empty house after all; they were in Digory’s house and in the forbidden study! 

It was too late. Exactly as he spoke, Polly’s hand went out to touch one of the rings. And immediately, without a flash or noise or a warning of any sort, there was no Polly. Digory and his uncle were alone in the room.

Chapter 2

“The moment I picked up that box I could tell by the pricking in my fingers that I held some great secret in my hands. She gave it to me and made me promise that as soon as she was dead I would burn it unopened, with certain ceremonies. That promise I did not keep.”

Chapter 3

The girl now sat up, really interested at last. They stared very hard at one another, trying to remember. And then, at exactly the same moment, she shouted out “Mr. Ketterly,” and he shouted out, “Uncle Andrew,” and they knew who they were and began to remember the whole story.

Chapter 4

It was never found out whether the fall of the roof was due to magic or whether that unbearably loud sound was from the bell just happened to strike the note which was more than those crumbling walls could stand. “There! I hope you’re satisfied now,” panted Polly. “Well, it’s all over, anyway,” said Digory. And both thought it was; but they had never been more mistaken in their lives.

Chapter 5

They plunged their left hands into their pockets. They did not even need to put the Rings on. The moment they touched them, the whole of that dreary world vanished from their eyes. They were rushing upward and a warm green light was growing nearer overhead.

Chapter 6

But as they jumped Digory felt that a large, cold finger and thumb had caught him by the ear. And as they sank down and the confused shapes of our own world began to appear, the grip of that finger and thumb grew stronger. The Witch was apparently recovering her strength.

Chapter 7

There might be fruit in some other world that would really cure his mother! And oh, oh--well, you know how it feels if you begin hoping for something that you want desperately badly; you almost fight against the hope because it is too good to be true; you’ve been disappointed so often before.

Chapter 8

And really, it was uncommonly like Nothing. There were no stars. It was so dark that they couldn’t see one another at all and it made no difference whether you kept your eyes shut or opened. Under their feet there was a cool, flat something which might have been earth, and was certainly not grass or wood.

They made you feel excited until you saw the singer himself, and then you forgot everything else. It was a Lion. Huge, shaggy, and bright, it stood facing the risen sun. It’s mouth was wide open in song and it was about three hundred yards away.

Chapter 9

Then there came a swift flash like fire (but it burned nobody), either from the sky or from the Lion himself, and every drop of blood tingled in the children’s bodies, and the deepest, wildest voice they had ever heard was saying, “Narnia, Narnia, Narnia, awake. Love. Think. Speak. Be walking trees. Be talking beasts. Be divine waters.”

Chapter 10

“Now sir,” said the Bulldog in his businesslike way, “are you animal, vegetable, or mineral?” That was what he really said; but all Uncle Andrew heard was, “Gr-r-r-arrh-ow!”

Chapter 11

“I don’t see that,” said one of the Bears. “An animal wouldn’t just roll over like that. We’re animals and we don’t roll over. We stand up. Like this,” He rose to his hind legs, took a step backward, tripped over a low branch and fell flat on his back.

Chapter 12

There they could see the whole valley of Narnia stretched out to where, just before the eastern horizon, there was a gleam of the sea. And now they were so high that they could see tiny looking jagged mountains appearing beyond the northern moors, and plains of what looked like sand far in the south.

Chapter 13

Come in by the gold gates or not at all,

Take of my fruit for others or forbear

For those who steal or those who climb my wall

Shall find their heart’s desire and find despair

That was where the Witch made her fatal mistake. Of course, Digory knew that Polly could get away by her own Ring as easily as he could get away by his. But apparently the Witch didn’t know this. And the meanness of the suggestion that he should leave Polly behind suddenly made all other things the Witch had been saying to him sound false and hollow.

Chapter 14

A little way off, towering above their heads, they saw a tree which had certainly not been there before. It must have grown up silently, yet swiftly as a flag rises when you pull it up on a flagstaff, while they were all busied about the coronation. Its spreading branches seemed to cast a light rather than a shade, and silver apples peeped out like stars from under every leaf.

Chapter 15

He couldn’t bear to have it simply chopped up for firewood, so he had part of the timber made into a wardrobe, which he put in his big house in the country. And though he himself did not discover the magic properties of that wardrobe, someone else did.

*Our/An Island Story by Marshall, H. E. (Chp. 95-96) 

Chapter 95

George II.  – The Story of How Canada was Won

The French colonies there were called Canada and Louisiana.  Canada lay north of the British colonies, beyond the St. Lawrence River. Louisiana lay west of the British colonies, beyond the Mississippi river.  If you look on the map, you will see that in this way the British colonies were quite shut in by the sea and by the French on all sides.

The boat reached the Quebec side of the river, and Wolfe was among the first to spring ashore.  Silently, quickly, with beating hearts and held breath, the men followed.  Then as silently and quickly the boats put off again, for there had been room in them only for half the soldiers, and they returned to bring the rest.

Nearer and nearer to the top they came, unseen and unheard by the French sentinels above. But at last the rustling among the bushes and leaves down the slope caught their ear. “What was that?” they asked, and fired at random down into the darkness.  But it was too late, the first soldiers had reached the height, others followed after them, and,, terrified at the sudden appearance of men where they thought no men could be, the French sentinels ran away.

Chapter 96 – George III – The Story of How America Was Lost

Now the people of America sent no members to British Parliament. When King George tried to make them pay taxes, they at once said, “No, that is not just. It is against the laws of Britain.  If we are to pay taxes we must be allowed to send members to Parliament as England and Scotland do. If we are to pay taxes we must have a share in making the laws and saying how the money is to be spent.”

With wild war whoops these make-believe Red Indians ran to the harbor.  They sprang on board the tea ships, they seized the chests, opened them with their hatchets, and poured the tea into the water.  Chest after chest, chest after chest was burst open, and the tea poured over the ship’s side, till three hundred and forty-two chests had been emptied, and the harbor was black with tea leaves.

Then not only France but Spain joined with America, and at last the bitter end came. Britain was obliged to give way, and, in 1782 A.D., after a war which had lasted nearly eight years, the United States were acknowledged to be a free and independent country, and Britain lost all her possessions in North America except Canada.

*Paul Revere's Ride by Longfellow

(1st stanza)

Listen my children and you shall hear

Of the midnight ride of Paul Revere,

On the eighteenth of April, in Seventy-five;

(2nd stanza)

One if by land, and two if by sea;

And I on the opposite shore will be,

Ready to ride and spread the alarm

Through every Middlesex village and farm,

(3rd stanza)

Where swinging wide at her moorings lay

The Somerset, British man-of-war;

A phantom ship, with each mast and spar

Across the moon like a prison bar,

(4th stanza)

Meanwhile, his friend through alley and street

Wanders and watches, with eager ears,

Till in the silence around him he hears

The muster of men at the barrack door

(5th stanza)

On the sombre rafters, that round him made

Masses and moving shapes of shade,--

By the trembling ladder, steep and tall,

To the highest window in the wall,

Where he paused to listen and look down

(6th stanza)

Beneath, in the churchyard, lay the dead,

In their night encampment on the hill,

Wrapped in silence so deep and still

(7th stanza - a)

Meanwhile, impatient to mount and ride,

Booted and spurred, with a heavy stride

On the opposite shore walked Paul Revere.

(7th stanza - b)

And lo! as he looks, on the belfry's height

A glimmer, and then a gleam of light!

He springs to the saddle, the bridle he turns,

But lingers and gazes, till full on his sight

A second lamp in the belfry burns.

(8th stanza)

And yet, through the gloom and the light,

The fate of a nation was riding that night;

And the spark struck out by that steed, in his flight,

Kindled the land into flame with its heat.

(9th stanza)

It was twelve by the village clock

When he crossed the bridge into Medford town.

(10th stanza)

And the meeting-house windows, black and bare,

Gaze at him with a spectral glare,

As if they already stood aghast

At the bloody work they would look upon.

(11th stanza)

It was two by the village clock,

When he came to the bridge in Concord town.

(12th stanza)

In the books you have read

How the British Regulars fired and fled,---

How the farmers gave them ball for ball,

From behind each fence and farmyard wall,

Chasing the redcoats down the lane,

(13th stanza - a)

So through the night rode Paul Revere;

And so through the night went his cry of alarm

To every Middlesex village and farm,---

A cry of defiance, and not of fear,

(13th stanza - b)

The people will waken and listen to hear

The hurrying hoof-beats of that steed,

And the midnight message of Paul Revere.

*Physics Lab in the Home by Robert Friedhoffer 

Chapter 1

The word “plumbing” comes from the Latin word for lead, as in “a lead pipe” or “a lead fishing weight.” The chemical symbol for lead is “Pb.”

Chapter 1

If you could fly straight up in the air near the edge of the ocean, you would eventually reach a height where you would see that the surface of the water is actually curved, not flat. The reason is that Earth itself is curved like a ball.

Chapter 1

Vitruvius was a well-respected Roman architect who lived from about 70 B.C. to 25 B.C. His books, which are still studied today, point out that water seeks its own level, in both closed systems (pipes) and open systems – like the water in the bowl you observed.

Chapter 2

A faucet is a type of valve that we can control to make water flow or stop flowing. We don’t know exactly when the first water faucet was invented, but we do know that a type of faucet was used in Greece more than 2,000 years ago.

Chapter 2

When you twist the handle of a typical faucet, you are operating a type of simple machine called a first-class lever. As you turn the handle, the force you exert is multiplied, enabling you to easily turn the screw – another type of simple machine – found inside the faucet/

Chapter 3

A trap serves two purposes. First of all, it prevents foul smells from the sewer from entering the house. Those smells are blocked by the water in the pipe. Secondly, a large cap screwed into the bottom of most traps allows access to the inside of the pipe. 

Chapter 4

Have you ever wondered why water, if it’s not being disturbed in some way, settles down into a nice smooth surface? This is the result of an interesting phenomenon called surface tension.

Chapter 5

Today, we believe that heat is connected to the motion of molecules. The faster the molecules move, the more energy they have and the greater the heat created. By the way, we can’t see these movements.

Chapter 5

Conduction occurs when something warm is in contact with something cooler. The heat flows from the warmer object to the cooler one. For instance, when you are holding a cold glass of soda, the heat from your hand travels into the glass.

Chapter 5

Another time you might notice heat radiation is on a cool but sunny day. If you stay in the shadow of a large tree or a building you will probably be a lot chillier than if you stand in direct sunlight, where you are warmed by radiant energy from the sun.

Chapter 6

Sweating serves a number of purposes. One of them is to rid the body of waste products, such as excess salt and toxic byproducts of the body’s metabolic functions. More importantly, sweating helps regulate the body’s temperature.

Chapter 6

A refrigerator is basically an insulated box with a built-in heat pump. A heat pump moves heat from one place to another. In the case of a refrigerator, a heat pump moves heat from the inside of the insulated box to the outside of the box. 

Chapter 7

Frost buildup sometimes occurs in refrigerator freezers because of moisture in the air. When the door of the freezer compartment is opened, warm, moist air enters the freezer. When the door is shut, the air cools down and the water in the air condenses as drops of water.

Chapter 8

What you have made with the soda bottle and the medicine dropper is a type of barometer, a device that measures air pressure. In fact this type of barometer is also a toy, called a Cartesian Diver. 

Appendix

All matter on Earth exists in one of three states – solid, liquid, or gas. Under the right conditions, a solid can be changed into a liquid, and then turn into a gas. For example when ice, a solid, is heated it can turn into water. When water is heated it can turn into vapor, a gas.

Pollyanna by Eleanor Porter 

Chapter 1

"A little girl - coming here, Miss Harrington? Oh, won't that be nice!" cried Nancy, thinking of the sunshine her own little sisters made in the home at "The Corners."

"Nice? Well, that isn't exactly the word I should use," rejoined Miss Polly, stiffly. "However, I intend to make the best of it, of course. I am a good woman, I hope; and I know my duty."

Chapter 2

"Well, it's done - my part, anyhow," she sighed. "There ain't no dirt here - and there's mighty little else. Poor little soul! - a pretty place this is ter put a homesick, lonesome child into!" she finished, going out and closing the door with a bang.

Chapter 3

"Are you Miss - Pollyanna?" she faltered. The next moment she found herself half-smothered in the clasp of two gingham-clad arms.

"Oh, I'm so glad, glad, GLAD to see you," cried an eager voice in her ear. "Of course I'm Pollyanna, and I'm so glad you came to meet me! I hoped you would."

Chapter 4

She was at the back of the house. Before her lay a garden in which a bent old man was working. Beyond the garden a little path through an open field led up a steep hill, at the top of which a lone pine-tree stood on guard beside the huge rock. To Pollyanna, at the moment, there seemed to be just one place in the world worth being in - the top of that big rock.

Chapter 5

"Oh, yes; the game was to just find something about everything to be glad about - no matter what 'twas," rejoined Pollyanna earnestly. "And we began right then - on the crutches."

"Well, goodness me! I can't see anythin' ter be glad about - gettin' a pair of crutches when you wanted a doll!"

Chapter 6

To her niece she said:

"Pollyanna, I have ordered screens for those windows. I knew, of course, that it was my duty to do that. But it seems to me that you have quite forgotten YOUR duty."

"My - duty?"  Pollyanna's eyes were wide with wonder.

Chapter 7

There was no reply. Miss Polly was stalking on ahead. Miss Polly, to tell the truth, was feeling curiously helpless. For the third time since Pollyanna's arrival, Miss Polly was punishing Pollyanna - and for the third time she was being confronted with the amazing fact that her punishment was being taken as a special reward of merit. No wonder Miss Polly was feeling curiously helpless.

Chapter 8

For five minutes Pollyanna worked swiftly, deftly, combing a refractory curl into fluffiness, perking up a drooping ruffle at the neck, or shaking a pillow into plumpness so that the head might have a better pose. Meanwhile the sick woman, frowning prodigiously, and openly scoffing at the whole procedure, was, in spite of herself, beginning to tingle with a feeling perilously near to excitement.

Chapter 9

The next time Pollyanna met the Man, his eyes were gazing straight into hers, with a quizzical directness that made his face look really pleasant, Pollyanna thought.

"Good afternoon," he greeted her a little stiffly. "Perhaps I'd better say right away that I KNOW the sun is shining to-day."

Chapter 10

"Well, of course, there's lamb broth - "

"I've got it!" crowed Pollyanna.

"But that's what I DIDN'T want," sighed the sick woman, sure now of what her stomach craved. "It was chicken I wanted."

"Oh, I've got that, too," chuckled Pollyanna.

The woman turned in amazement.

"Both of them?" she demanded.

Chapter 11

"Oh, Aunt Polly," she triumphed. "just look a-here! I've got something ever so much nicer, even, than Fluffy and Buffy for you to bring up. It's a real live boy. He won't mind a bit sleeping in the attic, at first, you know, and he says he'll work; but I shall need him the most of the time to play with, I reckon."

Chapter 12

Pollyanna listened with growing anxiety. Some of what was said she could not understand. She did gather, after a time, however, that there was no woman there who had a home to give him, though every woman seemed to think that some of the others might take him, as there were several who had no little boys of their own

already in their homes. 

Chapter 13

Straight ahead, now, the little dog dashed madly; and it was not long before Pollyanna came upon the reason for it all: a man lying motionless at the foot of a steep, overhanging mass of rock a few yards from the side path.

A twig cracked sharply under Pollyanna's foot, and the man turned his head. With a cry of dismay Pollyanna ran to his side.

"Mr. Pendleton! Oh, are you hurt?"

Chapter 14

"Very well, Pollyanna," she said at last , still in that queer voice, so unlike her own; "you may you may take the jelly to Mr. Pendleton as your own gift. But understand:  I do not send it. Be very sure that he does not think I do!"

"Yes'm - no'm - thank you, Aunt Polly," exulted Pollyanna, as she flew through the door.

Chapter 15

The doctor, coming into the hall at that moment, heard the woman's words and saw the disappointed look on Pollyanna's face. He stepped quickly forward.

"Ah! Some calf's-foot jelly?" he asked genially. "That will be fine! Maybe you'd like to see our patient, eh?"

Chapter 16

So amazed and so absorbed was Miss Polly with what she saw in the glass that she quite forgot her determination to do over her hair, until she heard Pollyanna enter the room again. Before she could move, then, she felt a folded something slipped across her eyes and tied in the back.

Chapter 17

"But after a time I found I was wanting to see you so much that - that the fact that I WASN'T seeing you was making me remember all the more vividly the thing I was so wanting to forget. So now I want you to come. Will you - little girl?"

"Why, yes, Mr. Pendleton," breathed Pollyanna, her eyes luminous with sympathy for the sad-faced man lying back on the pillow before her. "I'd love to come!"

Chapter 18

Pollyanna had not hung up three of the pendants in the sunlit window before she saw a little of what was going to happen. She was so excited then she could scarcely control her shaking fingers enough to hang up the rest. But at last her task was finished, and she stepped back with a low cry of delight.

Chapter 19

"See here, Pollyanna, how would you like to come and live with me? he asked, a little impatiently. "I don't see anything of you, nowadays."

Pollyanna laughed - Mr. Pendleton was such a funny man!

"I thought you didn't like to have folks 'round," she said.

Chapter 20

"For long years I have been a cross, crabbed, unlovable, unloved old man - though I'm not nearly sixty, yet, Pollyanna. Then, one day, like one of the prisms that you love so well, little girl, you danced into my life, and flecked my dreary old world with dashes of the purple and gold and scarlet of your own bright cheeriness." 

Chapter 21

Perhaps the laugh cleared the air; or perhaps the pathos of Jimmy Bean's story as told by Pollyanna's eager little lips touched a heart already strangely softened. At all events, when Pollyanna went home that night she carried with her an invitation for Jimmy Bean himself to call at the great house with Pollyanna the next Saturday afternoon.

Chapter 22

"People radiate what is in their minds and in their hearts. If a man feels kindly and obliging, his neighbors will feel that way, too, before long. But if he scolds and scowls and criticizes - his neighbors will return scowl for scowl, and add interest! . . . When you look for the bad, expecting it, you will get it. When you know you will find the good - you will get that." 

Chapter 23

Just what happened, no one could seem to tell afterward. Neither was there any one found who could tell why it happened or who was to blame that it did happen. Pollyanna, however, at five o'clock, was borne, limp and unconscious, into the little room that was so dear to her. 

Chapter 24

In the ceremonious "parlor" of the Harrington homestead, Mr. John Pendleton did not have to wait long before a swift step warned him of Miss Polly's coming. As he attempted to rise, she made a gesture of remonstrance. She did not offer her hand, however, and her face was coldly reserved.

Chapter 25

For no one were those days of waiting easy. The nurse tried to look cheerful, but her eyes were troubled. The doctor was openly nervous and impatient. Miss Polly said little; but even the softening waves of hair about her face, and the becoming laces at her throat, could not hide the fact that she was growing thin and pale. 

Chapter 26

In the hall the two doctors, the nurse, and Miss Polly stood talking. In Pollyanna's room Fluffy had just jumped to the bed with a little purring "meow" of joy when through the open door sounded clearly and sharply Aunt Polly's agonized exclamation.

"Not that! Doctor, not that! You don't mean - the child - will NEVER WALK again!"

Chapter 27

In the middle of the floor Miss Polly stood, silent and amazed, still looking after the man who had just left her. Even yet she could scarcely believe what her ears had heard. John Pendleton ADOPT Jimmy Bean? John Pendleton, wealthy, independent, morose, reputed to be miserly and supremely selfish, to adopt a little

boy - and such a little boy?

Chapter 28

"I haven't had a chance to tell you, yet, but this morning I met Mr. Ford when I was down to the village, and he told me to say to you that just as soon as you could see him, he was coming to tell you that he hadn't stopped being glad over those eight hundred rejoicing texts that you told him about. So you see, dear, it's just you that have done it. The whole town is playing the game, and the whole town is wonderfully happier - and all because of one little girl who taught the people a new game, and how to play it."

Chapter 29

Jimmy Bean, at his Saturday morning task of pulling up the first little green weeds of the flowerbeds, sat up with ears and eyes wide open.

"Walk! Pollyanna!"  John Pendleton was saying. "What do you mean?"

Chapter 30

A little later Dr. Warren was surprised to meet an agitated, flushed-faced Miss Polly in the hall. He was still more surprised to hear the lady say, a little breathlessly:

"Dr. Warren, you asked me once to allow Dr. Chilton to be called in consultation, and - I refused. Since then I have reconsidered. I very much desire that you SHOULD call in Dr. Chilton. Will you not ask him at once - please? Thank you."

Chapter 31

At twilight a wonderfully tremulous, wonderfully different Aunt Polly crept to Pollyanna's bedside. The nurse was at supper. They had the room to themselves.

"Pollyanna, dear, I'm going to tell you - the very first one of all. Some day I'm going to give Dr. Chilton to you for your - uncle. And it's you that have done it all. Oh, Pollyanna, I'm so - happy! And so - glad! - darling!"

Chapter 32

"I don't see why they cried. I wanted to sing and shout and yell! Oh - oh - oh! just think, I can walk - walk - WALK! Now I don't mind being here almost ten months, and I didn't miss the wedding, anyhow. Wasn't that just like you, Aunt Polly, to come on here and get married right beside my bed, so I could see you. You always do think of the gladdest things!"
*Poor Richard by James Daugherty

MILK STREET BOSTON

Across Milk Street from the door of Old South Church lived Josiah Franklin and his numerous family.  He didn’t have far to carry the newest arrival on a Sunday morning in January 1706, to have him christened Benjamin, after his uncle in England.

Printer’s Ink

Every day the hand press sent out armies of words that could make people laugh, cry, be angry or pleased.  To be master of the words, that was the thing.  That was the worthwhile thing: to use words as tools, weapons, trumpets, or comforters, to make people understand and be persuaded.

Printer’s Ink

He read and wrote late and early.  At noon hour or on Sundays you could look in through the window of the printer’s shop and see Ben lost in Plutarch’s Lives or Pilgrim’s Progress, a grammar or an arithmetic.

The Runaway Apprentice

After a fine three days’ sail, they made New York.  Out of the great emptiness  of sea and sky the young man was suddenly dropped into the rushing hurly-burly of a busy morning on the New York  waterfront.

The Runaway Apprentice

Ben opened the book and forgot the rescue and the storm.  It was the most beautiful book he had ever seen, a copy of Bunyan’s Pilgrim’s Progress printed in Dutch and illustrated with copper-plate engravings, a masterpiece of the printer’s craft.

The Runaway Apprentice

He walked on idly kicking a pebble and retaining in his mind the image of beauty and coquetry.  It was his welcome to Philadelphia.  He was going to like this “city of brotherly love.”

Philadelphia

a) Already he had learned from tough experience how foolish it was to resent, and how small and mean was self-conceit.  He had seen with his own eyes what Jamaica gin could do for promising young friends.  So he put “Temperance” at the top of the list of “Virtues” he was going to practice:

b) “Temperance” and “Silence” and “Order” (this last was hard for him when he wanted to do so many things at once).  After “Resolution” came the early American twins, “Frugality” and “Industry.”  Then “Sincerity,” “Justice,” and “Moderation,” as good companions of the mind, and “Cleanliness,” “Tranquillity,” and “Chastity,” to keep his thinking clear and cool and bright.  When a wise old Quaker friend said:  “Thee has forgotten ‘Humility,’” he added it to the list, writing under it:  “Imitate Jesus and Socrates.” 

The Water American-London

Ben ferreted among the book shops with the sniffing eagerness of a rabbit hound, finding treasure in old and new books, reading with delight the new thriller called Robinson Crusoe, and wondering with all London if it was really a true story or a marvelous fake by a Grub Street genius.

A Shop of Your Own – Philadelphia

He knew that he would always be a printer, a leather-apron man.  Printing meant books, newspapers, writing, authors, witty powerful words that walked up and down in people’s minds to make friends and open doors and get things done.  You could do a lot of good with a printing press besides making money.  

Industry And Frugality

Said Poor Richard:

He that cannot obey cannot command.

Be slow in choosing a friend, slower in changing.

Well done is better than well said.

God helps them that help themselves.

It is better to take many injuries than to give one.

Diligence is the mother of good luck. 

The worst wheel of the cart makes the most noise.

Being ignorant is not so much shame, as being unwilling to learn.

What is serving God?  ‘Tis doing good to man.

If your head is wax, don’t walk in the sun.

When the well’s dry, we know the worth of water.

Virtue and a trade are a child’s best portion.

 A good example is the best sermon.

Don’t judge of men’s wealth or piety by their Sunday appearances.

Those who in quarrels interpose must often wipe a bloody nose.

He that lies down with dogs shall rise up with fleas.

The Flaming Border

A strip of coast from Maine to Florida some hundred miles deep: That long lean strip was America, Franklin’s America, all east of the Appalachian Mountains.  The forest was the frontier.  Out of it peered glittering eyes watching the plowmen, the cabin with the rising smoke, the slow-swinging axmen.

The Flaming Border

In Philadelphia another kind of war was raging.  It was a death struggle between liberty and tyranny, human rights and property rights.  The harder the people worked, the richer the overlords and landowners waxed on taxes, rents, and rising land values.  The old item of complaint was that the proprietors would not pay or share in the defense of the frontier.

Number Seven Craven Street – London

But politics for the most part moved slowly.  He had time to set up the most powerful electric apparatus yet assembled in England to entertain his scientific friends and visitors.  He developed the delightful-sounding new musical instrument of glass bells called the “harmonica.”  He was a lover of music, and had learned to play the harp, guitar, and violin.

Number Seven Craven Street – London

More and more he became the representative of all America in English eyes.  He was America in London, arguing and maneuvering to hold the Colonies and the mother country together, urging justice and fair dealing for the angry assemblies across the Atlantic. 

The Postmaster’s Daughter – America

Franklin wrote and printed a narrative of “The Late Massacre in Lancaster County” denouncing “the Christian white savages” for the murder of peaceful Indians.  It was a noble plea for justice and mercy for the Indians who had faithfully kept the ancient peace of William Penn.  The peace which was “to last as long as the sun should shine or the waters run in the rivers.”

The Loyal Rebel –London

“The question with me is not whether you have a right to render your people miserable, but whether it is not your interest to make them happy.  It is not what a lawyer tells me I may do, but what humanity, reason, and justice tell me I ought to do. 

My idea, therefore, without considering whether we yield as a matter of right, or grant as a matter of favor, is to admit the people of our Colonies into and interest in the constitution.” 

Hedgerows And Gardens –London

The Tory ministry now laid taxes in the Colonies on paint, paper, glass, and tea without consulting the colonial legislature.  Again the Colonies were an angry hornets’ nest.  There were riders through the night bringing news to the organized patriots, the Committees of Correspondence, and the Sons of Liberty.

The Cockpit – London

Franklin went out alone.  His magnificent silence had been a powerful and eloquent answer.  Without anger he looked toward the future and sadly thought of his dream of union throughout England’s dominion, union with justice and peace.

The Printer Turns Patriot

But there was no doubt in the mind of the man who had written: “They that give up essential liberty to obtain a little temporary safety deserve neither liberty nor safety.”

The Printer Turns Patriot

a) In the Continental Congress when the solemn moment came to sign the Declaration of Independence, the president, John Hancock, wrote his name so big and bold that “the King of England could read it without spectacles,” adding by way of afterthought, “but we must be unanimous; there must be no pulling different ways; we must all hang together.”

b) “Yes, we must indeed all hang together, or most assuredly we shall all hang separately,” said Poor Richard with a grim humor that drew a Hogarth picture of a dark possibility.

Mid-OCEAN
In his mind he turned the pages of the seven decades that were volumes in a long life story, an encyclopedia crowded, ordered, and illustrated richly with colored pictures of memory.  Each page had been a chronicle of zestful living.

AN AMERICAN IN PARIS

This was a very different world from the one he had left across the ocean, the new raw America of the hard-headed, long-jawed provincials in their buckskin breeches, the lean Sons of Liberty fighting and plowing and praying to make a new land for “certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty, and the pursuit of Happiness.”

WHAT USE IS A BALLOON? – PARIS

He warned people who wanted to go there and had extravagant notions,  “Our country offers to strangers nothing but a good climate, fertile soil, wholesome air, free governments, wise laws, liberty, a good people to live among, and a hearty welcome.  Those Europeans who have these or greater advantages at home would do well to stay where they are.”  No wonder America filled up fast after the Revolution.

GOING HOME

The bells of Philadelphia, the clamorous bells of liberty, were ringing loud and long.  Poor Richard is come home again, they pealed and shouted and laughed.

The guns were booming.  The welcoming guns that had spoken for independence were roaring for joy.

THE RISING SUN

“I have lived, Sir, a long time, and the longer I live the more convincing proofs I see of this truth: that God governs in the affairs of men.  And if a sparrow cannot fall to the ground without His notice, is it probable that an empire can rise without His aid?  I believe that without His concurring aid we shall succeed no better than the builders of Babel…. How has it happened, Sir, that we have not hitherto once thought of humbly applying to the Father of lights to illuminate our understanding?”  

UNDER THE MULBERRY TREE

In his will he wrote: “My fine crab-tree walking stick, with a gold head curiously wrought in the form of a cap of liberty, I give to my fried, and the friend of mankind, General Washington.  If it were a scepter, he has merited it and would become it.”

UNDER THE MULBERRY TREE

His last essay was a protest against slavery written in the spirit of his keenest irony.  As a last brave blow for human rights he had urged the establishment of the first school for Negroes.  He was president of the first abolition society.

UNDER THE MULBERRY TREE

He was being called to go on another mission, and he was ready.  He had long been ready, but the people’s business had detained him until now.  He had been long detained for the public good, the settling of old quarrels, the forming of new alliances to make America strong.  But now he was taking passage home after so many stormy crossings, so many rough voyages.
Prince Caspian by C.S. Lewis

Chapter 1

The four children, holding hands and panting, found themselves standing in a woody place--such a woody place that branches were sticking into them and there was hardly room to move. They all rubbed their eyes and took a deep breath.

Chapter 2

“Oh Susan,” said Lucy. “Where’s the horn?” “Oh bother, bother, bother,” said Susan after she had thought for a moment. “I remember now. I took it with me the last day of all, the day we went hunting the White Stag.

Chapter 3

“First of all I’m a messenger of King Caspian’s.” “Who’s he?” asked four voices all at once. “Caspian the Tenth, King of Narnia, and long may he reign!” answered the Dwarf. “That is to say, he ought to be King of Narnia and we hope he will be.”

Chapter 4

He was the smallest, and also the fattest, man Caspian had ever seen. He had a long, silvery, pointed beard which came down to his waist, and his face, which was brown and covered with wrinkles, looked very wise, very ugly and very kind.

Chapter 4

“It is you Telmarines who silenced the beasts and drove away the dwarfs and fauns, and are now trying to cover up even the memory of them. The king does not allow them to be spoken of.” “Oh, I do wish we hadn’t,” said Caspian.

Chapter 5

“Now that he has a son of his own he will want his own son to be the next King. You are in the way. He’ll clear you out of the way.” “Is he really as bad as that?” said Caspian. “Would he really murder me?”

Chapter 5

Tree after tree rose up before them in the dusk and was only just avoided. Then, almost too suddenly to hurt (and yet it did hurt him too) something struck Caspian on the forehead and he knew no more. 

When he came to himself he was lying in a firelit place with bruised limbs and a bad headache.

Chapter 6

He was of course bigger than a common mouse, well over a foot high when he stood on his hind legs, and his ears nearly as long as (though broader than) a rabbit’s. His name was Reepicheep and he was a gay and martial mouse. 

Chapter 7

“Hurrah!” said a very shrill and small voice from somewhere at the Doctor’s feet. “Let them come! All I ask is that the King will put me and my people in the front.” “What on earth?” said Doctor Cornelius. “Has your Majesty got grasshoppers--or mosquitos--in your army?”

Chapter 8

“I see the point,” said Trumpkin drily. “You know a trick I never learned.” “That’s quite true,” put in Peter. “The best swordsman in the world may be disarmed by a trick that’s new to him.”

“You mean the yellow one near the middle of the arch?” “No, not that,” said Susan. “The red one up above--over the battlement.” The Dwarf’s face fell. “Looks more like a cherry than an apple,” he muttered, but he said nothing out loud.

Chapter 9

She looked at a sliver birch: it would have a soft, showery voice and would look like a slender girl, with hair blown all about her face, and fond of dancing. She looked at the Oak: He would be a wizened, but hearty old man with a frizzled beard and warts on his face and hands, and hair growing out of the warts.

Chapter 10

There was a little town at the far end of it. “By Jove,” said Edmund. “We fought the Battle of Beruna just where that town is!” This cheered the boys more than anything. You can’t help feeling stronger when you look at a place where you won a glorious victory, not to mention a kingdom, hundreds of years ago.

Chapter 11

Aslan pounced. Have you ever seen a very young kitten being carried in a mother cat’s mouth? It was like that. The Dwarf, hunched up in a little, miserable ball, hung from Aslan’s mouth. 

Chapter 12

Above the steadily increasing growl of the Badger and Cornelius’s sharp “What?” rose the voice of King Caspian like thunder. “So that is your plan, Nikabrik! Black sorcery and the calling up of an accursed spirit. And I see who your companions are--a Hag and a Wer-Wolf!”

Chapter 13

“Upon my word,” said Trumpkin, “if you want someone who can kill with looks, Reepicheep would be the best.” “He would indeed, from all I hear,” said Peter with a laugh. “If only he wasn’t so small. They wouldn’t even see him till he was close!”

Chapter 14

Both bowed and seemed to speak, but it was impossible to hear what they said. Next moment the two swords flashed in the sunlight. For a second the clash could be heard but it was immediately drowned because both armies began shouting like crowds at a football match.

Chapter 15

“Welcome, Prince,” said Aslan. “Do you feel yourself sufficient to take up the Kingship of Narnia?” “I--I don’t think I do, Sir,” said Caspian. “I’m only a kid.” “Good,” said Aslan. “If you had felt yourself sufficient, it would have been proof that you were not.”
Railway Children by Edith Nesbit 

Chapter One

This was the first train the children saw on that railway which was in time to become so very dear to them.  They did not guess then how they would grow to love the railway, and how soon it would become the centre of their new life, nor what wonders and changes it would bring to them.

Chapter Two

Grown-up people, even mothers, often make remarks that don’t seem to mean anything in particular, just for the sake of saying something, seemingly.

Chapter Three

He was a worthy man and seemed never tired of answering the questions that begin with ‘Why - ’ which many people in higher ranks of life often seem weary of.

Chapter Four

Bobbie couldn’t help her face changing a little – not so much because she was disappointed at not getting the engine, as because she had thought it so very noble of Peter, and now she felt she had been silly to think it.

Chapter Five

I do not know whether the man understood her words, but he understood the touch of the hand she thrust into his, and the kindness of the other hand that stroked his shabby sleeve.

Chapter Five

‘Why, mother,’ she said, ‘how very sorry you seem to be for him!’

Mother didn’t answer for a minute.  Then she just said, ‘Yes,’ and then she seemed to be thinking.  The children were quiet.

Presently she said, ‘Dears, when you say your prayers, I think you might ask God to show His pity upon all prisoners and captives.’

Chapter Six

It really did seem a little like magic.  For all the trees for about twenty yards of the opposite bank seemed to be slowly walking down towards the railway line, the tree with the grey leaves bringing up the rear like some old shepherd driving a flock of green sheep.

Chapter Seven

She knew that Mother was unhappy – and that Mother had not told her the reason.  So she just loved Mother more and never said a single word that could let Mother know how earnestly her little girl wondered what Mother was unhappy about.  This needs practice.  It is not so easy as you might think.

Chapter Eight

The sun was setting in red splendour over the grey and purple hills, and the canal lay smooth and shiny in the shadow – no ripple broke its surface.  It was like a grey satin ribbon between the dusky green silk of the meadows that were on each side of its banks.

Chapter Nine

So they were all quiet and so very still that a brown rat thought that there was no one in the loft and came out very boldly.  When Bobbie sneezed the rat was quite shocked and hurried away, for he saw that a hayloft where such things could happen was no place for a respectable middle-aged rat that liked a quiet life.

Chapter Ten

‘You don’t suppose he’s forgotten us and all the old times, because God has taken him, any more than I forget him.  Oh, no, he remembers.  He’s only away for a little time.  We shall see him someday.’

Chapter Eleven

Bobbie knew the secret now.  A sheet of old newspaper wrapped round a parcel – just a little chance like that – had given the secret to her.  And she had to go down to tea and pretend that there was nothing the matter.  The pretence was bravely made, but it wasn’t very successful.

Chapter Twelve

And she kissed him just as if he had been Peter.  ‘We love to have you here – don’t we, Bobbie?’

‘Yes,’ said Bobbie – and she saw by her mother’s face how right she had been to bring home the wounded hound in the red jersey.

Chapter Thirteen

I can’t think what made him so horrid.  Perhaps it was because he had been so very nice and kind all the earlier part of the day, and now he had to have a change.  This is called reaction.  One notices it now and then in oneself.  Sometimes when one has been extra good for a longer time than usual, one is suddenly attacked by a violent fit of not being good at all.

Chapter Fourteen

But now that Mother had no writing and no housework to do, she had time for lessons.  And lessons the children had to do.  However nice the person who is teaching you may be, lessons are lessons all the world over, and at their best are worse fun than peeling potatoes or lighting a fire.
Reb and the Redcoats by Constance Savery

Chapter 1  The Youngest Rebel

"Its poor little owner would prefer to know that her treasure was in loving hands.  Perhaps we'll find some way of sending the doll back when this dreadful war comes to an end, as we pray God it may."

Chapter 2  Family Coach

She had been chased through the Straits of Dover and up into the North Sea before she was forced to surrender, and the Americans had been interned in Suffolk instead of being sent the long way back to the Isle Royale or elsewhere.

Chapter 3  Fine Fancy Name

On the fourth day George thought of an excellent scheme for outdoing his brother and sisters.  Uncle Laurence had forbidden them to ask their mother or the servants to tell them the Reb's name, but he had not thought of forbidding them to ask the Reb himself.

Chapter 4  Under the Stars and Stripes

"Can you see Patty's flag, Joseph?" whispered Charlotte. "I can't.  Has Uncle Laurence torn it down?"

Joseph craned his neck.

"No, Uncle Laurence hasn't.  It's there, safe enough."

The Reb slept that night under the protection of the Stars and Stripes.

Chapter 5  Thank You

"General Washington said, 'We take the stars from heaven, the red from our mother country, separating it by white stripes, thus showing we have separated from her, and the white stripes shall go down to posterity representing liberty.' "

Chapter 6  Grandpapa and the Reb

Though the boy said little about his father, who had been his superior officer in the Hudson Valley and elsewhere, it was plain that he held him the greatest respect and affection and was ever eager to please Major Baltimore by paying attention to his studies.

Chapter 7  The Mischianza

Restored to good humor by this turning of the tables on his mother, Uncle Laurence withdrew, whistling the air of a popular military march, "The World Turned Upside Down."

Chapter 8  A Sermon on Pride

In long words that Charlotte could hardly understand, the writer of the sermon said that the first sin ever committed was not, as many people supposed, the sin of disobedience.  It was the sin of pride.

Chapter 9  The New Tutor

Nine o'clock the next morning found them ranged demurely round the table in the playroom, which was thenceforth to be renamed schoolroom, like the schoolroom at home.

Chapter 10  Busy Balbus

"It will be a long time before Johnny is able to recite anything so difficult as 'The Battle of Agincourt,' the ballad that Charlotte has recited with great spirit before Colonel and Mrs. Gatwick."

Chapter 11  Wax Fruit for Mamma

He had already struck up quite a friendship with the Hickorys, to whom he regularly carried every new find of amber, carnelian or agate to be fashioned into ornaments that looked like bits of petrified sunshine or frozen fireglow. 

Chapter 12  Nothing of Military Importance

"He held, as firmly as ever, that Major André's request for a soldier's death ought to have been granted.  But he did not fully realize that his attack on the commander in chief had been outrageous and unjustifiable."

Chapter 13  In the Gun Room

Patty looked uncommonly knowing, but she said never a word.  And Joseph, coming in at that moment, was pounced on to hear Charlotte's story.  They had not finished talking it over when George and Kitty rushed in, all agog.

Chapter 14  Patty Mounts Guard

Charlotte had stayed with the other, not because she wanted her portion of shortbread, but because she wanted to see the Reb again.  She felt, she did not know why, as though the world had come to a stop that night, instead of merely turning upside down as it had done so often in the last few months.

Chapter 15  Speed Well, Speedwell

"I only hope she will fall in with a French privateer!" said Uncle Laurence.  "It will be a mercy for her if she does!  The attempt is sheer craziness.  I did think I had made that clear to Randal.  I don't see what more I could have said."

Return To Gone Away by Elizabeth Enright 

Chapter 1

“Down, everybody, down!” protested Mr. Blake. “Your joy is too athletic; it jars my bones. Yes, I do mean really, I do mean honestly. Your mother and I signed the papers today, and the Villa Caprice is ours!”

“We’ll have to think of a new name for that house right away,” said Mrs. Blake. 

“Ours! Ours! Ours!” yelped Portia, still jumping, but releasing her father. She was eleven-and-a-half years old; her brother Foster was seven. The thing they wished for most in all the world had just happened, and this can be an unsettling experience.

Chapter 2

The place looked different, too. In the great swamp the old reeds had died down; just visible among them were the new ones rising: millions of little light green spears. But Craneycrow Island appeared the same, with its somber evergreens, and across the swamp the battered resort houses with their tipsy porches and tottering turrets seemed no more damaged than they had in the fall. The strange scene, which some people might have found desolate, was to Portia and Julian the most welcome sight in the world.

Chapter 2

“You know what I wish, Mother?” Portia said, later that evening. “I just wish we could stay here all through the spring till summertime, and never have to go back to the city or to school until the fall.”

“Darling, it won’t be for very long,” her mother told her. “Only a few weeks, really. And we still have nine days here ahead of us, remember.”

“I know,” Portia said. She appreciated her mother’s talent for making things look better and gave her a hug to show it.

Chapter 3

The day, no better than the day before, was gray and chill, and as they passed between the large stone gateposts of the drive, it was suddenly very quiet. There was no wind, and the trees, draped in great snarled capes of honeysuckle, seemed to have muffled out the noises of the world. Silence had fallen on the party, as well. It was too much for Foster. He suddenly felt called upon to give his ear-splitting rendition of an Indian war whoop. Davey attempted to outdo him; the noise startled two crows out of a tree and sent them squawking into the air. The spell of silence was shattered, and everyone began to talk again. 

Chapter 3 

 “The place looks like a training school for witches,” Mr. Blake remarked in utmost gloom.

The children, however, refused to be disappointed and went running toward the house with briers snatching at their jeans and Julian clattering more than usual because of the buckets.

“I think it’s suave,” he assured Portia, as he jolted along beside her. “All it needs is fixing up. Heck, it hasn’t been fixed up in fifty years! What do they expect?”

“I don’t know,” Portia said, feeling grateful to her cousin and indignant with her other relatives. “I think it’s a perfectly wonderful house!”

Chapter 4

It was dressed in a man’s cape-sleeved long black overcoat, riddled with moth holes and furred with dust. Its head was a stuffed stocking top on which a gruesome face had been devised: eyes made of red-glass buttons behind a pair of pinned-on spectacles; a guardsman’s mustache cut out of felt; and a dreadful mouth in which white beads were stitched to look like teeth. On its head it wore a Tyrolean fedora tipped a bit to one side. This and the mustache gave it an aristocratic, though shabby, appearance.

“Baron Bloodshed fallen on hard times,” Mr. Blake observed.

Chapter 4

He held out a handful of crocuses: small lighted cups of white and lavender and yellow. “They’re all over!” he said triumphantly, feeling as if he had invented them. 

Mrs. Blake took the little bunch of flowers. The bird sang. The chandelier chimed softly as air moved in the room, and then the sunlight caught it and all the many lusters blazed and dazzled.

“Oh, I think we’re going to love this house,” said Mrs. Blake.

“Going to? I love it already,” Foster declared.

“So do I, I’m crazy about it,” Portia agreed, giving her brother a hug before he could defend himself.

Chapter 5

Portia thought of the dumbwaiter and the sheeplady, and Baron Bloodshed, and the crystal chandelier, and all the other curious or lovely things they had discovered.

“What a place!” she said thoughtfully. “You know that this house is, Mother? Daddy? It is a house of astonishment!”

Chapter 6

Mrs. Blake drew in her breath. So did Aunt Hilda.

“Duncan Phyfe!” exclaimed Mrs. Blake, in the low voice of awe.

“Duncan who? I don’t see anybody,” Foster said.

“Chippendale!” exclaimed Aunt Hilda. “Can it really be? But it is, it is! Oh, Barbara, look! Queen Anne!”

Portia and Julian wondered if their mothers had gone mad.

“Are they talking about all those old bureaus and things?” Foster demanded; he could see that they were, and he was disgusted. Downstairs the house was a regular furniture store, it was so full of tables and sofas and chairs and desks; and now here was all this excitement about still more furniture. He could not understand it.  

Chapter 6

“She was very determined. She not only wanted to have her own way; she simply had to have her own way, and because of her strong will and her great wealth she very often got it. Nature, weather particularly, was a severe trial to her because it simply would not comply or submit. When we had bad spells of rain or cold, my father said it must be harder on Mrs. Brace-Gideon than anybody because she couldn’t do a thing about it. She couldn’t write to the management or to the New York Times. She couldn’t fire anybody or bribe anybody. She, with all her money, had to live through bad weather just like the beggar in his hut. 

Chapter 7

Above the mantel hung a portrait of Mrs. Brace-Gideon; a well-corseted lady with a pink, opinionated face. She was sitting bolt upright in a chair, wearing an embroidered gown and holding a fan.

“And there she is going to stay,” said Mrs. Blake. “Because in her way, and although she could never know it, Mrs. Brace-Gideon has been a fairy godmother to this family.”

Chapter 7

“What’s that bird, Jule? That sort of sad one?” 

Julian listened. “White-throated sparrow,” he told her. Honestly, that boy knows everything, Portia thought, but she didn’t say so. 

“I wish it had a prettier name.” She sighed. “Hear how pretty it sounds.”

“One’s alright, maybe . . . yes, it sounds nice, it really does . . . but a bunch of them together can drive you nuts.”

There was never more than one, though, all that month, and every day Portia listened for its song. It meant something special to her, perhaps because it was the little music of this first lovely morning.

Chapter 8 

The fork-tailed birds, azure blue in the sunlight, swooped and curved in and out of the tottering cupola that crowned the decaying mansion. They used the air as fishes use a river; they seemed to swing and spin effortlessly on invisible currents. 

“If I had to be a bird, I’d be a swallow,” Foster said. “They have the best time flying. They look as if they do.”

“If you were a bird, you’d have to eat bugs,” Davey told him. “You’d have to eat worms. You’d like to eat worms. Oig. If anybody told me I had to be a bird, I wouldn’t.”

Chapter 8

Portia lay thinking about the club. When they were through with the cleaning, and they almost were, they would decorate it with the things from the Villa Caprice: the painting of a starchily dressed young lady swinging on a crescent moon; the Tiffany glass lampshade (they had no lamp in the club, but if they turned the shade upside down it would look like a vase, and it was a beautiful thing: all the colors of the rainbow, melted). They also had been given the cast-iron pug dog with which Mrs. Brace-Gideon had felled the burglar, and the procession of teakwood elephants, and many other treasures. When everything was in place, Portia would go out and pick a big bouquet of roses and iris, and that would be the finishing touch. 

Chapter 9 

Happy and absorbed, they sat cross-legged on the floor, taking out bundle after bundle. Outside of a museum they had never seen such shells: they were shaped like fans, lockets, towers, pinwheels, hearts, trumpets. They were pleated and patterned, tinted with pink, rose, crimson, yellow, mother-of-pearl; there were several pairs that looked as if they had petals and that were colored like dahlias.

Chapter 9

At this moment, staring beyond him, Portia gasped. Footsteps were sounding slowly on the attic stairs, and just above the level of the attic floor appeared the helmet of an armored knight. 

“Oh, Jule, oh Jule,” she whispered, grasping his arm; and then she wished she hadn’t. How she wished she hadn’t! Because below the shining headdress of Sir Lancelot was the figure of her brother Foster, sloppily attired in blue jeans and a grassstained T-shirt.

“When Knighthood Was in Flower,” commented Julian, kindly ignoring his cousin’s moment of panic.

Chapter 10

He and Portia were tramping along the soaked drive toward the road to Gone-Away. The rain had stopped, but one felt it had only taken the time to draw a breath or two before it began again. The clouds hung low and wet, and when the small breeze stirred, every tree shook water down. 

“I like this day,” Julian said. “But I don’t see why I do.” 

The woods looked mysterious and dark, particularly where the honeysuckle had woven its canopies among the branches; the roadside was edged thickly with the green umbrellas of May-apple leaves; and here and there, like a queer bell with a clapper, stood a jack-in-the-pulpit, lonely and alert.

Chapter 10

“After a while I put the shell to my own ear, and sure enough it seemed as if I could really hear the soft roar of surf on a distant reef; and when my dreams began again, they were all about the cool, clear water of the lagoon and the fishes drifting and the sea ferns waving, and I really believe, I really do, that that shell and the dreams it gave me helped me to recover.” 

Chapter 11

Julian had named him, though Portia had planned to. He had just scooped the kitten up in his hand and said: “Here you go, Mousnick,” and the name had stuck.

Everybody in the family liked him, and Gulliver and Othello did not mind him. As for Portia, whenever she looked at him, her heart melted. 

Chapter 11

Mr. Payton, in the lead, fought his way through hazel bushes.

“It’s clearing ahead,” he called encouragingly, and in a moment they heard him give an exclamation of pleasure.

“Well, by Jove. Just look at that! A sight for sore eyes, Philosophers, and the same, exactly the same, as it was more than sixty years ago!”

The quarry held deep water in its cup: a little lake that lay still as a jewel, clear as a jewel, without a breath of air to wrinkle its surface. On this scorching noonday it was indeed a sight for sore eyes.

Chapter 12

The Villa Caprice continued to offer surprises: certain tall spikey plants near the house turned out to be lilies: great freckled fragrant ones. A drawer in the library desk was discovered to be full of jigsaw puzzles, dominoes, playing cards, and a chess set. Some surprises were not so pleasant: the leak that appeared in the dining room; the peculiar temperament of the bathroom plumbing; the fact that the drawing-room fireplace smoked in rainy weather.

Chapter 13

Outdoors the sound of crickets shimmered in the air; everywhere, all over the summer land. The bright moon was small in the sky; it lighted up the edges of the clouds that were swimming toward it. A small soft wind moved forward, and the trees, dry with August, rustled their leaves and whispered.

Julian hurried along the drive. Moon patches dappled the ground, moving now as wind stirred the branches above. The honeysuckle trees were frightening at night; they looked like stooping figures: old soldiers, giants, in great dragging cloaks. 

Chapter 13

“I’ll never forget this night, man,” Tom said. “Wait till we tell the kids: a real live ghost story.”

“A real live goat story, you mean, and Uncle Sam’s not the only goat,” said Julian with a weary yawn. “I don’t think anything makes you so tired as being good and scared and then getting over it.”

Chapter 14

Portia tugged at the handle of the little cabinet door.

“You should have seen Jule searching for Mrs. Brace-Gideon’s safe in here. In a bathroom, imagine! Honestly!”

“Honestly,” echoed Lucy.

“Now what’s the mater with this door? The rainstorm’s made everything stick all over again.” 

She gave the handle a mighty yank, and to her infinite amazement the whole cabinet swung forward; swung outward toward her from the wall like a heavy little door, which is exactly what it was.

And there behind it was the safe.

Chapter 15

It was a peculiar gathering to assemble in anybody’s bathroom: two pretty women, five biggish children, assorted; five smallish ones, boys, wearing war feathers; one elderly lady dressed in the fashion of the Gay Nineties; one elderly gentleman with a distinguished beard and clothes not much more recent. Also two dogs and one small kitten. Though the room was large, it wasn’t really large enough. The Indians obligingly removed their shoes and stood in the bathtub.

“Now,” said Julian.

They waited breathlessly.

Chapter 15

There were necklaces of paste and pinchbeck and jet and amber; there were gold earrings and silver ones, and ones made out of coral and of turquoise. There were bracelets woven of gold wire, and many brooches, and fine-link chains and lockets of gold and onyx. There were seed pearls all gone black with age, and cold jade beads from which the silken cord had rotted away. Many of the things were beautiful, and some were ruined. All were very old.

Chapter 16

“Oh, tell them, Paul, do tell them! I can’t keep the secret one more minute!”

“What secret?” Portia demanded, already joyfully suspecting.

“What secret, Daddy? cried Foster, jumping. Gulliver barked.

“How would you like to live here all year round?” asked their father.

How would they like it! The mere thought made them jerk and prance and squeal!

“Because I think I’m going to work on the paper with Uncle Jake and write my book on the side. So that would mean we’d have to live here all the time.”

Chapter 16

“Amberside,” Mrs. Blake said to Mr. Blake. “Amberside the second; but we’ll leave off ‘the second.’ Doesn’t it sound nice, though? ‘Mr. and Mrs. Paul Bannister Blake who live at Amberside with their daughter and their son and their dog and their cat’!”

So at last the new old house had a new old name to be called by.

*Rip Van Winkle by Washington Irving

p. 9

He inherited, however, but little of the martial character of his ancestors. I have observed that he was a simple, good-natured man; he was, moreover, a kind neighbor, and an obedient, hen-picked husband. Indeed, to the latter circumstance might be owing that meekness of spirit which gained him such universal popularity; for those men are most apt to be obsequious and conciliating abroad, who are under the discipline of shrews at home.

P. 13

Poor Rip was at last reduced almost to despair; and his only alternative, to escape from the labor of the farm and clamor of his wife, was to take a gun in hand and stroll away into the woods. Here he would sometimes seat himself at the foot of a tree, and share the contents of his wallet with Wolf, with whom he sympathized as a fellow-sufferer in persecution.

p. 20

What seemed particularly odd to Rip was, that though these folks were evidently amusing themselves, yet they maintained the gravest of faces, the most mysterious silence, and were, withal, the most melancholy party of pleasure he had ever witnessed. Nothing interrupted the stillness of the scene but the noise of the balls, which whenever they rolled, echoed along the mountains like rumbling peals of thunder.

p. 24

He entered the house, which to tell the truth, Dame Van Winkle had always kept in neat order. It was empty, forlorn, and apparently abandoned. This desolateness overcame all his connubial fears – he called loudly for his wife and children – the lonely chambers rang for a moment with his voice, and then all again was silence.

p. 29

Rip looked, and behold a precise counterpart of himself, as he went up the mountain: apparently as lazy, and certainly as ragged. The poor fellow was now completely confounded. He doubted his own identity, and whether he was himself or another man. In the midst of his bewilderment, the man in the cocked hat demanded who he was, and what was his name?

p. 31

To make a long story short, the company broke up, and returned to the more important concerns of the election. Rip’s daughter took him home to live with her; she had a snug, well-furnished house, and a stout cheery farmer for a husband, whom Rip recollected for one of the urchins that used to climb upon his back. As to Rip’s son and heir, who was the ditto of himself, seen leaning against a tree, he was employed to work on the farm; but evinced an hereditary disposition to attend to anything else but his business.
*Robinson Crusoe by Daniel Defoe 

Chapter 1

Being the third son of the family, and not trained for any trade, my head began to be filled with rambling thoughts.  My father, who was very old, had planned for me to study law.  But I would be satisfied with nothing but going to sea.  I went so strongly against the will of my father and all the begging of my mother and other friends that it was as if I was drawn to the life of misery which awaited me.

Chapter 2

This was the only successful voyage in all my adventures, thanks to the integrity and honesty of my friend the captain—who taught me mathematics, the rules of navigation, how to keep an account of the ship’s course, and how to take an observation.  As he took delight to teach me, I took delight to learn, and this voyage made me both a sailor and a merchant.  I brought home five pounds nine ounces of gold dust, which yielded me in London at my return almost three hundred pounds, and this filled me with the ambition that completed my ruin.

Chapter 3

The treatment we received was not as dreadful as I first feared, nor was I carried away to the Emperor of Morocco as the rest of our men were, but was kept by the pirate captain as his prize slave, being young and able.  I was overwhelmed by this surprising change of my circumstances from a merchant to a miserable slave, and now I recalled my father’s warning to me.  This was but a taste of the misery I was to go through, as will appear later in my story.

Chapter 4

As we came nearer and nearer the shore, the land looked more frightful than the sea.  After we had gone about a league and a half, a raging, mountain-like wave came rolling up behind us, and took us with such a fury that it overturned the boat.  We were separated from the boat as well as from one another, and had no time to cry, ”O God!” for we were all swallowed up in a moment.

That wave carried me a long way toward the shore, and having spent itself, went back and left me almost upon dry land, though half dead with the water I took in.

Chapter 5

When I came down from my apartment in the tree, the first thing I found was the small boat, which lay as the wind and the sea had tossed it upon the sand about two miles away. I soon found that there was an inlet about half a mile wide blocking my way, and I decided to try to reach the ship first, in search of provisions.

A little after noon the sea was calm, and the tide ebbed so far out that I could walk within a quarter mile of the ship.  This increased my grief, for I saw that if we had stayed on board we all would have made it safe to shore, and I would not be left here miserably alone.

Chapter 6

What would have been my case, had I been left in the condition in which I first came on shore, without the essentials for life?  “What would I have done without a gun,” I said aloud, “without ammunition, without any tools to make anything or to work with, without clothes, bedding, a tent, or any manner of covering?”  I had all these in sufficient quantity, and was in a fair way to provide for myself when my ammunition was gone.  I was able to see how I could carry on without any want as long as I lived.

Chapter 7

I made my table and chair out of the short pieces of boards that I brought on my raft from the ship.  But when I had made boards from trees, I made large shelves all along one side of my cave, to lay all my tools, nails, and iron-work so that I might get al them easily.  I knocked hooks into the wall of the rock to hang my guns and anything else that would hang up.  I had everything so ready at hand that it was a great pleasure to see all my goods in such order, and especially to find my collection so great.

Chapter 8

It is impossible to express my astonishment and confusion on this occasion.  I had few thoughts of religion in my head and had taken everything that happened to me as chance—or, as we rightly say, what pleases God—without inquiring into the place of Providence in these things, or His order in governing events in the world.  But after I saw parley grow there, it startled me, and I began to wonder if God had miraculously caused this grain to grow for my sustenance in that miserable place.

Chapter 9

What I had learned from the good instruction of my father had been worn out by eight years of seafaring wickedness and a constant association with men like myself. I don not remember that I had, in all that time, one thought that so much as tended to look upwards toward God, or inwards to consider my ways.  A certain stupidity of soul, without desire for good or awareness of evil, had entirely overwhelmed me. I was all that the most hardened sailors are thought to be, not having the least sense, either of the fear of God in danger or of thankfulness to God in safety.

Chapter 10

I asked myself, “Have I not been delivered, and wonderfully too, from the sickness that was so frightful?”  God had delivered me, but I had not glorified Him.  If I had not been thankful for that as a deliverance, how could I expect greater deliverance?

This touched my heart very much, and  immediately I kneeled and gave God thanks aloud for my recovery from my sickness.

Chapter 11

I saw an abundance of parrots and wanted to catch one, if possible, to tame it and teach it to speak to me.  I did eventually catch a young parrot.  I knocked it down with a stick and brought it home, but it was some years before I could make him speak.  At last I taught him to call me by my name.

Chapter 12

Thus I began my third year, and in general I was seldom idle.   This is how I spent most of my time: First, my duty to God and reading the Scriptures, three times every day; second, going abroad with my gun for food, which generally took three hours every morning when it did not rain; and third, curing, preserving, and cooking what I had killed or caught.  These took up much of the day.

Chapter 13

It is no wonder that all these things took up most of the third year of my time here, for I also had my new harvest and animals to manage.  I reaped my grain in its season and carried it home as well as I could, and stored it in the ear in my large baskets, till I had time to rub the grain loose with my hands.

Chapter 14

I frequently sat down to my food with thankfulness and admired the hand of God’s providence, which had spread my table in the wilderness.  I learned to look more upon the bright side of things and less upon the dark side, and to concentrate on what I enjoyed rather than what I lacked.  Some people cannot enjoy what God has given them because they are looking at something that He has not given them.  All our discontents about what we want spring from the lack of thankfulness for what we have.

I have mentioned that I saved the skins of all the four-footed creatures that I  killed, and I had hung them up stretched out with sticks in the sun.  Some became dry and hard, but others were very useful.  The first things I mad of these was a great cap for my head, with the hair on the outside to repel the rain.  This worked so well that I made myself a suit of clothes out of the skins” a vest and knee-length breeches, both very loose, for they were intended to keep me cool rather than warm.

Chapter 15

I cannot say that for the next five years anything extraordinary happened to me.  I lived on just as before.  Besides my yearly labor of planting barley and rice, and drying my raisins, and my daily labor of going out with my gun, I had one more labor—to make another canoe, which at last I finished.

Chapter 16

This observation convinced me that I had nothing to do but to observe the ebbing and the flowing of the tide, and I might safely bring my boat around the island again.  But when I began to think of doing that, I felt too much terror.  Instead, I decided that I would make myself another canoe; and  so have one for one side of the island, and one for the other.   

Chapter 17

One day at about noon, on my way to my boat, I saw the print of a man’s bare foot on the shore, very plain in the sand.  I stood like one thunderstruck, or as if I had seen a ghost.  I listened, I looked round me, I could hear nothing, nor see anything.  I went up to a higher spot, to look farther.  I went up and down the shore, but I could see only that one.

Thus fear of danger is ten thousand times more terrifying than danger itself when we can see it; and anxiety is much worse than the evil which we are anxious about.  I was like Saul, the complained not only that the Philistines were upon him, but that God had forsaken him.  I did not calm myself by crying to God in my distress, and resting upon His providence, as I had done before.

My confusion kept me awake all night but in the morning I fell asleep exhausted, slept very soundly, and waked much better.  And now I reasoned that this island, which was so pleasant, fruitful, and close to the mainland, was not so entirely abandoned as I might imagine, and that there might sometimes come boats from shore.  I had lived here fifteen years now, and had not met with the least shadow of any people yet.  If at any time they should land here, it was probable they went away again as son as they possibly could.

Chapter 18

On the way, I looked up.  With a flood of tear, I gave God thanks that I had not been born among such dreadful creatures as these.  I gave thanks, above all, that I had the knowledge of Himself, and the hope of His blessing—a joy that outweighed all the misery I had suffered or could suffer.

I realized that these wretches never came to this island in search of what they could get, evidently not seeking, not wanting, or not expecting, anything here.  I had been here now almost eighteen years and never saw the least footsteps of a human creature before; and I might be here eighteen more years entirely concealed from them.

Chapter 19 

 How wonderfully we are rescued when we know nothing of it.  Sometimes, when we might go this way or that way, a secret hint shall direct us this way although we intended to go that way.  Sometimes everything tells us to go the other way, we a strange impression, from we know not where, causes us to go this way’ and if we had gone that way as we intended, we should have been ruined and lost.  I finally realized this and made it a strict rule to never fail to obey my intuition.  ‘Tis never to late to be wise.

The place was the most delightful cavity or grotto one could find, though perfectly dark.  The floor was dry and level and had a sort of small loose gravel upon it.  The only difficulty was the small entrance, which suited my purposes perfectly.   This is where I would hide most of any weapons and ammunition.

Chapter 20

I immediately figured that this must be some ship in distress, and that they had fired these guns as signals for help.  Although I could not help them, perhaps they might help me; so I brought together all the dry wood I could get quickly, and set it on fire upon the hill.  The wood was dry and blazed freely although the wind blew very hard, so that I was certain, if there was any such thing as a ship, they must see it.  

Thus, what is one man’s safety is another man’s destruction.  It seems these men, whoever they were, had been driven upon the rocks in the night.  After that, several things could have happened to the.  Perhaps they saw my fire and perished while trying to get to shore in a small boat.

Chapter 21

I didn’t consider what I should do with myself when I got there, because I was so excited by the notion of going to the mainland.  I felt that only death could be worse than my present condition.  I might come to some inhabited country, or some Christian ship that might take me in; and if worse came to worst, I could die and put an end to all my miseries at once.  Please understand that all this was the fruit of a disturbed mind made desperate by the disappointments of the wreck.

Chapter 22

I beckoned, and he came nearer and nearer, kneeling down every ten or twelve steps, in acknowledgement for my saving his life.  I smiled and beckoned to him to come still nearer.  At length he came close to me, and then he kneeled down, and laid his head upon the ground, and taking me by the foot, set my foot upon his head.  He seemed to be swearing to be my slave forever. 

After about half and hour, he waked again, and came out to the cave to me, for I had been milking my goats.  He came running to me, laying himself down again upon the ground, withal possible signs of a humble, thankful disposition.  I understood him and let him know I was very well pleased with him.  I began to teach him to speak to me and let him know his name should be Friday, which was the day I saved his life.

Chapter 23

This was my most pleasant year on the island.  Friday began to talk pretty well, and understand the names of almost everything I had occasion to call for and of every place I had to send him, and to talk a great deal to me.  Besides the pleasure of talking to him, I had a great pleasure in the fellow himself.  His simple honesty appeared to me more and more every day, and we really loved each other.

I read the Bible and let him know, as well as I could, the meaning of what I read; and he, by his serious questions, made me a much better Bible student than I should ever have been on my own.  Reading the Bible had caused me to repent for my sins, trust my Savior, reform my character, and obey God’s commands, all without any human teacher.  So the same plain Bible teaching turned this savage into such a Christian that I have known few equal to him in my life.

Chapter 24

After arming us, I took my spyglass and went up the hill to see what I could discover.  There were twenty-one savages, three prisoners, and three canoes.  They had landed nearer to my creek than before, where the thick wood came almost down to the sea.  I came back to Friday and told him I was going to go down and kill them all, and asked him to stand by me.

Chapter 25

As Friday approached, I told him to inform the man that he was rescued.  But when Friday looked into his face, it would have moved any one to tears to have seen how he kissed him, hugged him, cried, laughed, jumped about, danced, sang, then cried again, then jumped about again, like a crazy creature.  It was a long time before I could make him tell me what was the matter; but when he could control himself, he told me it was his father.

Chapter 26

I sent Friday with the captain’s mate to the boat, to bring away the oars and sail, which they did.  By and by three straggling men, who were (fortunately for them) napping elsewhere, came back.  Seeing their captain, who had been their prisoner, now their conqueror, they surrendered, and so our victory was complete.

Chapter 27

When we had talked awhile, the captain had his men bring me gifts of food and drink as if I were staying on the island instead of leaving soon.  What was a thousand times more useful to me than the food, he brought me six clean new shirts, six very good neckcloths, two pair of gloves, one pair of shoes and stockings, a hat and a very good suit of his own that was almost new.  In a word, he clothed me from head to foot.  I was delighted but when I put the clothes on I found them very uncomfortable at first.

Secret Garden by Frances Hodgson Burnett 

Chapter 1 – There’s No One Left

When she awakened she lay and stared at the wall. The house was perfectly still. She had never known it to be so silent before. She heard neither voices nor footsteps, and wondered if everybody had got well of the cholera and the trouble was over. She wondered also who would take care of her now her Ayah was dead.

Chapter 2 – Mistress Mary Quite Contrary

Mary sat in her corner of the railway carriage and looked plan and fretful. She had nothing to read or to look at, and she had folded her thin little black-gloved hands in her lap. Her black dress made her look yellower that ever, and her limp light hair straggled from under black crêpe hat.

Chapter 3 – Across the Moor

The carriage lamps shed a yellow light on the rough-looking road which seemed to be cut through bushes and low-growing things which ended in the great expanse of dark apparently spread out before and around them. A wind was rising and making a singular, wild, low, rushing sound.

Chapter 4 – Martha

It was not the custom to say “please” and “thank you” and Mary had always slapped her Ayah in the face when she was angry. She wondered a little what this girl would do if one slapped her in the face. She was a round, rosy, good-natured-looking creature, but she had a sturdy way which made Mistress Mary wonder if she might not even slap back—if the person who slapped her was only a little girl.

Chapter 5 – The Cry in the Corridor

Mary did not know what “wutherin’” meant until she listened, and then she understood. It must mean that hollow shuddering sort of roar which rushed round and round the house as if the giant no one could see was buffeting it and beating at the walls and windows to try to break in.

Chapter 6 – “There Was Some One Crying—There Was”

In one room, which looked like a lady’s sitting-room, the hangings were all embroidered velvet, and in a cabinet were about a hundred little elephants made of ivory. They were of different sizes, and some had their mahouts or palanquins on their backs. Some were much bigger than the others and some were so tiny that they seemed only babies.

Chapter 7 – The Key of the Garden

She chirped, and talked, and coaxed and he hopped, and flirted his tail and twittered. It was as if he were talking. His red waistcoat was like satin and he puffed his tiny breast out and was so fine and so grand and so pretty that it was really as if he were showing her how important and like a human person a robin could be.

Chapter 8 – The Robin Who Showed the Way

Mary had stepped close to the robin, and suddenly the gust of wind swung aside some loose ivy trails, and more suddenly still she jumped toward it and caught it in her hand. This she did because she had seen something under it—a round knob which had been covered by the leaves hanging over it. It was the knob of a door.

Chapter 9 – The Strangest House

The robin was tremendously busy. He was very much pleased to see gardening begun on his own estate. He had often wondered at Ben Weatherstaff. Where gardening is done all sorts of delightful things to eat are turned up with the soil. Now here was this new kind of creature who was not half Ben’s size and yet had had the sense to come into his garden and begin at once.

Chapter 10 – Dickon

“Come with me and I’ll show you,” she said. 

She led him round the laurel path and to the walk where the ivy grew thickly. Dickon followed her with a queer, almost pitying, look on his face. He felt as if he were being led to look at some strange bird’s nest and must move softly. 

Chapter 11 – The Nest of the Missel Thrush

Mary, kneeling by him holding the seeds, looked at him and stopped frowning.

“Dickon,” she said, “you are as nice as Martha said you were. I like you, and you make the fifth person. I never thought I should like five people.”

Dickson sat up on his heels as Martha did when she was polishing the grate. He did look funny and delightful, Mary thought, with his round eyes and red cheeks and happy looking turned-up nose.

Chapter 12 – “Might I Have a Bit of Earth?”

Mr. Craven got up and began to walk slowly across the room.

“A bit of earth,” he said to himself, and Mary thought that somehow she must have reminded him of something. When he stopped and spoke to her his dark eyes looked almost soft and kind.

“You can have as much earth as you want,” he said.

Chapter 13 – “I am Colin”

The boy had a sharp, delicate face the color of ivory and he seemed to have eyes too big for it. He had also a lot of hair which tumbled over his forehead in heavy locks and made his thin face seem smaller. He looked like a boy who had been ill, but he was crying more as if he were tired and cross that as if he were in pain.

Chapter 14 – A Young Rajah

“I am thinking about two things.”

“What are they? Sit down and tell me.”

“This is the first one,” said Mary, seating herself on the big stool. “Once in India I saw a boy who was a Rajah. He had rubies and emeralds and diamonds stuck all over him. He spoke to his people just as you spoke to Martha. Everybody had to do everything he told them—in a minute. I think they would have been killed if they hadn’t.”

Chapter 15 – Nest Building

The week had not seemed long. She had spent hours of every day with Colin in his room, talking about Rajahs or gardens or Dickon and the cottage on the moor. They had looked at the splendid books and pictures and sometimes Mary had read things to Colin, and sometimes he had read a little to her.

Chapter 16 – “I Won’t,” Said Mary

Mary flew into a fine passion. She could fly into a passion without making a noise. She just grew sour and obstinate and did not care what happened. 

“If you send Dickon away, I’ll never come into this room again!” she retorted.

“You’ll have to if I want you,” said Colin.

“I won’t!” said Mary.

Chapter 17 – A Tantrum

“I can’t stop!” he gasped and sobbed. “I can’t—I can’t!”

“You can!” shouted Mary. “Half that ails you is hysterics and temper—just hysterics—hysterics—hysterics!” and she stamped each time she said it.

“I felt the lump—I felt it,” choked out Colin. “I knew I should. I shall have a hunch on my back and I shall die,” and he began to writhe again and turned on his face and sobbed and wailed but he didn’t scream.

Chapter 18 – “Tha’ Munnot Waste No Time”

He was a tiny little shaggy moor pony with thick locks hanging over his eyes and with a pretty face and a nuzzling velvet nose. He was rather thin with living on moor grass but he was as tough and wiry as if the muscle in his little legs had been made of steel springs.

Chapter 19 –“It Has Come!”

“Open the window!” he added, laughing half with joyful excitement and half at his own fancy. “Perhaps we may hear golden trumpets!”

And though he laughed, Mary was at the window in a moment and in a moment more it was opened wide and freshness and scents and birds’ songs were pouring through.

Chapter 20 – “I Shall Live Forever”

“That morning when you ran in and said ‘It’s come! It’s come!’ you made me feel quite queer. It sounded as if things were coming with a great procession and big bursts and wafts of lovely people and children with garlands and branches with blossoms on them, everyone laughing and dancing and crowding and playing on pipes.”

Chapter 21 – Ben Weatherstaff

They drew the chair under the plum-tree, which was snow-white with blossoms and musical with bees. It was like king’s canopy, a fairy king’s. There were flowering cherry-trees near and apple-trees whose buds were pink and white, and here and there one had burst open wide. Between the blossoming branches of the canopy bits of blue sky looked down like wonderful eyes.

Chapter 22 – When the Sun Went Down

There was a queer mixture of crabbed tenderness and shrewd understanding in his manner. Mary had poured out speech as rapidly as she could as they had come down the Long Walk. The chief thing to be remembered, she had told him, was that Colin was getting well—getting well.

Chapter 23 – Magic

And the roses—the roses! Rising out of the grass, tangled around the sun-dial, wreathing the tree trunks and hanging from their branches, climbing up the walls and spreading over them with long garlands falling cascades—they came alive day by day, hour by hour.

Chapter 24 – “Let Them Laugh”

She was quite right, the comfortable wonderful mother creature—and she had never been more so than when she said their “play actin’” would be their joy. Colin and Mary found it one of their most thrilling sources of entertainment. The idea of protecting themselves from suspicion had been unconsciously suggested to them first by the puzzled nurse and then by Dr. Craven himself.

Chapter 25 – The Curtain

The first moment he set his dew-bright black eye on Dickon he knew he was not a stranger but a sort of robin without beak or feathers. He could speak robin (which is a quite distinct language not be mistaken for any other). To speak robin to a robin is like speaking French to a Frenchman.

Chapter 26 – “It’s Mother!”

“Even when I was ill I wanted to see you,” he said, “you and Dickon and the secret garden. I’d never wanted to see any one or anything before.”

The sight of his uplifted face brought about a sudden change in her own. She flushed and corners of her mouth shook and a mist seemed to sweep over her eyes.

Chapter 27 – In the Garden

Much more surprising things can happen to any one who, when a disagreeable or discouraged thought comes into his mind, just has the sense to remember in time and push it out by putting in an agreeable determinedly courageous one. Two things cannot be in one place.

“Where you tend a rose, my lad,

A thistle cannot grow.”
Sign of the Beaver by Elizabeth George Speare

Chapter 1

Matt stood at the edge of the clearing for some time after his father had gone out of sight among the trees.  There was just a chance that his father might turn back, that perhaps he had forgotten something or had some last word of advice.  This was one time Matt reckoned he wouldn’t mind the advice, no matter how many times he had heard it before.

Chapter 2

And he just didn’t like the feeling he had sometimes that someone was watching him.  He couldn’t prove it.  He could never see anything more than a quick shadow that might be a moving branch.  But he couldn’t shake off the feeling that someone was there.

Chapter 3

He rushed back to the door and on to the edge of the forest. It was no use.  No way of telling which way the man had taken or how long he had been on his way while Matt slept.  Ben was gone, and so was the rifle.

Chapter 4

Somehow he had neglected to bar the door securely.  Well, the damage was done, and the bear would be half a mile away by now.  Helpless with fury at his own carelessness, he stood for some time in the middle of the cabin, unable to pull his wits together.

Chapter 5

He was alone; the Indians had gone.  He lay, too tired and sore to figure out how he came to be there, knowing only that the nightmare of whirling bees and choking water was past and that he was safe.

Chapter 6

“Nkweniss hunt. Bring white boy bird and rabbit. White boy teach Attean white man’s signs.”

“You mean – I should teach him to read?”

“Good.  White boy teach Attean what book say.”

Chapter 7

“How long Attean learn signs in book?”

“It will take some time,” Matt said.  “There are a lot of long words in this book.”

“One moon?”

“One month?  Of course not.  It might take a year.”

With one swift jerk of his arm, Attean knocked the book from the table.

Chapter 8

Presently Matt slowed down.  It was discouraging, reading to a wooden post.  But Attean spoke at once.

   “White man not smart like Indian,” he said scornfully.  “Indian not need thing from ship.  Indian make all thing he need.”

Chapter 9

He had never questioned that story.  Like Robinson Crusoe, he had thought it natural and right that the wild man should be the white man’s slave.  Was there perhaps another possibility?  The thought was new and troubling.

Chapter 10

“What did you say to that fish you threw back?”  Matt was still curious.

“I say to him not to tell other fish,” Attean said seriously. “Not scare away.”

“You actually think a fish can understand?”

Attean shrugged.  “Fish know many thing,” he replied.

Chapter 11

Now Matt remembered how Attean had paused every so often, sometimes to break off a branch that hung in their path, once to nudge aside a stone with the toe of his moccasin.  He had done these things so quickly that Matt had paid no mind.  He saw now that Attean had carefully been leaving markers.

Chapter 12

As fast as he could make new arrows he lost them.  But he was determined.  He pegged a target of birchbark against a tree and shot at it grimly, his arrows coming closer and closer with every day’s practice.

Chapter 13

He couldn’t understand the Indian code that left an animal to suffer just because of a mark on a tree.  And he was fed up with Attean’s scorn for white men.  It was ridiculous to think that he and Attean could ever really be friends.

Chapter 14

“Gluskabe.  Mighty hunter.  Come from north.  Very strong.  He make wind blow. Make thunder.  He make all animal.  Make Indian.”

Chapter 15

But Matt would have liked just a small share of that meat, or even one of those big claws to show his father.  Then he remembered that Indian boy’s tribute.  He had moved fast, like an Indian.  That would have to be share enough.

Chapter 16

Once he caught his breath, Matt found it simple to follow the step. His confidence swelled as the rhythm throbbed through his body, loosening his tight muscles.  He was suddenly filled with excitement and happiness.  His own heels pounded against the hard ground.  He was one of them.

Chapter 17

The war with the French was over.  The Indians and the English had made peace.  But the hatred -- would that ever be over?  For all he and Attean walked through the woods together, there was a wall between them that Attean would never forget.

Chapter 18

Without speaking, the woman tended him, washing his hand with clean warm water.  From a painted gourd she scooped a pungent-smelling paste and spread it over the wound, then bound his hand with a length of clean blue cotton.

Chapter 19

Could a dog caught in a trap, even though he snapped out in pain and fear, sense that someone was trying to help him?  Could the dog remember that terrible ordeal at all? You couldn’t read a dog’s mind. But just possibly a dog could read a white boy’s mind.

Chapter 19

He had passed some sort of test.  Not by any means with flying colors; he had plenty of bruises to remind him of that.  But at least he had not disgraced Attean.  He felt satisfied.  And for the first time since his father had left him, he did not feel alone in the forest.

Chapter 20

Every Indian boy must have a manitou, he said, before he could take his place as one of the men of his family.  He had to find it for himself.  No one could help him.  His grandfather had been training him for many days.  He had had to learn many things.  Now he must make the test.

Chapter 20

If he did all this, if he waited faithfully, one day his manitou would come to him.  Then he could go back to his village.  He would have a new name.  He would be a man and a hunter.

Chapter 21

Close to panic, Matt wanted to run after them.  He wanted to tell them that he had changed his mind. That he would go with them anywhere rather than stay here alone with winter coming on.  But he set his jaw tight and stood where he was.

Chapter 22

How could he tell Attean that there would be white men there too? Still, they said there was no end of land in the west.  He reckoned there must be enough for both white men and Indians.

Chapter 23

Then he set himself a more difficult task, a cradle for the baby. With only an axe and his knife, the work took all his patience.  His first attempts were fit only for kindling.  But when the cradle was done he was proud of it.

Chapter 24

Then he tramped all the way to the pond for the sheer pleasure of it. Coming back through the woods he marveled at his own tracks, like the claw prints of a giant bird. Suddenly he realized that he was happy, as he had never been in the weeks since Attean had gone away. He was no longer afraid of the winter ahead.

Chapter 25

“You’ve done a grown man’s job, son,” he said.  “I’m right proud of you.”  Matt could not speak.  It took his breath away to think that he might have gone with the Indians, that they might have come to an empty cabin and found that all his mother’s fears had come true.  He would never have heard the words his father had just spoken.  This was how Attean had felt, he knew, when he had found his manitou and become a hunter.

Chapter 25

But the old man had been right, too.  More white men were coming.  There would be a town here on the land where the Indians had hunted the caribou and the beaver.  If only he could be sure that the Indians had found a new hunting ground.

Silver Chair by C.S. Lewis

Chapter 1

“Well,“ said Eustace after he had thought hard for a bit.  “I believe that was the sort of thing I was thinking of, though I never did it.  But now that it comes to the point, I’ve an idea that all those circles and things are rather rot.  I don’t think he’d like them.  It would look as if we thought we could make him do things.  But really, we can only ask him.”

Chapter 1

Jill and Eustace gave one glance at each other, dived under the laurels, and began scrambling up the steep, earthy slope of the shrubbery at a speed which did them great credit.  (Owing to the curious methods of teaching at Experiment House, one did not learn much French or Maths or Latin or things of that sort; but one did learn a lot about getting away quickly and quietly when They were looking for one.)

Chapter 1

They had expected to see the grey, heathery slope of the moor going up and up to join the dull autumn sky.  Instead, a blaze of sunshine met them.  It poured through the doorway as the light of a June day pours into a garage when you open the door.  It made the drops of water on the grass glitter like beads and showed up the dirtiness of Jill’s tear-stained face.  And the sunlight was coming from what certainly did look like a different world--what they could see of it.  They saw smooth turf, smoother and brighter than Jill had ever seen before, and blue sky, and, darting to and fro, things so bright that they might have been jewels or huge butterflies.

Chapter 2 

The wood was so still that it was not difficult to decide where the sound was coming from.  It grew clearer every moment and, sooner that she expected, she came to an open glade and saw the stream, bright as glass, running across the turf a stone’s throw away from her.  But although the sight of the water made her feel ten times thirstier than before, she didn’t rush forward and drink.  She stood as still as if she had been turned into stone, with her mouth wide open.  And she had a very good reason; just on this side of the stream lay the lion.

Chapter 2

a) But long before she had got anywhere near the edge, the voice behind her said, “Stand still.  In a moment I will blow.  But, first, remember, remember, remember the signs.  Say them to yourself when you wake in the morning and when you lie down at night, and when you wake in the middle of the night.  And whatever strange things may happen to you, let nothing turn your mind from following the signs.  And secondly, I give you a warning.

b)  Here on the mountain I have spoken to you clearly:  I will not often do so down in Narnia.  Here on the mountain, the air is clear and your mind is clear; as you drop down into Narnia, the air will thicken.  Take great care that it does not confuse your mind.  And the signs which you have learned here will not look at all as you expect them to look, when you meet them there.  That is why it is so important to know them by heart and pay no attention to appearances.  Remember the signs and believe the signs.  Nothing else matters.  And now, daughter of Eve, farewell—“

Chapter 3

“We were sent here by Aslan, “said Eustace in a low voice.

“Tu-whoo, tu-whoo!” said the Owl, ruffling out its feathers.  “This is almost too much for me, so early in the evening.  I’m not quite myself until the sun’s down.”

“And we’ve been sent to find the lost Prince,” said Jill, who had been anxiously waiting to get into the conversation.

Chapter 3

“Oh, shut up,” said Jill impatiently.  “It’s far worse than you think.  We’ve muffed the first Sign.”  Of course Scrubb did not understand this.  Then Jill told him about her conversation with Aslan and the four signs and the task of finding the lost prince which had been laid upon them.

Chapter 4

“I suppose all you chaps--owls, I mean,” said Scrubb, “I suppose you all know that King Caspian the Tenth, in his young days, sailed to the eastern end of the world.  Well, I was with him on that journey:  with him and Reepicheep the Mouse, and the Lord Drinian and all of them.  I know it sounds hard to believe, but people don’t grow older in our world at the same speed as they do in yours.  And what I want to say is this, that I’m the King’s man; and if this parliament of owls is any sort of plot against the King, I’m having nothing to do with it.”

Chapter 4

a) One evening Drinian said to the Prince, “Your highness must soon give over seeking the worm.  There is no true vengeance on a witless brute as there might be on a man.  You weary yourself in vain.”  The Prince answered him, “My Lord, I have almost forgotten the worm these seven days.”

b) Drinian asked him why, if it were so, he rode so continually in the northern woods.  “My Lord,” said the Prince, “I have seen there the most beautiful thing that was ever made.”  “Fair Prince, said Drinian, “of your courtesy let me ride with you tomorrow, that I also may see this fair thing.”  “With a good will, “said Rilian.

Chapter 5

As they drew nearer, the figure turned its head and showed them a long thin face with rather sunken cheeks, a tightly shut mouth, a sharp nose, and no beard.  He was wearing a high, pointed hat like a steeple, with and enormously wide flat brim.  The hair, if it could be called hair, which hung over his large ears was greeny-gray, and each lock was flat rather than round, so that they were like tiny reeds.  His expression was solemn, his complexion muddy, and you could see at once that he took a serious view of life.

Chapter 5

“Oh, yes, I’m coming of course.  Might as well, you see.  I don’t suppose we shall ever see the King back in Narnia, now that he’s once set off for foreign parts; and he had a nasty cough when he left.  Then there’s Trumpkin.  He’s failing fast.  And you’ll find there’ll have been a bad harvest after this terrible dry summer.  And I shouldn’t wonder if some enemy attacked us.  Mark my words.”

Chapter 6

By the time they had stopped off the end of the bridge onto the grass, the two strangers were quite close.  One was a knight in complete armor with his visor down.  His armor and his horse were black; there was no device on his shield and no banneret on his spear.  The other was a lady on a white horse, a horse so lovely that you wanted to kiss its nose and give it a lump of sugar at once.  But the lady, who rode side-saddle and wore a long fluttering dress of dazzling green, was lovelier still.

Chapter 6

They never talked about Aslan, or even about the lost prince, now.  And Jill gave up her habit of repeating the signs over to herself every night and morning.  She said to herself, at first, that she was too tired, but she soon forgot all about it.  And though you might have expected that the idea of having a good time at Harfang would have made them more cheerful, it really made them more sorry for themselves and more grumpy and snappy with each other and with Puddleglum.

Chapter 7

Suddenly she skidded, slid about five feet, and found herself to her horror sliding down into a dark, narrow chasm which seemed that moment to have appeared in front of her.  Half a second later she had reached the bottom.  She appeared to be in a kind of trench or groove, only about three feet wide.  And though she was shaken by the fall, almost the first thing she noticed was the relief of being out of the wind; for the walls of the trench rose high above her.

Chapter 7

“Oh, that was next, was it?” said Puddleglum.  “Now I wonder are you right?  Got ‘em mixed, I shouldn’t wonder.  It seems to me, this hill, this flat place we’re on, is worth stopping to have a look at.  Have you noticed—“

“Oh, Lor!” said Scrubb, “is this a time for stopping to admire the view?  For goodness’ sake let’s get on.”

Chapter 8

a) The rain fell steadily all that evening and all the night, dashing against the windows of the castle, and Jill never heard it but slept deeply, past supper time and past midnight.  And then came the deadest hour of the night and nothing stirred but mice in the house of the giants.  At that hour there came to Jill a dream.  It seemed to her that she awoke in the same room and saw the fire, sunk low and red, and in the firelight the great wooden horse.  And the horse came of its own will, rolling on its wheels across the carpet, and stood at her head.  And now it was no longer a horse, but a lion as big as the horse.  And then it was not a toy lion, but a real lion, The Real Lion, just as she had seen him on the mountain beyond the world’s end. And a smell of all sweet-smelling things there are filled the room. 

b) But there was some trouble in Jill’s mind, though she could not think what it was, and the tears streamed down her face and wet the pillow.  The Lion told her to repeat the signs, and she found that she had forgotten them all.  At that, a great horror came over her.  And Aslan took her up in his jaws (she could feel his lips and his breath but not his teeth) and carried her to the window and made her look out.  The moon shone bright; and written in great letters across the world or the sky (she did not know which) were the words UNDER ME.  After that, the dream faded away, and when she woke, very late the next morning, she did not remember that she had dreamed at all. 

Chapter 9

a) Suddenly Puddleglum turned to them, and his face had gone so pale that you could see the paleness under the natural muddiness of his complexion.  He said:

“Don’t eat another bite.”

“What’s wrong?” asked the other two in a whisper.

“Didn’t you hear what those giants were saying?  ‘That’s a nice tender haunch of venison,’ said one of them.  ‘Then that stag was a liar,’ said another one.  ‘Why?’ said the first one.  ‘Oh,’ said the other.  ‘They say that when he was caught he said, Don’t kill me, I’m tough.  You won’t like me.’”  For a moment Jill did not realize the full meaning of this.  But she did when Scrubb’s eyes opened wide with horror and he said:

“So we’ve been eating a Talking stag.”

b) This discovery didn’t have exactly the same effect on all of them.  Jill, who was new to that world, was sorry for the poor stag and thought it rotten of the giants to have killed him.  Scrubb, who had been in that world before and had at least one Talking beast as his dear friend, felt horrified; as you might feel about a murder.  But Puddleglum, who was Narnian born, was sick and faint, and felt as you would if you found you had eaten a baby.

Chapter 10

“Do they grow here?” Scrubb asked the Warden.  He seemed very surprised at being spoken to, but replied, “No.  They are all beasts that have found their way down by chasms and caves, out of Overland into the Deep Realm.  Many come down, and few return to the sunlit lands.  It is said that they will all wake  at the end of the world.”

Chapter 10

“Don’t you mind him,” said Puddleglum.  “There are no accidents.  Our guide is Aslan; and he was there when the giants Kincaused the letters to be cut, and he knew already all the things that would come of them; including this.”

“This guide of yours must be a long liver, friend,” said the Knight with another of his laughs.

Jill began to find them a little irritating.

“And it seems to me, Sir,” said Puddleglum, “that this lady of yours must be a long liver too, if she remembers the verse as it was when they first cut it.”

Chapter 11

“What?” said the Knight, still laughing and patting her head in a quite infuriating fashion.  “Is our little maid a deep politician?  But never fear, sweetheart.  In ruling that land, I shall do all by the counsel of my Lady, who will than be my Queen too.  Her word will be law to the people we have conquered.”

“Where I come from,” said Jill, who was disliking him more every minute, “they don’t think much of men who are bossed about by their wives.”

Chapter 11

“Once and for all,” said the prisoner, “I adjure you to set me free.  By all fears and all loves, by the bright skies of Overland, by the great Lion, by Aslan himself, I charge you--“

“Oh!” said the three travelers as though they had been hurt.  “It is the sign,” said Puddleglum.  “It was the words of the sign,” said Scrubb more cautiously.  “Oh, what are we to do?” said Jill.

Chapter 12

a) Puddleglum was still fighting hard.  “I don’t know rightly what you all mean by a world,” he said, talking like a man who hasn’t enough air.  “But you can play that fiddle till your fingers drop off, and still you won’t make me forget Narnia; and the whole Overworld too.  We’ll never see it again, I shouldn’t wonder.  You may have blotted it out and turned it dark like this, for all I know.  Nothing more likely.  But I know I was there once.  I’ve seen the sun coming up out of the sea of a morning and sinking behind the mountains at night.  And I’ve seen him up in the midday sky when I couldn’t look at him for brightness.”

b) Puddleglum’s words had a very rousing effect.   The other three all breathed again and looked at one another like people newly awake

“Why there it is!” cried the Prince.  “Of course!  The blessing of Aslan upon this honest Marsh-wiggle,  We have all been dreaming, these last few minutes.  How could we have forgotten it?  Of course we’ve all seen the sun.”  

“By Jove, so we have!” said Scrubb.  “Good for you, Puddleglum!  You’re the only one of us with any sense, I do believe.

Chapter 12

“My royal mother is avenged,” said Rilian presently.  “This is undoubtedly the same worm that I pursued in vain by the fountain in the forest of Narnia, so many years ago.  All these years I have been the slave of my mother’s slayer.  Yet I am glad, gentlemen, that the foul Witch took to her serpent form at last.  It would not have suited well with my heart or with my honor to have slain a woman.  But look to the lady.”  He meant Jill.

Chapter 13

“Doubtless,” said the Prince, “this signifies that Aslan will be our good lord, whether he means us to live or die. And all’s one, for that.  Now, by my counsel, we shall all kneel and kiss his likeness, and then shake hands one with another, as true friends that may shortly be parted.  And then, let us descend into the city and take the adventure that is sent us.”

Chapter 13

“Tell me your name,” said the Prince, “and what you Earthmen are all about today.”

“Oh, please, your Honors, please, kind gentlemen,” whimpered the gnome.  “Promise you will not tell the Queen’s grace anything I say.”

 “The Queen’s grace, as you call her,” said the Prince sternly, “is dead.  I killed her myself.”

“What!” cried the gnome, opening its ridiculous mouth wider and wider in astonishment.  “Dead?  The witch dead?  And by your Honor’s hand?”  It gave a huge sigh of relief and added, “Why then your Honor is a friend!”

Chapter 14

“My father went to the world’s end,” said Rilian thoughtfully.  “It would be a marvelous thing if his son went to the bottom of the world.”

“If your highness wants to see your father while he’s still alive, which I think he’d prefer,” said Puddleglum, “it’s about time we were getting onto that road to the diggings.”

“And I won’t go down that hole, whatever anyone says,” added Jill.

Chapter 14

“By the Lion,” said the Prince, “Eustace is right.  There is a sort of—“

“But it’s not daylight,” said Jill.  “It’s only a cold blue sort of light.”

“Better than nothing, though,” said Eustace.  “Can we get up to it?”

“It’s not right overhead,” said Puddleglum.  “It’s above us, but it’s in the wall that I’ve run into.  How would it be, Pole, if you got on my shoulders and saw whether you could get up to it?”

Chapter 15

“Why the dickens couldn’t you have held her feet?” said Eustace.

“I don’t know, Scrubb,” groaned Puddleglum.  “Born to be a misfit, I shouldn’t wonder.  Fated.  Fated to be Pole’s death, just as I was fated to eat Talking Stag at Harfang.  Not that it isn’t my own fault as well, of course.”

“This is the greatest shame and sorrow that you could have fallen on us,” said the Prince.  “We have sent a brave lady into the hands of enemies and stayed behind in safety.”

“Don’t paint it too black, Sir,” said Puddleglum.  We’re not very safe except for death by starvation in this hole.”

Chapter 15

“Stop, Eustace, stop,” cried Jill.  “They’re all friends.  Can’ you see?  We’ve come up in Narnia.  Everything’s all right.”

Then Eustace did see, and apologized to the Dwarfs (and the Dwarfs said not to mention it), and dozens of thick, hairy, dwarfish hands helped him out just as they had helped Jill out a few minutes before.  Then Jill scrambled up the bank and put her head in at the dark opening and shouted the good news to the prisoners.

Chapter 16

“Ah!  You’ve woken up at last, Daughter of Eve,” he said.  “Perhaps you’d better wake the Son of Adam.  You’ve got to be off in a few minutes and two Centaurs have very kindly offered to let you ride on their backs down to Cair Paravel.”  He added in a lower voice, “Of course you realize it is a most special and unheard-of honor to be allowed to ride a Centaur.  I don’t know that I ever heard of anyone doing it before.  It wouldn’t do to keep them waiting.”

Chapter 16

“I have come,” said a deep voice behind them.  They turned and saw the Lion himself, so bright and real and strong that everything else began at once to look pale and shadowy compared with him.  And in less time than it takes to breathe Jill forgot about the dead King of Narnia and remembered only how she had made Eustace fall over the cliff, and how she had helped to muff nearly all the signs, and about all the snappings and quarrelings.  And she wanted to say “I’m sorry” but she could not speak.  Then the Lion drew them toward him with his eyes, and bent down and touched their pale faces with his tongue, and said:

“Think of that no more.  I will not always be scolding.  You have done the work for which I sent you into Narnia.” 

*Story of Mankind by Hendrick Van Loon (Chp 46-52) 

Chapter 46

As a contrast to the previous chapter, let me tell you what happened in France during the years when the English people were fighting for their liberty. The happy combination of the right man in the right country at the right moment is very rare in History. Louis XIV was a realization of this ideal, as far as France was concerned, but the rest of Europe would have been happier without him.

Chapter 47

In the year 1492, as you know, Columbus discovered America. Early in the year, a Tyrolese by the name of Schnups, traveling as the head of a scientific expedition for the Archbishop of Tyrol, and provided with the best letters of introduction and excellent credit tried to reach the mythical town of Moscow. He did not succeed. When he reached the frontiers of this vast Moscovite state which was vaguely supposed to exist in the extreme Eastern part of Europe, he was firmly turned back. No foreigners were wanted. And Schnups went to visit the heathen Turk in Constantinople, in order that he might have something to report to his clerical master when he came back from his explorations.

Chapter 48

In religious matters, the Tsar tolerated no division of power. There must be no chance of a rivalry between an Emperor and a Pope as had happened in Europe. In the year 1721, Peter made himself head of the Russian Church. The Patriarchate of Moscow was abolished and the Holy Synod made its appearance as the highest source of authority in all matters of the Established Church. 

Chapter 49

The frontier state of Brandenburg had been originally founded by Charlemagne to defend his eastern possessions against raids of the wild Saxon tribes. The Wends, a Slavic tribe which inhabited that region, were subjugated during the tenth century and their market-place, by the name of Brennabor, became the center of and gave its name to the new province of Brandenburg.

Chapter 50

We have seen how, during the sixteenth and the seventeenth centuries, the states of our modern world began to take shape. Their origins were different in almost every case. Some had been the result of the deliberate effort of a single king. Others had happened by chance. Still others had been the result of favorable natural geographic boundaries. But once they had been founded, they had all of them tried to strengthen their internal administration and to exert the greatest possible influence upon foreign affairs.

Chapter 51

During the seventeenth century, some ten small English colonies had been founded between Maine and the Carolinas. They were usually a haven of refuge for some particular sect of English dissenters, such as the Puritans, who in the year 1620 went to New England, or the Quakers, who settled in Pennsylvania in 1681. They were small frontier communities, nestling close to the shores of the ocean, where people had gathered to make a new home and begin life among happier surroundings, far away from royal supervision and interference.

Chapter 52

Before we talk about a revolution it is just as well that we explain just what this word means. In the terms of a great Russian writer (and Russians ought to know what they are talking about in this field) a revolution is ``a swift overthrow, in a few years, of institutions which have taken centuries to root in the soil, and seem so fixed and immovable that even the most ardent reformers hardly dare to attack them in their writings. It is the fall, the crumbling away in a brief period, of all that up to that time has composed the essence of social, religious, political and economic life in a nation.''
Thimble Summer by Elizabeth Enright 

Chapter 1

The barn was huge and old; it lurched to one side like a bus going round a corner.  Some day, when he had enough money, her father was going to build a new one.

Chapter 1

Garnet said good night and tiptoed up the stairs to her room under the eaves.  It was so hot there that the candle in its holder had swooned till it was bent double.

Chapter 1
This morning the thermometer outside the village drug store had pointed a thin red finger to one hundred and ten degrees Fahrenheit. 

It was like being inside a drum. The sky like a bright skin was stretched tight above the valley, and the earth too, was tight and hard with heat. Later, when it was dark, there would be the noise of thunder, as though a great hand beat upon the drum... 

Chapter 2

It would have been fun to be an Indian girl wearing a fringed deerskin dress.  Garnet saw a long, rather bedraggled crow’s feather in the grass and picked it up and stuck it in her hair.

Chapter 2
The road streamed with little rivers the color of coffee and cream. Tiny toads hopped about and Garnet walked carefully so as not to step on them. 

...the rain had stopped and the afternoon sun was shining through a yellow mist. Clear drops of water hung from every leaf and petal, and mourning doves cried softly from all the woods in the valley. Garnet saw a snake move like a drawn ribbon through wet ferns; she saw a caterpillar with dewy fur climbing a mullein stalk, and a snail with this horns out enjoying the damp. 

Chapter 3

The huge oven, open at the top, was crowned with flames of white and purple, and the iron door was red-hot, and glowing like the eye of a dragon.

Chapter 3

Between feathery branches she watched the stars.  Suddenly one of them shot across the sky with a tail of flame; she made a wish on it. 

Chapter 3
Mr. Freebody was sitting on a log reading a paper. He was a small, quiet man with a big fierce mustache which looked, even when he slept, as though it were awake and keeping watch. His dog, Major, lay dozing at his feet, twitching as he chased imaginary rabbits. 

Chapter 4

The boy ate everything that was offered him and drank the strong black coffee eagerly.  When he had finished he smiled again.

Chapter 4

“This is someone new to belong to our family,” she said.  “His name is Eric, and he appeared at midnight.”

Chapter 4
The night sky spread black and huge above her, and the night sounds had diminished. It was the stillest hour in the world as though all things held their breath perilously, waiting for day to begin. 

When she woke up there was heavy dew on everything. The first red rays of the sun touched the watery earth and made it glitter with a thousand rainbow colors. 

Chapter 5

Garnet loved the library; it smelled deliciously of old books and was full of stories that she had never read.

Chapter 5

In a little while they heard rapid footsteps on the front walk, and voices, and then the lovely sound of a key turning in the lock.

Chapter 5
It was fun to ride like that because as soon as he got on the highway Mr. Freebody drove very fast and the wind blew so hard against them that Garnet‚s pigtails stuck straight out behind, and Citronella‚s bangs stood up on end like a hedge. They felt as if their noses were blown flat against their faces, and when they spoke their words flew away from them. 

Chapter 5
The lunch wagon was down by the railroad track; neither Garnet nor Citronella had ever been there before. It was full of bright yellow light, and cigar smoke, and powerful food smells. It was wonderful to go there so late at night and eat fried egg sandwiches and apple pie and tell everybody what had happened to them. 

Chapter 6

Corn was picked every day; and that was pleasant, walking in the rustling good-smelling aisles between the stalks.

Chapter 6

There on her bed, fat, pleased with himself, and babbling, lay the youngest Hauser baby, Leroy.

Chapter 6
Early in the morning she heard the grumble of a tractor and the toot of a whistle on a threshing machine and looked out of the window to see the pair of them lumbering across the fields toward the new barn. The thresher had a long neck like a dinosaur, with a sort of fringed mustache on the end of it to keep the oat straw from blowing too far. 

Chapter 6
Garnet turned and ran across the hot fields. The oat stubble stood up like little lances and hurt her bare feet, and grasshoppers popped and scattered like sparks from a fire. Tears filled her eyes and made the meadow surge and swim before her in a golden flood. 

Chapter 7

Trolley cars clanged and clattered on the tracks, automobiles hooted, hundreds of people talked and talked, and their footsteps clicked and shuffled on the pavement all day long.

Chapter 7

Garnet tucked the chicken under her arm, begged the store man’s pardon, and went outside again.

Chapter 7
But no sooner was she outdoors than the hen gave a lurch and a wriggle, and half flying, half running, went skittering down the street. Hands reached for it, feet pursued it, but the bad black chicken was a match for them all. It sped and dodged along the pavement, clucking furiously, spread its wings and with a last despairing leap landed heavily on top of the swinging sign above a restaurant door. 

Chapter 8

Garnet’s stomach felt as if there were a pinwheel inside of it turning and spinning in a shower of sparks.

Chapter 8

They drove directly to the stock pavilions and stopped in front of the one that was labeled SWINE in big black letters.

Chapter 8
It was a whirling, jingling, bewildering collection of noise and color and smell. Everything seemed to be spinning and turning; merry-go-rounds, the Ferris wheel, the whip cars. There were dozens of tents with peaked tops and scalloped edges, and little colored flags flying from them. 
Chapter 9

The merry-go-round looked wonderful.  It was the kind that has only horses, not wild animals; but they were strange beautiful horses with flaring scarlet nostrils and broad grins.

Chapter 9

They all had supper together at a counter.  It was Garnet’s own party, and everyone had a good time.

Chapter 10
They got some popcorn, too, and then they had a ride on the whip-cars. It was perfect. Their necks were nearly snapped in half, and all the little bones in their spinal columns kept feeling as if they were flying apart and then settling back in place again like something in a movie of Mickey Mouse. 

Chapter 10

All over the valley, as far as the eye could see, the corn had been cut and was stacked in wigwam shapes.

Chapter 10

Garnet leaned against a tree.  She was so quiet that a great blue heron, fancying itself alone, flew down between the branches and paused at the water’s edge.

Chapter 10
But now the happiness was growing out of all bounds. Garnet felt that pretty soon she might burst with it, or begin to fly, or that her two pigtails would stand straight up on end and sing like nightingales.
*This Country Of Ours by H.E. Marshall (Chp. 29-63)

Chapter 29

MANY of the people who founded Massachusetts Colony were well-to-do people, people of good family, aristocrats in fact. They were men accustomed to rule, accustomed to unquestioning obedience from their servants and those under them. They believed that the few were meant to rule, and the many meant to obey. The idea that every grown-up person should have a share in the government never entered their heads.

Chapter 30

We have now heard of seven New England colonies being founded. But later on, as we shall see, Plymouth joined with Massachusetts, and New Haven with Connecticut, thus making only five New England colonies as we know them to-day. And of those five, one (Maine) was not recognised as a separate colony but as part of Massachusetts after 1677. It remained part of Massachusetts until 1820, when it entered the Union as a state. 

Chapter 31

The King was angry with Massachusetts, too, not only for protecting the regicides, but also because of what is known as the Declaration of Rights. In this the people of Massachusetts acknowledged the King as their ruler. But they also made it plain that so long as they did not make laws which ran counter to English laws they expected to be let alone. This made King Charles angry, and if it had not been that he was busy fighting with Holland very likely the people of Massachusetts would have had to suffer for their boldness at once. As it was they were left in peace a little longer. 

Chapter 32

You will wonder, perhaps, why an Indian chief should have a name like Philip. But Philip's real name was Metacomet. He, however, wanted to have an English name, and to please him the English called him Philip. And by that name he is best known. 

Chapter 32

As to the Indians their power was utterly broken, and their tribes were almost wiped out. Except the Mohegans, who had remained friendly throughout the war, there were few Indians left in south New England, where there was never again a war between white men and Indians. 

Chapter 33

But the men of Connecticut would not lightly give up the sign of their beloved liberty. They talked and argued and persuaded. They spoke of the hardships they had endured, of the blood they had poured forth to keep their freedom in their new found homes, upon the edge of the wilderness. 

Chapter 33

Massachusetts was now a great colony and received a new charter. But things were not the same. The colony was now a royal province, and the Governor was no longer appointed by the people, but by the King. This chafed the people greatly, for they felt that their old freedom was gone. So for a time the history of Massachusetts was hardly more than a dreary chronicle of quarrels and misunderstandings between Governor and people. 

Chapter 34

a) But in those far-off days more than two hundred years ago very many people believed in witches. Although not always so, it was generally very old people, people who had grown ugly and witless with age who were accused of being witches. In almost any village might be seen poor old creatures, toothless, hollow cheeked, wrinkled, with nose and chin almost meeting. 

b) Bent almost double, they walked about with a crutch, shaking and mumbling as they went. If any one had an ache or a pain it was easily accounted for. For why, they were bewitched! The poor old crone was the witch who had "cast the evil eye" upon them. And sometimes these poor creatures were put to death for their so-called deeds of witchcraft. 

Chapter 35

Like so many other men of his time Lord Baltimore was interested in America, and wanted to found a colony there. First he tried to found one in Newfoundland. There he received a large grant of land which he called Avalon after the fabled land in the story of King Arthur, and he had a kind of fairy vision of the warmth and sunny delights which were to be found in his new land. 

Chapter 35

a) Then in 1649 the Governor issued an Act called the Toleration Act, which has made him famous. It gave freedom to every one to follow his own religion save Jews and Unitarians, and for those days it was a wonderfully liberal and broad-minded Act. 

b) It threatened with a fine of ten shillings any one who should in scorn or reproach call any man such names as popish priest, Roundhead, heretic. It declared that no person whatsoever within the Province professing to believe in Jesus Christ should be in any way troubled or molested for his or her religion.

Chapter 36

All the colonies which we have so far talked about were founded by Englishmen. Now we come to one which was founded by another people who, like the English, were great sea rovers and adventurers–the Dutch. Even before the landing of the Pilgrim Fathers the Dutch laid claim to the valleys of the Hudson and the Delaware. 

Chapter 36

The Dutch rule had been autocratic, the people having little say in the government. They had chafed against it and had hoped that the change of ruler would bring a change of government, and that they would be allowed freedom like the New England Colonies. But James was not the sort of man to allow freedom to people when he could prevent it. So the government of New York continued as autocratic as before. 

Chapter 37

In this letter they told the King and Queen that they were sore oppressed by "ill men" who ruled in New York "by the sword, at the sole will of an insolent alien, assisted by some few, whom we can give no better name than a rabble." From other parts of the colony too letters were written calling Leisler a bold usurper, and begging the King to do something "to break this heavy yoke of worse than Egyptian bondage." 

Chapter 38

The seventeenth century has been called "The Golden Age of Piracy." Never before or since have pirates had such a splendid time. After the discovery of America, the number of ships sailing the seas increased rapidly, until all the chief countries of Europe had far more ships afloat than they could possibly protect with their navies. So they readily became a prey to pirates. 

Chapter 38

a) What became of the Quedah Merchant and all her rich cargo was never known. Indeed the most of Kidd's ill-gotten gains entirely disappeared. For when his sloop was searched very little treasure was found. So then it was said that Captain Kidd must have buried his treasure somewhere before he reached Boston. 

b) And for a hundred years and more afterwards all along the shore of Long Island Sound people now and again would start a search of buried treasure. But none was ever found. 

Chapter 39

On a summer day in 1665 Philip Carteret landed. He set up no crosses, and made no prayers, but with a hoe over his shoulder he marched at the head of his men, as a sign that he meant to live and work among them. A little way inland he chose a spot on which to build his town and called it Elizabeth, in honour of Sir George Carteret's wife. 

Chapter 40

William Penn, however, was afraid that people would think that this was vanity on his part, and that he had called his province after himself; so he tried to have the name changed. He even bribed the King's secretary to do it, but in vain. As some one has said, if he had bribed the King himself he might have succeeded better. As it was he did not succeed, for King Charles was very pleased with the name. 

Chapter 40

It was near this town that Penn met the Indian chiefs and made a treaty with them as he had promised to do. In the Indian language the spot was called the Place of Kings, and had been used as a meeting place by the surrounding tribes for long ages. Here there grew a splendid elm, a hoary giant of the forest which for a hundred years and more had withstood the tempests. 

Chapter 40

a) So with just a little soreness in his heart Penn sailed away never to return. At home trouble and misfortune awaited him. And in the midst of his troubles sickness fell upon him. For six years a helpless invalid with failing mind, he lingered on. 

b) Then in 1718 he died. He was seventy-four. Only four years of his long life had been spent in America. Yet he left his stamp upon the continent far more than any other man of his time. He was the greatest, most broad-minded of all the colony builders. As he said himself he had sailed against wind and tide all his life. But the buffetings of fortune left him sweet and true to the end. 

Chapter 41

Benjamin was the fifteenth child of his father, a sturdy English Nonconformist who some years before had emigrated from Banbury in England to Boston in America. As the family was so large the children had to begin early to earn their own living. So at the age of ten Benjamin was apprenticed to his own father, who was a tallow chandler, and the little chap spent his days helping to make soap and "dips" and generally making himself useful.

Chapter 41

In Philadelphia Benjamin found work, and although after a year he left his new home and sailed for England, he soon returned. In ten years' time he was one of the foremost men of Philadelphia and took an interest in everything which concerned the life of the people. He established a circulating library; he was chosen Clerk of the General Assembly; he was appointed postmaster; he established a police force and fire brigade, and helped to found the University of Pennsylvania and the Philadelphia Hospital. 

Chapter 42

IT was in the part of the United States which we now call North Carolina, you remember, that Sir Walter Raleigh tried to found a colony. That colony came to nothing, and the land which the white men had reclaimed from the wilderness returned once more to the wilderness. 

Nearly a hundred years went past before white men again appeared in that part of the country. In 1629 King Charles I granted all this region to Sir Robert Heath, but he made no attempt to colonise it. Then a few settlers from Virginia and New England and the Barbados, finding the land vacant and neglected, settled there.

Chapter 43

Several causes led to the war, but it was chiefly brought about by the Spaniards who had a settlement at St. Augustine to the south of Carolina. They hated the British, and although the two countries were now at peace the Spaniards did all they could to injure the British colonies in America and elsewhere. So now they sympathised with the Yamassees, both with their real and imaginary grievances, and encouraged them to rise against the British. 

Chapter 44

Then the idea came to Oglethorpe that he would found a colony in America, where poor debtors who had regained their freedom might find a refuge and make a new start in life. He decided to found this colony to the south of South Carolina, so that it might not only be a refuge for the oppressed, but also form a buffer state between the Carolinas and Spanish Florida. So from George II Oglethorpe got a charter for the land lying between the Savannah and the Altamaha rivers, and in honour of the King the colony was called Georgia. 

Chapter 44

But, although Oglethorpe had many friends, he had also enemies, some even within the colony he had done so much to serve. There were those within the colony who wanted rum and wanted slavery and said that it would never prosper until they were allowed. Oglethorpe, with all his might, opposed them, so they hated him. Others were discontented for far better reasons: because they had no share in the government, and because the land laws were bad. 

Chapter 45

These trappers brought back with them many strange tales of the forests and unknown wilds. They spoke of the Mississippi or "great water" of which the Indians told marvellous tales. And at length it seemed to their hearers that this great water could be no other than the long sought passage to India and the East. 

Chapter 45

"In the Name of the most high, mighty, invincible, and victorious Prince, Louis the Great, by the Grace of God King of France and of Navarre," he cried, "I do now take possession of this country of Louisiana, the seas, harbours, ports, bays, and neighbouring straits, and all the nations, peoples, provinces, cities, towns, villages, mines, minerals, fisheries, streams, and rivers within the said Louisiana, from the mouth of the great river St. Louis along the river Mississippi and the rivers which flow there into from its source to its mouth."

Chapter 46

Quebec is built on a height, and the streets are steep and narrow, sometimes being nothing more than flights of steps. And now, instead of being taken directly to the Governor, the young officer was dragged up and down these steep and stony streets. Now here, now there, he was led, stumbling blindly over stones and steps, and followed by a laughing, jeering crowd, who told him it was a game of blind man's bluff. 

Chapter 46

The attack on Canada had been an utter failure. Yet, had Phips but known it, Quebec was almost in his grasp. For although there were men enough within the fortress there was little food. And even before he sailed away the pangs of hunger had made themselves felt. 

Chapter 47

a) While D'Iberville was away, his brother Bienville started on an expedition to explore the Mississippi. And he soon discovered that the French had taken possession none too soon, for not far from where New Orleans now stands, he fell in with a British ship. 

b) On board were a lot of French Huguenot families who had come to found a settlement on the Mississippi. Bienville talked to the captain, who told him that this was one of three ships sent out from England by a company formed of Huguenots and Englishmen who intended to found a colony on the Mississippi. They were not sure, however, whether they were on the Mississippi or not. 

Chapter 47

a) It was during the time of peace after the end of Queen Anne's War that the French had thus strengthened their hold on America and joined Canada and Louisiana. They had also built a strong fortress on the Island of Cape Breton which commanded the mouth of the St. Lawrence. 

b) This fortress was called Louisburg in honour of King Louis, and it was the strongest and best fortified in the whole of New France. The walls were solid and high, and bristled with more than a hundred cannon. The moat was both wide and deep. Indeed the French believe that this fort was so strong that no power on earth could take it. 

Chapter 48

a) The British were divided into thirteen colonies. Each one of the thirteen colonies was jealous of all the others; each was selfishly concerned with its own welfare and quite careless of the welfare of the others. But already the feelings of patriotism had been born. Among the many who cared nothing for union there were a few who did. 

b) There were some who were neither Virginians nor New Englanders, neither Georgians nor Carolinians, but Americans. These now felt that if they were not to become the vassals of France they must stand shoulder to shoulder. 

Chapter 49

a) By this treaty Britain was confirmed in her claim to nearly the whole of French possessions in America. So that from the Atlantic to the Mississippi and from the Gulf of Mexico to Hudson Bay was now declared British except the peninsula forming Florida. That the Spaniards claimed. 

b) So in exchange for it the British gave back Cuba and the Philippines. And to make up to Spain for the loss of Florida France gave them New Orleans and resigned to Spain all claims to the land which La Salle had called Louisiana. 

Chapter 50

The Frenchmen came for the sake of religion or for adventure, they set up crosses and claimed the land for God and the King. They scattered churches and hamlets far in the wilderness, but left the wilderness and the forest still the Redman's hunting ground. The Frenchmen treated the Indians with an easy, careless sort of friendliness, while most of the British looked down upon them as savages. 

Chapter 50

For nearly three years the war lasted. But by degrees Pontiac saw that his cause was lost. The French did not help him as he had expected they would. Some of his followers deserted, and other tribes refused to join him, and at last he saw himself forced to make peace. So there were flowery speeches, and the exchange of wampum belts, and peace was made. 

Chapter 51

That, these bold young men determined, should not be. So about fifty of them dressed themselves as Red Indians, staining their faces brown and painting them hideously. Then, tomahawk in hand, they stole silently down to the ships, and uttering wild war cries sprang on board. They seized the tea chests and with their hatchets burst them open, and poured the tea into the harbour. 

Chapter 52

Near the lonely spot where stood the gallows he passed. Here under a tree, two horsemen waited, and as Revere came nearer he saw that they were British soldiers. Swiftly they darted at him. One tried to seize his bridle, the other to head him off. But Revere was a fearless rider, and knew the countryside by heart. He swerved suddenly, doubled, and was soon clear of his pursuers. 

Chapter 52

a) Thus the terrible war, which was almost a civil war, began. The British now marched on to Concord. They had failed to arrest the men they had been sent to arrest at Lexington. So there was all the more reason to hurry on to Concord, and seize the war stores before there was time to spirit them away. 

b) But when about seven o'clock in the morning the troops arrived at Concord the stores for the most part had been already safely hidden. A gun or two they found, and a few barrels of flour. The guns were spiked, the barrels staved in, the court house set on fire. 

Chapter 53

a) Meetings, too, were held throughout the country, when patriots urged the need of arming and fighting. In the Virginian Convention, Patrick Henry, the great orator, thrilled his hearers with his fiery eloquence. "We must fight," he cried, "I repeat it, we must fight! An appeal to arms and to the God of Hosts is all that is left us." 

b) Brilliantly, convincingly he spoke, and ended with the unforgettable words:– "Is life so dear, or peace so sweet as to be purchased at the price of chains and slavery? Forbid it, Almighty God! I know not what course others may take, but as for me, give me liberty or give me death!" 

Chapter 53

Meanwhile the new army grew daily larger. It was still almost entirely made up of New Englanders, but it was now called the Continental Army, and the Continental Congress appointed George Washington to be commander-in-chief. 

Chapter 53

"Since the Congress desire it," he said, "I will enter upon this momentous duty, and exert every power I possess in their service. But I beg it may be remembered by every gentleman in this room that I this day declare, with the utmost sincerity, I do not think myself equal to the command I am honoured with." 

Chapter 54

Arnold had failed to take Quebec, and he has lost his little fleet. But against his failure to take Quebec his countrymen put his wonderful march through pathless forest; against the loss of the fleet the fact that but for Arnold it would never have been built at all. So the people cheered him as a hero, and Washington looked upon him as one of his best officers. 

Chapter 55

There was much grave discussion in Congress and throughout the country. Some patriots, even those who longed most ardently to see America a free country, thought that it was too soon to make the claim. Among those was Patrick Henry who had already ranged himself so passionately on the side of freedom. "The struggle is only beginning," he said, "and we are not yet united. Wait till we are united. Wait until we have won our freedom, then let us proclaim it." 

But by degrees all those who hesitated were won over, and on the 4th of July, 1776, the colonies declared themselves to be free.

Chapter 55

a) It was on the 4th of July that Congress agreed to the declaration, and so that day has ever since been kept as a national holiday. It was the birthday of the United States as a Nation. But it was not until a few days later that the Declaration was read to the people of Philadelphia from Independence Hall. 

b) It was greeted with cheers and shouts of delight. The old bell upon the tower pealed joyfully, and swift riders mounted and rode to bear the news in all directions. The next day it was read at the head of each brigade of the army, and was greeted with loud cheers. 

Chapter 56

It was about six in the morning when the last boat put off, and in it was Washington, the last man to leave. For forty hours he had hardly been off his horse, and had never for a minute lain down to rest. He was unwearyingly watchful, and left nothing to chance, and this retreat is looked upon as one of the most masterly in all military history. 

Chapter 56

When day came Cornwallis was astonished to find the American camp empty. And when he heard the firing in the distance he knew what had happened, and hastily retreated to New York, while Washington drew off his victorious but weary men to Morristown in New Jersey. Here for the next few months they remained, resting after their labours, unmolested by the foe. 

Chapter 57

a) When Washington had taken command of the army there had still been no real thought of separating from Britain. So for his flag he had used the British ensign with the Union Jack in the corner. But instead of a red ground he had used a ground of thirteen red and white stripes, on stripe for each colony. 

b) But when all hope of reconciliation was gone Congress decided that the Union Jack must be cut out of the flag altogether, and in its place a blue square was to be used with thirteen white stars in a circle, one star for each state, just as there was one stripe for each state. 

Chapter 58

Where the bullets flew thickest, there Arnold was to be found. The madness of battle was upon him, and, like one possessed, he rode through flame and smoke, his clear voice raised above the hideous clamour, cheering and directing his men. 

Chapter 59

a) Washington had taken up winter quarters at Valley Forge, which is a beautiful little valley. But that winter it was a scene of misery and desolation. The cold was terrible, and the army was ragged and hungry. The men had neither coats, shirts, nor shoes, and often their feet and hands froze so that they had to be amputated. For days at a time they had but one poor meal a day. 

b) Even Washington saw no hope of help. "I am now convinced beyond a doubt," he wrote, "that unless some great and capital change takes place this army must inevitably be reduced to one or other of these three things: starve, dissolve, or disperse." 

Chapter 60

a) But of all the naval commanders on the American side, the Scotsman, John Paul Jones, was the most famous. He was the son of a gardener, and was born at Arbigland in Kirkcudbrightshire. From a child he had been fond of the sea, and when still only a boy of twelve he began his seafaring life on board a ship trading with Virginia. 

b) For some years he led a roving and adventurous life. Then after a time he came to live in America, which, he said himself, "has been my favourite country since the age of thirteen, when I first saw it." 

Chapter 60

As for Paul Jones he never had a chance again of showing his great prowess. When the war was over he entered the service of Russia, and became an admiral. He died in Paris in 1792, but for a long time it was not known where he was buried. His grave was discovered in 1905, and his body was brought to America by a squadron of the navy which was sent to France for the purpose, and reburied at Annapolis with the honour due to a hero. 

Chapter 61

It was not the first time that Molly had fired a gun. She was with her husband at Fort Clinton, when it was taken by the British. As the enemy scaled the walls the Americans retreated. Her husband dropped his lighted match and fled with the rest. But Captain Molly was in no such haste. She picked up the match, fired the gun, and then ran after the others. Hers was the last gun fired on the American side that day. 

Chapter 62

There he soon got into trouble. He began to live extravagantly, and grew short of money. He quarrelled with the state government, and with Congress, was accused of inviting loyalists to his house, of getting money by dishonest acts, and of being in many ways untrue to his duty.

Chapter 63

a) As for King George, he would not admit that it was all over, and he swore he would rather give up his crown than acknowledge the States to be free. But at length he, too, had to give way, and the treaty of peace was signed in Paris in November, 1782. 

b) This Peace, however, was only a first step, for Europe was still at war, and it was difficult to settle matters. But in September of the following year the real peace was signed, and the United States were acknowledged to be free. By this treaty Florida was given back to Spain, the Mississippi was made the western boundary, and the Great Lakes the northern boundary of the United States. 

Tree of Freedom by Rebecca Caudill

No copywork yet

*Trial and Triumph by Richard Hannula (Chp. 28-35)

Chapter 28

After returning secretly to Scotland, Cameron preached in the hills, marshes, and fields. Seeing the terrible cruelties of the king’s soldiers, Richard Cameron, his brother, Michael, and some other brave men joined together to fight the oppressors of Scotland. Though poorly armed and trained, they vowed to defend the innocent men, women, and children of Scotland

Chapter 29

“Will you swear the oath recognizing the king as head over the church?” he asked.

“No,” they answered quietly.

“Then this court finds you guilty of treason,” the judge said, “for denying the king’s sovereignty in the church and attending unlawful worship services and meetings in the countryside.” They stood silently. 

Chapter 30

“As I walked through the wilderness of this world, I lighted on a certain place where there was a den, and I laid me down in that place to sleep; and. As I slept, I dreamed a dream. I dreamed, and behold, I saw a man clothed with rags, standing in a certain place, with his face from his own house, a book in his hand, and a great burden on his back. I looked, and saw him open the book, and read therein; and, as he read, he wept and trembled; and not being able to contain, he brake out with a lamentable cry, saying, “What shall I do?””

Chapter 31

Throughout the years, Jonathan Edwards served his congregation, raised a large family, and wrote books. Pastors and laymen in America and Europe admired his books on theology, but trouble was brewing in Northampton. There were men and women who did not like him or his strong sermons.

In 1749 a problem erupted over the Lord’s supper.

Chapter 32

Finding it increasingly difficult to find churches open to him, Whitefield decided to preach outdoors in the open air. This was a bold idea, for church leaders considered it improper, even sinful, believing that field preaching would stir up the crowds and lead to wild, unruly behavior. By preaching outdoors, Whitfield ran the risk of confrontation with the rulers of the Church of England, but he was determined to preach the gospel no matter what the consequences.

Chapter 33

Often the crowds were difficult and violent. “As soon as we went out,” Wesley said of one place, “we were saluted, as usual, with jeers and a few stones and pieces of dirt.” Once when he was walking through Bristol to preach, a mob rose up against him. “All the street, upwards and downwards, was filled with people, shouting, cursing, and swearing at us,” Wesley said, “and ready to swallow the ground with fierceness and rage.”

Chapter 34

“If this book is true,” Newton said to himself, “the promise in this passage is true likewise. He has promised here to give the Spirit to those who ask. I must therefore pray, and if it is of God, He will make good His word.” With tears, he prayed for forgiveness and a new life.

Chapter 35

Through the years of his ministry, Brainerd kept a diary wherein he expressed his doubts, struggles, and joys. He never intended for it to be read by others. But as he lay dying, his friends urged him to allow it to be published as a testimony to God’s grace. After much prodding, he agreed. “But only,” he said, “if it is placed in the hands of Jonathan Edwards to decide what parts would most glorify the Lord.

Voyage of the Dawn Treader by C.S. Lewis

Chapter 1

There was a boy called Eustace Clarence Scrubb, and he almost deserved it. His parents called him Eustace Clarence and his schoolmasters called him Scrubb. I can’t tell you how his friends spoke to him, for he had none.

Chapter 2

“But there is this. When I was in my cradle a wood woman, a Dryad, spoke this verse over me:

“Where sky and water meet

Where the waves grow sweet

Doubt not, Reepicheep

To find all you seek

There is the utter East”

Chapter 3

 “You’ll come, will you?” said Caspian to Eustace, who had come on deck with his hand bandaged.

“Anything to get off this blasted boat,” said Eustace. 

“Blasted?” said Drinian. “How do you mean?” 

“In a civilised country like where I come from,” said Eustace, “the ships are so big that when you’re inside you wouldn’t know you were at sea at all.”

Chapter 4

“It is our wish,” said Caspian, “that our royal visitation to our realm of the Lone Islands should, if possible, be an occasion of joy and not of terror to our loyal subjects. If it were not for that, I should have something to say about the state of your men’s armour and weapons.”

Chapter 5

“September 3. The first day for ages when I have been able to write. We had been driven before a hurricane for thirteen days and nights. I know that because I kept a careful count, though the others say it was only twelve.”

Chapter 6

But in an instant he realized the truth. That dragon face in the pool was his own reflection. There was no doubt of it. It moved as he moved: it opened and shut its mouth as he opened and shut his. He had turned into a dragon while he was asleep.

Chapter 7

“I think you’ve seen Aslan,” said Edmund. 

“Aslan!” said Eustace. “I’ve heard that name mentioned several times since we joined the Dawn Treader. And I felt--I don’t know what--I hated it. But I was hating everything then.”

Chapter 8

“Yes, I do,” said Edmund. “That water turns things into gold. It turned the spear into gold, that’s why it got so heavy. And it was lapping against my feet (it’s a good thing I wasn’t barefoot) and it turned the toe caps into gold. And that poor fellow on the bottom--well, you see.”

Chapter 9  

“I do not see these fifty warriors,” observed Reepicheep.

“That’s right, that’s right,” said the Chief Voice. “You don’t see us. And why not? Because we’re invisible.”

“Keep it up, Chief, keep it up,” said the Other Voices.

Chapter 10

She turned on and found to her surprise a page with no pictures at all, but the first words were A spell to make hidden things visible.  She read it through to make sure of all the hard words and then said it out loud. 

Chapter 11

It was worth watching. Of course these little one-footed men couldn’t walk or run as we do. They got about by jumping, like fleas or frogs. And what jumps they made!--as if each big foot were a mass of springs.

Chapter 12

Caspian shouted to the botswain to keep her back, and all except the rowers rushed forward and gazed from the bows. But there was nothing to be seen by gazing. Behind them was the sea and the sun, before them the Darkness.

Chapter 13

Now they could see that it was a tall girl, dressed in a single long garment of clear blue which left her arms bare. She was bareheaded and her yellow hair hung down her back. And when they looked at her they thought they had never before known what beauty meant.

Chapter 14

“Lady,” said Caspian, “I hope to speak with you again when I have broken the enchantments.” And Ramandu’s daughter looked at him and smiled.

Chapter 15

But when the dripping Mouse had reached the deck it turned out not to be at all interested in the Sea People. “Sweet!” he cheeped. “Sweet, sweet!” ....”I tell you the water’s sweet,” said the Mouse.

Chapter 16

“Please, Lamb,” said Lucy, “is this the way to Aslan’s country?” 

“Not for you,” said the Lamb. “For you the door into Aslan’s country is from your own world.” 

“What!” said Edmund. “Is there a way into Aslan’s country from our world too?”
